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Dear Shareholders,

Vanov Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
entered the capital market of Hong Kong in January 2022,
internationalisation of capital drives the Company into a new
stage of development, allowing the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) to become a leading papermaking felt enterprise,
leverage in the People’s Public of China (“China” or the “PRC”)
and further affirm its footsteps towards the world.

China is undergoing aggressive reform for its economic
structure, with an aim to create a Chinese-style modern
economy. Under such background, the Group, as a representative
of traditional Chinese industrial enterprise, is committed
to facilitate the Chinese Government’s goal of creating a
manufacturing-centric modern industrial system based on real
economy.

During the reporting period, affected by the pandemic,
international political landscape and economic environment, the
papermaking industry suffered from overall cost increase and
decreasing expenses and demands. According to the data from
the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology, in 2022,
the nationwide production volume of machine-made paper and
paperboard amounted to 136.914 million tonnes, representing
a year-on-year decrease of 1.3%. Operating revenue from
papermaking and paper product companies over the designated
size amounted to RMB1522.89 billion, representing a year-on-year
increase of 0.4%, while total profit amounted to RMB62.11 billion,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 29.8%.

Facing various challenges from the pandemic and market and
economic environment, the Group’s business maintained stable
growth in 2022, achieving a net profit of RMB53 million, which
represented a year-on-year increase of 4.6%. The comprehensive
gross profit of the products of the Group was 53.6%, while the
product-to-sale ratio was 100%. Our forward-looking plan for our
international business gradually shows its results, of which the
revenue from our international business in 2022 increased 51.5%
year-on-year.
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CHAIRPERSON'S STATEMENT
EREHE

The Company insists on technology innovation as its driving
force. During the reporting period, Sichuan Huanlong Technology
Fabrics Co., Ltd, a subsidiary of the Company and a national
high-tech enterprise, was recognized as a Sichuan Specialization
and Special New Enterprise, Sichuan Service-oriented
Manufacturing Enterprise and Sichuan Green Factory. Shanghai
Jinxiong Paper Making Net Carpet Co., Ltd, a subsidiary of the
Company and a sci-tech SME, was recognized as a Shanghai
Specialization and Special New Enterprise. As of today, the
Group owned 104 invention and utility model patents, and was
applying registration of over 60 patents. During the pandemic, the
Chengdu and Shanghai production bases of the Group overcame
the hardship through cooperation, adopting practical and effective
close-loop management to ensure product delivery. The launch
of our PM3 production line bridges the gap of world class digital
papermaking felt devices in China, driving the expansion of the
Group towards the international market, while also contributing
to the improvement of domestic papermaking technique,
papermaking technology innovation and product upgrade.

The Huanlong Paper Machine Efficiency Operation System*
(BEBKELUNERELRBETFEE R L) developed by the
Group provides full services before, during and after sales of
papermaking felt, allowing rapid response for customer demand
and its implementation in professional technology services and
digitalized solutions. Not only could the system track the operation
data on paper machine efficiency and improve and raise solutions,
it could also ascertain the best operation status and setting for
the paper machines and provide efficiency enhancement plan and
training courses on paper machine for customers. Moreover, the
system provides data for the product design and improvement
of the Group’s papermaking felt, contributing to the continuous
improvement of product quality.
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In terms of corporate governance, the Group fully utilizes the
professional skills of the independent non-executive Directors
of the Company concerning the diversity of the board. Obtaining
opinions and advices from the independent non-executive
Directors of the Company in special independent directors’
meetings facilitates the Company’s development. We also
appoint external institutions to conduct trainings on regulatory
rules, ESG, corporate governance and other matters, providing
theoretical support for directors of the Company (the “Directors”)
in performing their responsibility. In terms of shareholders
communication, apart from the various channels that provide
investors with information of the Company, general meetings
held through online broadcast also provides investors and small
and medium investors with a communication channel with the
management and uphold shareholders’ interest. Moreover, the
Company places emphasis on the return of the shareholders and
plans to distribute the dividend of 2022 in 2023.

BUSINESS PROSPECTS

On the 20" National Congress of the Chinese Communist
Party in 2022, it is emphasized that high quality development
of the manufacturing industry is the key for the creation of
modern industrial system. The creation of a strong and excellent
manufacturing industry can facilitate China in transforming from
a manufacturing power to a manufacturing superpower. China
is an important packaging product manufacturing, consumption
and exporting country in the world, while the paper industry is
one of the foundations of the domestic economy. Under such
background, the industry will also optimize its layout and achieve
high quality development.

Pursuant to the “14th Five-Year Plan” Medium and Long-term
High Quality Development Outline for the Paper Industry, in 2025,
the total national production volume of paper and paper board,
virgin pulp and paper products shall reach 140 million tonnes,
30 million tonnes and 90 million tonnes, respectively. The unit
consumption of pulp, energy and water and pollutant emission
shall remain at advanced international standards. Product
structure shall undergo further adjustment, with continuous
enhancement in product quality and expanding product variety.
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CHAIRPERSON'S STATEMENT
EREHE

The Strategic Plan for Expanding Domestic Demand
(2022-2035) provides strategic guidelines on developing a
complete system of domestic demand and driving investment and
consumption. Through development new products and launching
new features, we can further explore the incremental market,
achieving a better dynamic balance with demand-driven supply
and supply-driven demand. We also insist on green development
and improvement through digitalization and smart technology to
ensure the smooth operation of the paper industry.

The Implementation Plan for Carbon Emission Peak in the
Industrial Sector aims at accelerating the green and low-carbon
transformation of the industry. We strive to construct a green
manufacturing system, improve resources and energy utilization
efficiency, promote the integration of digitization, smart
technology and green operation and increase the supply of green
and low-carbon products, in order to expedite the green and
low-carbon transformation and the high-quality development of the
manufacturing industry.

DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Looking forward, the Company is optimistic about the
paper industry and its subsector. While the Company explores
international capital and market, it will also focus on corporate
development, fulfilling corporate responsibility, aggressively
promoting green manufacturing and expediting technology and
product upgrade. We will expand our market with quality and
achieve value enhancement with services, in order to drive the
consistent and high-quality development of the Group.

From 2021 to 2024, the Company implements its production
capacity expansion plan that is divided into three stages, in order
to satisfy the increasing demand in its high-speed papermaking
felts. Such additional production capacity is intended mainly for
manufacturing the papermaking felts used for paper machines of
higher speed. We will also construct a leading production base for
papermaking mesh with world class technology in China.
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The Company strives to be the world's leading supplier
of papermaking felts. We will further enhance the operation
efficiency of papermaking machines and improve its digital service
platform system. Through collecting data from papermaking
machines, we can provide customers with suggestions on the best
operation settings of papermaking machines, and improve our
customized products through the use of database. By enhancing
the added-value of our products, we can actively participate in
domestic and international competition and create further value for
our customers.

In order to achieve future growth, we selectively seek strategic
acquisitions to supplement our business capabilities and strategic
focus. We focus on competing in the global market to enhance the
international influence and competitiveness of the Vanov brand.

APPRECIATION

The Group would like to express its sincere gratitude to all
staff, investors, suppliers, customers, government at all levels,
banks, business partners and other stakeholders for their trust
and support towards the Group. In the future, it is believed
the Group will live up to the trust of the community and further
consolidate its resources advantage in the papermaking felt
industry, continuously expand its market channels, maintain stable
development and enhance profitability. We will aggressively
explore green industrial development to create consistent value for
the shareholders of the Company and stakeholders.

Shen Genlian
Chairperson

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023

*

for identification purposes only.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2022, given the intensified downward pressure on the
global economy brought by high inflation, the Russia-Ukraine
war and the pandemic, the global demand shrank with the
complex and rigorous international environment. Interruption of
the global supply chain brought by geopolitical conflict further
compromised the globalization process and created a negative
impact on the global economy. According to the “World Economic
Outlook Database” published by the International Monetary Fund
(IMF), global economy growth in 2022 was expected to be 4.4%,
representing a 0.5 percentage point lower than the preceding
forecast.

During the reporting period, the PRC's total economic output
reached another record high, with a gross domestic product
(GDP) of RMB121 ftrillion, representing another great leap after the
record of RMB110 trillion in 2021. Based on the annual average
exchange rate, the PRC achieved a 3.0% growth despite of the
economy pressure during the year, ranking second in the world.
As the PRC economy continued to grow and household income
improved, development of the papermaking industry had been
broadened, the capability and demand of paper products in the
PRC had also been increased. The PRC has been the most
important papermaking and consumption country for many years.
As the prospect of the papermaking industry continued to improve,
Vanov, as a papermaking felt corporation and service provider,
benefited from the growing market opportunities.

The Group experienced stable growth in product sales and
net profit in 2022. In 2022, net profit of the Group amounted to
RMB53 million, representing a year-on-year growth of 4.6%.
The Group’s consolidated gross profit margin from the products
reached 53.6%, with a 100% production-to-sales rate. The
prospective international market layout was gradually showing
its results, income from the international business in 2022
demonstrated a year-on-year growth of 51.5%.

The Group currently has two production sites, namely
Chengdu Wenjiang and Shanghai Jinxiong, as well as two
renowned papermaking felt brands of VANQV and @eggﬁfﬁ'.
Technology innovation has always been the core motivation of
the Group’s sustainability. During the reporting period, Sichuan
Huanlong Technology Fabric Co., Ltd. (FUJII 3R ER MW E
kA7) (“Sichuan Huanlong”), a subsidiary of the Company
was recognized as a national High and New Tech Enterprises,
“specialized and new” enterprise in Sichuan Province, model
manufacturing and service enterprise in Sichuan Province, green
factory in Sichuan Province. The Company’s subsidiary, Shanghai
Jinxiong Paper Making Net Carpet Co., Ltd. (-84 R ER BB A
[k A7) (“Shanghai Jinxiong”) was recognized as “specialized
and new” enterprise in Shanghai. As of today, the Group owns 104
registered patents for inventions and utility models and has more
than 60 patents under application for registration.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group strives to become the best papermaking felt
manufacturer in the world. Our technologies, products and
services altogether became the key to our distinctive competency.
Enhancing product value is the crux of competitiveness among the
world and create value for our customers.

The Company’s self-developed Paper Machine Efficiency
Operation System materialized the comprehensive papermaking
felt pre-sales, sales and after-sales services. The Group
promptly reacts to customers’ need and provides them with a
solution based on professional technological and digital services.
The system not only optimizes the tracking of paper machine
efficiency and provision of resolutions, it also provides the best
operating condition of the machines and parameter suggestions to
customers. The system provides overall efficiency enhancement
and training sessions for customers while provides supporting
data for the Group's product design and solution enhancement in
order to achieve continuous improvement on product quality.

During the reporting period, Shanghai Jinxiong production site
of the Group has fully commenced the PM3 project. The project
is to establish an industrial filter materials production site which
possesses the most advanced papermaking net carpet technology
in the PRC. As of today, the Group is the first enterprise in the
PRC which owns an advanced production line for the widest
papermaking felt around the world. The launch of the PM3 project
not only bridges the gap in the PRC market, it also highly boosts
the quality and stability of the products through its advanced
production craftmanship, technologies and reliable equipment.
The Group contributes significant value to the papermaking
industry by ways of craftmanship enhancement, technology
innovation and product upgrade.

Year 2022 is an extraordinary year for all production and
manufacturing corporations, the Group still adhered to its
philosophy of delivering on its commitments to customers.
During the reporting period, the Group had conducted static
management on the the Shanghai Jinxiong production site and
Chengdu Wenjiang production site for over 70 days and 9 days,
respectively. Closed loop management was effectively performed
in the two production sites in addition to the Group's precise and
thorough arrangement. The Group's arrangement was approved
by the local government, central management was materialized
and protective measures were in place, it had successfully
produced and delivered the products as promised.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

FUTURE PLANS

In order to boost the business development of the Group, the
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) intend to implement
the following measures funded by the Group's internal resources:

(i) the Group has executed the production capacity expansion
plan in three phases from 2021 to 2024 in order to satisfy
the increasing demand in its high-speed papermaking felts.
Such additional production capacity is intended mainly for
manufacturing the papermaking felts used for paper machines
of higher speed;

(i) the Group plans to upgrade the Huanlong Paper Machine
Efficiency Operation System* (& 4% # & & B £ E L R % &
FE A XK to facilitate the collection of information from
customers’ papermaking machines and production machinery
and equipment, support the analysis of the data collected
from the machines, build database and promote customised
product services based on its analysis of the data. The
Group will continue to develop its production machinery and
equipment based on the information collected using the online
platform and allocate more resources to procure staff with
relevant expertise to strengthen its information technology
facilities;

(iii) to achieve future growth, the Group may selectively pursue
strategic acquisitions that complement its business and
strategic priorities, such as for expanding the business
horizontally in the industry chain and supply chain, taking
into account factors such as the financial and competitive
positions of potential acquisition targets.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group principally engages in the design, manufacture
and sales of papermaking felts under the brands of VANQCV
and @95&;- The revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022
was approximately RMB217.8 million, representing an increase of
1.9% as compared to approximately RMB213.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021, which was mainly attributable to the

increase in the unit price of products.

*

for identification purposes only.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group’s gross profit for the year ended 31 December
2022 was approximately RMB116.8 million, representing an
increase of approximately RMB3.2 million from approximately
RMB113.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. Its gross
profit margin increased from approximately 53.2% for the year
ended 31 December 2021 to approximately 53.6% for the year
ended 31 December 2022, which was mainly attributable to the
increase in the unit price of products.

Other Income

Other income for the Group increased by approximately
RMB14.6 million from approximately RMB5.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021 to approximately RMB20.1 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022, which was mainly attributable
to the increase in exchange gains, government subsidies and
rental income.

Selling and Distribution Expense

For the year ended 31 December 2022, selling and
distribution expense of the Group was approximately RMB21.6
million, as compared to approximately RMB19.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021. Selling and distribution
expense for the year ended 31 December 2022 accounted for
approximately 9.9% of its revenue, representing an increase of
approximately RMB1.7 million from the year ended 31 December
2021. Such increase was generally in line with the increase in
revenue.

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2022, administrative
and other operating expenses of the Group was approximately
RMB40.3 million, as compared to approximately RMB31.6 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021. Such increase was mainly
due to the corresponding expenses incurred in connection with the
initial public offering of the shares of the Company (the “IPO”) and
the increase in employee remuneration.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

Finance Cost

For the year ended 31 December 2022, total finance cost of
the Group reached approximately RMB10.5 million, representing
an increase of approximately RMB2.3 million as compared to
approximately RMB8.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2021. The main reason for such increase was the increase of loan
interests in other borrowings.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 reached approximately RMB11.4 million,
representing an increase of approximately RMB2.6 million from
approximately RMB8.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2021, which was mainly attributable to the increase in the
Group’s profit before tax and the increase in withholding tax on
undistributed profit.

Effective tax rate (income tax expense divided by profit before
income tax for the current year) for the year ended 31 December
2022 was approximately 17.8%, as compared to 14.7% for the year
ended 31 December 2021. Such increase was mainly attributable
to the increase in the Group’s withholding tax on undistributed
profit.

Turnover Days of Inventories and Trade Payables

Turnover days of inventories of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 were 52.9 days, as compared to 40 days for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

Turnover days for trade payables of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 were 82.8 days, as compared to 80.4
days for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2022, net assets of the Group
reached approximately RMB373.4 million (31 December
2021: approximately RMB215.0 million). As at 31 December
2022, current assets and current liabilities of the Group
reached approximately RMB285.5 million (31 December 2021:
approximately RMB178.0 million) and approximately RMB148.9
million (31 December 2021: approximately RMB185.3 million). As
at 31 December 2022, the current ratio of the Group was 191.7%,
as compared to 96.1% as at 31 December 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group normally finances its operations from cash
generated from its operating activities, bank borrowings and
proceeds from the IPO. As at 31 December 2022, outstanding
bank borrowings and other borrowings of the Group was
approximately RMB215.5 million (31 December 2021:
approximately RMB127.5 million). These bank borrowings and
other borrowings were generally secured by the Group's property,
plant and equipment and land lease prepayment. As at 31
December 2022, bank balances and cash of the Group reached
approximately RMB85.6 million (31 December 2021: approximately
RMB12.6 million). Net gearing ratio (total borrowings minus cash
and cash equivalents and divided by shareholders’ equity) of the
Group as of 31 December 2022 was 35.1% (31 December 2021:
55.9%).

The Group has sufficient cash and available bank credit to
meet the commitment and its operating cash requirement.

The Group’s trading and monetary assets are denominated
in RMB. The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use
of financial instruments in its ordinary course of operations and
in its investment activities. The financial risks include market risk
(including foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and other price
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall financial risk
management policies focuses on the unpredictability and volatility
at financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the financial position, financial performance and cash
flows of the Group. No derivative financial instruments are used to
hedge any risk exposures.

Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing total borrowings by total
equity at the period-end date and expressed as a percentage.
The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2022 was
approximately 60.4% as compared to approximately 61.7% as at
31 December 2021. The decrease in gearing ratio was mainly due
to the increase in total equity of the Group as at 31 December
2022.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s assets were
pledged to secure bank and other borrowings of the Group. The
aggregate carrying amount of the assets of the Group pledged at
31 December 2022 was approximately RMB134.1 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

Treasury Policy

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policy and thus maintained a
healthy financial position throughout the period. The board of
Directors (the “Board”) closely monitors the Group’s liquidity
position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s
assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding
requirements at all times.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC. Most of the operating
transactions and revenue were settled in RMB and the Group’s
assets and liabilities are primarily denominated in RMB. However,
the Group has certain bank balances and trade receivables
denominated in US dollars and Hong Kong dollars amounting to
approximately RMB74.1 million and RMB2.4 million, respectively,
as at 31 December 2022 which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. The Group does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the Group manages the risk by closely
monitoring the movements of the foreign currency rate and would
consider hedging against significant foreign currency exposure
should it be necessary.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND
JOINT VENTURES, AND FUTURE PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

There were no significant investments held, no material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, nor was there any plan authorized by the Board for
other material investments or additions of capital assets as at 31
December 2022.

Trade and Other Receivable

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the trade and other
receivable of the Group were approximately RMB181.5 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 327 employees (as
at 31 December 2021: 309 employees). As at 31 December 2022,
the total staff cost, including salaries, wages and other benefits,
and contributions to defined contribution plans, amounted to
approximately RMB37.8 million.

The remuneration package offered by the Group to its
employees generally includes salary, allowances and payment
for welfare contributions, including social insurance contributions
and housing provident fund contributions. The Group determines
its employees’ remunerations based on each employee’s
qualification, relevant experience, position and seniority. The
Group conducts annual review on salary increments, bonuses
and promotions based on the performance of each employee. The
Group provides regular on-the-job training to the employees and
conducts yearly reviews of their performance. The Group believes
that these initiatives have contributed to stronger work incentive
among its employees.

The Directors and senior management receive compensation
in the form of salaries, benefits in kind and discretionary bonuses
with reference to salaries paid by the comparable companies,
time commitment and the performance of our Group. Our
Group regularly reviews and determines the remuneration and
compensation package of the Directors and senior management,
by reference to, among other things, market level of salaries paid
by comparable companies, the respective responsibilities of the
Directors and senior management and the performance of our
Group.

The remuneration committee of the Company will review and
determine the remuneration and compensation packages of the
Directors with reference to their responsibilities, workload, the
time devoted to our Group and the performance of our Group. The
Directors may also receive options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme.

Use of Net Proceeds From the Share Offer

On 29 December 2021, the Company offered 114,200,000
ordinary shares at the range of HK$1.22 per share to HK$1.44
per share for subscription in the IPO. The offer price was
determined at HK$1.22 and the shares of the Company were
successfully listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange”) on 11 January 2022
(the “Listing”). Net proceeds from the Listing (after deduction
of underwriting fees and commissions and other listing expense)
were approximately HK$92.8 million. In addition, the over-
allotment option granted by the Company in the IPO was partially
exercised and the Company further issued 3,442,000 shares,
representing approximately 3.0% of the number of shares of the
Company initially offered at HK$1.22. The additional net proceeds
from the partial exercise of the over-allotment option were
approximately HK$4.2 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

An analysis of the utilisation of the net proceeds from the date
of the Listing up to 31 December 2022 is set out below:

BIMBEEEZE2022F12A8318 © fIERIEF

BENBRBERADFTEINWT

Unused Proposed timetable
Used as of balance as of for the use of
Allocated use of 31 December 31 December unutilised net
Percentage proceeds 2022 2022 proceeds
#z2022% i KB A
FERE BZz2022% 128318 FERERE
BAt MAERE 12A31AEEHA i K B A B R RENBERRAX
(HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million)
(BEE#RT) (FE#ER) (BE#T)
Purchase machinery to BERRIARERE 40% 38.8 38.8 — N/A
upgrade production sites Bih i
Strengthen research and JIE: RS 20% 19.4 7.2 12.2 On or before
development capabilities 31 December 2023
2023F12A318 % 2 Al
Pursue strategic acquisitions = 5 5 B 14 U i 10% 9.7 — 9.7 On or before
31 December 2023
2023F12A31B S Z A
Reduce indebtedness mEH 20% 19.4 19.4 = On or before
31 December 2023
2023512 A31H 3 2 Al
Working capital and other ~ {E£E&E & K Efh 10% 9.7 9.7 = N/A
general corporate —REERS TiE A
purpose
100% 97.0 751 21.9

As at 31 December 2022, the amount of unutilised net
proceeds amounted to approximately HK$21.9 million. The
unutilised net proceeds were placed in interest-bearing deposits
with authorised financial institutions or licensed banks in Hong
Kong and the PRC.

As of 31 December 2022, the utilised net proceeds were
applied in accordance with the planned use as previously
disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 29 December
2021 for the purpose of the IPO (the “Prospectus”) and the
remaining net proceeds are expected to be used as planned. The
remaining unutilised net proceeds are expected to be utilised on or
before 31 December 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company is committed to maintain high standards of
corporate governance to protect the interests of its shareholders
and to enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company
has adopted all the code provisions in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules as
its own code on corporate governance practices. The Board
has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance practices
and is satisfied that the Company has complied with all code
provisions of the CG Code for the year ended 31 December
2022. The Company will continue to enhance its corporate
governance practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of
its business and to review such practices from time to time to
ensure that it complies with the CG Code and align with the latest
developments.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made
specific enquiries of all the Directors, each of the Directors has
confirmed that he/she has complied with the Model Code for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company, and setting up the overall strategy as well as reviewing
the operation and financial performance of the Group. The Board
reserved for its decision or consideration matters covering overall
strategy, major acquisitions and disposals, annual budgets, annual
and interim results, recommendations on Directors’ appointment
or re-appointment, approval of major capital transactions
and other significant operational and financial matters. The
management was delegated the authority and responsibility by
the Board for the daily management of the Group. In addition, the
Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the Board
committees. Further details of these committees are set out in this
corporate governance report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
seven Directors and their respective roles are as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. Shen Genlian (Chairperson)

Mr. Zhou Jun (Chief executive officer)
Mr. Xie Zongguo

Ms. Yuan Aomei

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ip Wang Hoi
Mr. Zhang Shenjin
Mr. Wang Yunchen

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in
the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report. Save for Mr. Zhou Jun, being
the spouse of Ms. Shen Genlian, the Chairperson of the Board
(the “Chairperson”), the Board members have no relationship
(whether financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationships) amongst members of the Board.

Board meetings and general meetings

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as
well as the operation and financial performance of the Group, in
addition to the meetings for reviewing and approving the Group’s
annual and interim results. The Directors had participated in the
Board meetings as indicated below. For those Directors who could
not attend these meetings in person, they participated through
electronic media.

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) assists the Chairperson to prepare the agenda of the
meetings and each Director may request to include any relevant
matters on the agenda. Generally, at least 14 days’ notice is given
for the regular meetings by the Company. All substantive agenda
items have comprehensive briefing papers, which are, in general,
circulated three days before convening each Board meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

All the Directors are able to seek advice and services
from the Company Secretary on the Board procedures and all
applicable laws, rules and regulations, and corporate governance
matters. Draft minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board
committees are circulated to all Directors for comment and
approval as soon as practicable after the meetings. Minutes of
Board meetings and meetings of Board committees are kept
by the Company Secretary and all Board members are given
a copy of the minutes for their record. Should a matter being
considered involve a potential conflict of interest of a Director, the
Director involved in the transaction would be requested to leave
the boardroom and abstain from voting. The matter would be
discussed and resolved by other Directors. Policy is in place that
the Directors, upon reasonable request, may seek independent
professional advice on issues related to the Group’s business at
the Company’s expenses. The attendance of each Director at the
Board meetings and general meeting during the year is set out
below:

Number of
Board
meetings
attended/
convened
BEHE BRI
2EEg
BRI
Executive Directors BITES

Ms. Shen Genlian AR+ 5
Mr. Zhou Jun JA Bk S A 5
Mr. Xie Zongguo HRBE L& 5
Ms. Yuan Aomei =gzt 5

Independent non-executive BYFHITES

Directors

Mr. Ip Wang Hoi = SN e 5
Mr. Zhang Shenjin wIE® KA 5
Mr. Wang Yunchen ERREAE 5
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B -EEENEFEZEENERLHREREIKE
SRERHZ2BEZEHNUAREERRER -EF
ELEFEZEENEALBHARNERT A2
BEFENEANESERCHRZBIANAFRLIE -
HWAEZEFESREFZEENSER AP RZ
BRXPGCEERABFEANERR -BFRFERH
HHBBEEMMERZ - ARABRRRETEFTATAE
BERPAEEXBERETES KRB IEXER B
%m$@a%%o@%§$m¢wmr§$ggﬁ
EBERARENBERMT:

Number of

general

meetings
Attendance attended/ Attendance
rate convened rate

BHES

BEETZ
HEX BREAERH e =%
100% 11 100%
100% 11 100%
100% 1M 100%
100% 1M 100%
100% 11 100%
100% 1M 100%
100% 1M 100%
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Appointment, re-election and removal of Directors

Each of the executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a specific term. The Directors have been
appointed for a term of three years commencing from 22 June
2022, unless and until it is terminated by either the Company
or such Director. The term of appointment of each Director is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) in accordance
with its articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of
Association”) and the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the Articles of Associations, one-third of all
Directors (whether executive or non-executive) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at each AGM at least once
every three years.

The Articles of Association provide that any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board or as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
first AGM of the Company. Any Director so appointed after his/her
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election.

The Company may, in accordance with the Articles of
Association, by ordinary resolution remove any Director before
the expiration of his/her term of office notwithstanding anything
to the contrary in the Articles of Association or in any agreement
between the Company and such Director.
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TEERRE
Directors’ training EEEH
Code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code provides that directors TEEATATUEXCIANBRTE EEES
should participate in continuous professional development to MEBEEXRE BRI ENENGE KR R
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure REEBBTEFELIHEMRYEMFENERATHE
that their contribution to the Board remain informed and relevant. ESELER 2REZTEZALFEEIR HE
All the Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous BHEARNTDEBREZTBELBERBOHXHE - 2
professional development activities by ways of attending training HBEEXERTEY REEERHEMNCE  HZE
and/or reading materials relevant to the Company’s business 20225 12A31IALEE - EFEXHNEEEIHME
or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities. A summary of (AN

professional training received by the Directors for the year ended
31 December 2022 according to the records provided by the
Directors is as follows:

Attending seminar(s)/
programme(s)/
conference(s) and/or
reading materials relevant
to the business or
directors’ duties

HEEHEEEHHE
R/ SHEREEREEH
BEHEBE N
Ms. Shen Genlian ARt v
Mr. Zhou Jun B & e v
Mr. Xie Zongguo HRE LA v
Ms. Yuan Aomei R+ v
Mr. Ip Wang Hoi L SN e 4
Mr. Zhang Shenjin RESEE 4
Mr. Wang Yunchen TEREE v
Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities Insurance EEkREABEZEERR
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover ARRIEREZRSLBEEEABEZRE - 3t
for the Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal ARREE  AABERERETEREREA B EBEA
actions against Directors, officers and senior management of the EREEETRHERE-

Company arising out of corporate activities.

Annual Report 2022 F#§ 23



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEER|E

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

In accordance with the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code,
the roles of the chairman and the chief executive should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
Currently, Ms. Shen Genlian, the Chairperson, is responsible
for the for strategic development and providing advice on the
operation and management of the Group. Mr. Zhou Jun, the chief
executive officer of the Company, is responsible for the overall
management, strategic and major decisions on the development
and planning and operation of the Group.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the requirement of Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent
non-executive Directors, one of whom has appropriate
professional qualification in accounting and financial management
expertise. All independent non-executive Directors have
confirmed their independence, as set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules, to the Company and the Board considers that
all independent non-executive Directors have satisfied their
independence of the Group.

All independent non-executive Directors have offered
sufficient time and efforts to serve the business affairs of
the Company. They also possess appropriate academic and
professional qualifications and related management experience
and have contributed to the Board with their professional
opinion. The Board believes that the participation of independent
non-executive Directors shall offer their independent judgment on
issues relating to strategy, performance, conflict of interest and
management process such that the interests of all shareholders
and the Group are considered and safeguarded.

To ensure that independent views and input are available to
the Board, the Company has established mechanisms including
(i) strengthening the independent non-executive Directors’
recruitment process to include criteria such as each candidates’
available time commitments and qualification; (ii) reviewing the
number of independent non-executive Directors on an annual
basis; (iii) performing additional assessment or evaluation of
independent non-executive Directors’ contribution; and (iv) engage
external independent professional advisors to assist performance
of the Directors’ duties. The Board will review the implementation
and effectiveness of the above mechanisms on an annual basis.

During the year under review, the Chairperson had held a
meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of the other executive Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Implementation and execution of the policies and strategies
formulated by the Board and the daily operations are delegated
from the Board to the management of the Company. In addition,
an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), a remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and a nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) have been set
up to assist the Board in fulfilling certain responsibilities. All
committees have been established with defined written terms
of reference, which were posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkex.com.hk) and the Company (www.vanov.cn).
All committees shall report to the Board on their decisions
or recommendations made. All committees are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon
reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

Audit Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and
the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are,
among other things, to review and supervise the Group's financial
reporting process and internal control and risk management
system, nominate and monitor external auditors, provide advice
and comments to the Board on matters related to corporate
governance and perform other duties and responsibilities as
assigned by the Board.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ip Wang Hoi, Mr. Zhang
Shenjin and Mr. Wang Yunchen. Mr. Wang Yunchen currently
serves as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the year:

* reviewed annual results of 2021 and annual report of
2021, interim results of 2022 and interim report of 2022;

» discussed with the management and the external auditor
the accounting policies and practices which may affect
the Group;

* reviewed the report prepared by the external auditor
covering major findings in the course of the audit and the
accounting and financial reporting matters;
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+ reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and s BIAEEERERBEERLIANIEERFHAEX
internal control systems of the Group; and R

«  considered the re-appointment of external auditor of the s EBEENZAEARRAAINEZEAD o
Company.

The Audit Committee held two meeting during the year ended EREZEERE E2022F12A3MHLFED 217
31 December 2022. Individual attendance of each committee MAEH®E - TZEEEKERNE E2022F12A31B It
member at the meeting during the year ended 31 December 2022 FEMNSZLERABAOT
is as follows:

Attendance/

Number of meetings

Name of Committee Member ZEEREMRS HERE ERRE
Mr. Ip Wang Hoi BiRLE 2/2
Mr. Zhang Shenjin RESEE 2/2
Mr. Wang Yunchen FEBRTE 2/2

The annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 AEEHE2022F12A3MBULEFENFEEER
December 2022 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee RRXEZCEWNG EHEXZESEM -
before submission to the Board for approval.

Remuneration Committee FHEES

The Remuneration Committee was established with written ARRERITMEZEES  WRE EWHAE
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing 325 RBEERTREEINBEBERE - i BN
Rules and the CG Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration ZEENIEBRER(EFBRBEIRARTHANER
Committee are, among other things, to make recommendations EREBERNESERHEES TS ELRBITEHEE
to the Board on the Company’s policy for human resource EREREBBHFMAOm R RERE -
management as well as establish and review policies and
structure in relation to remuneration for the Directors and senior
management.

The Remuneration Committee consists of one executive FMNEE R RN TEFARLE  AWEE
Director, Mr. Zhou Jun and two independent non-executive VIRNTEFELHEENRESLAERK - Eiz
Directors, Mr. Ip Wang Hoi and Mr. Zhang Shenjin. Mr. Ip Wang REERKECHFMNEESER -

Hoi currently serves as the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

The following is a summary of work performed by the UTAFMZESERFRMETH IEME:
Remuneration Committee during the year:

« Assessed the performance of the Directors and senior s FEARFESLEKAEEENRE X

management of the Company; and

+ Reviewed and recommended to the Board the s BREFMNEREARREERSAEEEMD

remuneration policy and structure relating to the Directors EE O OYRMESFSREEBRES -

and senior management of the Company.
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The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the
year ended 31 December 2022. Individual attendance of each
committee member at the meeting during the year ended 31
December 2022 is as follows:

Name of Committee Member ZEBRENA
Mr. Zhou Jun JB Bk %k A=

Mr. Ip Wang Hoi L N e

Mr. Zhang Shenijin RIE® A

The remuneration for the Directors and senior management
comprises basic salary, retirement benefits and discretionary
bonus. Details of the amount of emoluments of Directors paid for
the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee are, among other things, to
make recommendations to the Board regarding candidates to fill
vacancies on the Board and/or in senior management, to assess
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
to review the time commitment required of the Directors and to
evaluate whether the Directors have committed adequate time
to discharge their responsibilities to review and implement the
Nomination Policy and to consider related matters.

The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director,
Ms. Shen Genlian, and two independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Ip Wang Hoi and Mr. Wang Yunchen. Ms. Shen Genlian
currently serves as the chairperson of the Nomination Committee.

The following is a summary of work performed by the
Nomination Committee during the year:

. Reviewed and considered the Nomination Policy, the
structure, size and composition of the Board; and

+ Assessed independence of the independent
non-executive Directors.

TEERRE

FHEESRNE E2022F 12 A3MB L FED 817
—REH® - SLEEGKRERBE2022F12A318 EF
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The Nomination Committee carries out the process of
selecting and recommending candidates for directorships by
making reference to the balance of expertise, skills, experience,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments
of such individuals, the requirements of the business of the Group
and other relevant statutory requirements and regulations. Further,
pursuant to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
and the Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee, when
reviewing the composition of the Board, will have regard to the
Company’s Board Diversity Policy and the progress on achieving
the objectives set for implementing the said policy. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board
members.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the
year ended 31 December 2022. Individual attendance of each
committee member at the meeting during the year ended 31
December 2022 is as follows:

Name of Committee Member ZEERENHS
Ms. Shen Genlian AR B 2+

Mr. Ip Wang Hoi HiFTE

Mr. Wang Yunchen FEREAE
BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board adopted
a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) setting
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company
considered diversity of board members can be achieved through
consideration of a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against selection criteria, having
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Selection of
candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. The
ultimate decision will be made upon the merits and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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The Board’s composition as at the date of this report under
diversified perspectives is summarised as follows:

Designation EDs

FEBAL HiTES
Gender Females
31 i
Age Group

Education background Bachelor
BEET 2+

Professional experiences WEEERGENI0) 10-20
BEER(F) DR10F 10-20
1

2 3

As at 31 December 2022, the Board comprises seven
members, two of whom is female director, thus achieving the
goal of gender diversity in the Board. As at 31 December
2022, the ratio of male and female in the workforce is 53%
and 47%, respectively; and the ratio of male and female in the
senior management is 60% and 40% respectively. As such,
the Company’s workforce and the senior management have
both achieved gender diversity between males and females.
The Company would continue to take into account of diversity
perspectives in its hiring.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy and monitor its implementation on an annual basis. The
Nomination Committee will report annually to shareholders on the
process adopted in relation to the Board appointments and the
consideration given to the diversity on the Board.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a director nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”) on 9 December 2021 in relation to the
nomination, appointment, re-appointment of new Directors and
the nomination procedure of the Company, which provides that
in evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
Nomination Committee shall consider the candidates’ character
and integrity, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience, independence, diversity on the Board, willingness
to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a Board member
and such other criteria that are appropriate to the business of the
Company.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) on 9 December 2021. A summary of the Dividend Policy
is disclosed as below.

Subject to the approval of the shareholders and requirement
of the relevant law, the Company shall pay annual dividends to the
shareholders if the Group is profitable, operations environment is
stable and there is no significant investment or commitment made
by the Group, after taking into account the factors as detailed
below and determined by the Board from time to time. The
remaining net profits will be used for the Group’s development and
operations. The Dividend Policy allows the Company to declare
special dividends from time to time in addition to the annual
dividends.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take
into account, inter alia, (i) the Company’s actual and expected
financial performance; (ii) retained earnings and distributable
reserves of the Group; (iii) the level of the Group’s debts to
equity ratio, return on equity and the relevant financial covenants;
and (iv) the general economic conditions, business cycle of the
Group’s business and other internal and external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company.

Any final dividends declared by the Company must be
approved by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders at an AGM
and must not exceed the amount recommended by the Board. The
Dividend Policy shall be reviewed periodically and submitted to
the Board for approval if amendments are required.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties set out in code provision A.2.1 of the
CG Code, namely: (i) to develop and review the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board; (ii) to review and monitor
the training and continuous professional development of the
Directors and senior management; (iii) to review and monitor the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements; (iv) to develop, review and monitor the
code of conduct and compliance manual (including in relation to
securities trading) applicable to employees and the Directors; and
(v) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report in the Company’s
annual report.
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During the Board meeting held on 30 March 2023, the Board
reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and legal and regulatory compliance, training and
continuous professional development participations of the
Directors, as well as the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in maintaining a
sound and effective internal control and risk management systems
for the Group to safeguard shareholders’ investments and assets
of the Company at all times.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has appointed Ms. Mak Po Man Cherie as the
company secretary of the Company. Ms. Mak Po Man Cherie
of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, an
external service provider, has been engaged by the Company as
the company secretary to support the Board by ensuring good
information flow within the Board and that the Board policy and
procedures are followed. Ms. Zhou Jing is the Securities Affairs
Representative of the Company, and is the primary contact of Ms.
Mak Po Man Cherie at the Company.

Ms. Mak has confirmed that she has complied with Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules in relation to the professional training
requirements.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in maintaining a
sound and effective internal control and risk management systems
for the Group to safeguard the shareholders’ investments and
assets of the Company at all times.

The Company has established a set of comprehensive risk
management policies and measures to identify, evaluate and

manage risks arising from operations.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification

+ ldentifies risks that may potentially affect the Group’s
business and operations.
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Risk Assessment

» Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria
developed by the management; and

» Considers the impact and consequence on the business and
the likelihood of their occurrence.

Risk Response

*  Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

« Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

* Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place;

* Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation; and

*  Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management and
the Board regularly.

Control procedures have been designed to safeguard assets
against misappropriation and disposition; ensure compliance with
relevant laws, rules and regulations; ensure proper maintenance
of accounting records for provision of reliable financial information
used within the business or for publication; and to provide
reasonable assurance against material misstatement, loss or
fraud.

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company and reviewing their effectiveness.
The Board oversees the overall risk management of the Group and
endeavours to identify, control impact of the identified risks and
facilitate implementation of coordinated mitigating measures. The
Audit Committee assists the Board in the review, which covers
operational, financial, compliance controls and risk management
functions, to maintain an adequate and effective internal control
system to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and the
assets of the Group. The risk management and internal control
systems of the Company are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failures to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. A review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems, including
financial, operation and compliance controls, will be conducted by
the Board at least annually.
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The Group does not have an internal audit function. Taking
into account the size, nature and complexity of the Group’s
business, the Board have sufficient capacity to oversee the design
and implementation of the risk management and internal control
system and to assess its effectiveness, and accordingly there is
no immediate need to set up an internal audit function within the
Group. The Directors will review annually the needs for internal
audit function.

The Company has engaged an external consultant to perform
a review on the Group’s internal control and risk management
systems. With the assistance of the external consultant, the Board
conducted an annual review on the effectiveness of the internal
control system of the Group and considered the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget. Save the Company's inadvertent
oversight of not awaring the exceeding of the de minimis threshold
of the continuing connected transactions as disclosed in the
section headed "Continuing Connected Transactions" under the
Directors' Report, the Board is not aware of any significant internal
control and risk management weaknesses nor significant breach
of limits or risk management policies, and considers the existing
internal control system and risk management system effective and
adequate.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
FOR THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group strictly follows the requirements of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance of (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO”) and the Listing Rules and ensures that inside
information is disclosed to the public as soon as reasonably
practicable unless the information falls within any of the safe
harbours of the SFO. Before inside information is fully disclosed to
the public, such information is kept strictly confidential. In addition,
the Group adopted the policy of disclosing relevant information
only to appropriate staff within the Group.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 and ensure that
they are prepared in accordance with the statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure
the timely publication of the consolidated financial statements.
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The statement of the external auditor of the Company with
regard to their reporting responsibilities on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements, is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 67 to 73 of this annual report.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
having made all reasonable enquiries, they are not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which
may cause the Company not to continue as a going concern.
Therefore, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern
approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2022, services provided
to the Company by external auditor, Grant Thornton Hong Kong
Limited, and the fees paid or payable were as follows:

AR B HNEE A BRED ¥ AR R B 4R A B 7S TR R AU R R
EXMRAE RN EAFRETEE F7I3EHN B L X E
fishs o

FERD BREFED  SELFRELESEN
o TR T AT B AR G AN A T TR R
EEGENBEATRERENENFTLHRR - B
b FERERGA NS RRE R AR EE
CESR

B AT =

REZ£2022F 128318 I F/E » INEZ HADEUE
(BEB)ETMEHMERAFAARNRFRENRE R
U ER sk fEUR 9B A an T

RMB'000

ARETFIT

Audit service for the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ=2022F12A3MH L FENEZRE 1,100

Non-audit service I & Z AR 75

— Agreed-upon procedures engagement on interim — MAEEH Z=2022F6H308 1
financial information of the Group for the six months 7B A #) R BB 7S A KLY 1 TR

ended 30 June 2022 ZEREF 100

1,200

ANNUAL REMUNERATION PAYABLE TO THE
MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The annual remuneration of the members of the senior
management by band for the year ended 31 December 2022 is as
follows:

Remuneration bands (HK$) FHEE (BT
Nil — 1,000,000 Z£ - 1,000,000
1,000,001 - 1,500,000 1,000,00121,500,000

Further details of the Directors’ emoluments and five highest
paid individuals required to be disclosed under Appendix 16 of the
Listing Rules are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Company has adopted the Shareholders’ Communication
Policy, which sets out the Company’s use of a number of
mechanisms to provide effective and efficient communication to
shareholders, among which, (i) the share registrar of the Company
serves the shareholders in respect of their shareholding and
related matter; (ii) corporate communications such as annual
reports, interim reports and circulars are provided in both English
and Chinese versions and are available on the Stock Exchange’s
website at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at
www.vanov.cn; and (iii) general meetings provide a forum for the
shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the
Directors and senior management. At the AGM, the Chairperson
of the Board, the chairman of Board committees, or, in their
absence, other members of each committee will also answer
questions from shareholders.

The shareholders are encouraged to attend the general
meetings of the Company and the Directors always make efforts
to fully address any questions raised by the shareholders at the
AGM and the extraordinary general meetings (the “EGM”) of the
Company. In addition, the shareholders have the right to nominate
a person to stand for election as a director at any general meeting
by lodging a written notice to the Company.

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held on 29
June 2023, the notice of which will be sent to the shareholders in
accordance with the Articles of Association, the Listing Rules and
other applicable laws and regulations.

During the year ended 31 December 31 2022, the Board
has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ Communication Policy. The Board believes that
the diversified shareholders’ communication channels provide
shareholders and investors with effective access to information
about the Group, and that shareholders can contact the Board
directly and express their opinions on their own initiative through
the following procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to
the Board. The Board, therefore, endorses the effectiveness of the
Shareholders’ Communication Policy.

* for identification purposes only.

TEERRE

REEEARERAERM

RAREHEM—ERRBABE  EREINAER
AANBEZEEFMREREEIERRENBN - &
FEREBEOARANRNBFPELELRRAFR K
HEAEERAESEERE: (VF® PHRERE
BEARIBAMMEA PR XRA - 3] 5B 22 P 4G ik
www.hkexnews.hk & 7N 2 &) 49 uiwww.vanov.cn & ] :
LR AEARRBEZFERELREEZR SR
ERERXRBENTe ERREBFASL EF=F
xR EFSLECIRFIMESHRE)SEZES
MEMKETEHRERREER -

RARHBBRRHERERERREG  MEFTF—EH
HeHEEBREREAATRRBFAERKRRER
ARE(RREIREDRENEMERE - tbH BRE
NEEAARAABRELEOMBANERETAMALER
RAREL2EEE B -

AAFFEEKRRBF RS EN2023F67529H 2
T REeBESBEEAGEREIY LWRAIRE
@ BERERTE TRE -

HE2022F12A31BLFE  E=SCEHRE
BABRENEREERE EFSHE BENE
CEBRERRRANMEEERHBENENEBEAE
BEAMEE BERFEUTRBUTREFEEBRESE
ZEeVFIPIRMER ERSEHEZEST -
b EESRUBREBABENEBRE -

Annual Report 2022 £# 35



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEER|E

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting and to put forward
proposals at general meetings

The shareholders may put forward proposals at general
meetings by requisitioning an EGM. Pursuant to article 58 of the
Articles of Association, EGM may be convened by the Board on
the requisition of one or more shareholders holding, at the date of
deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board
or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EGM
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21
days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Pursuant to article 85 of the Articles of Association, no
person other than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless
recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for election
as a Director at any general meeting unless a notice signed by a
shareholder (other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified
to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given
of his intention to propose such person for election and also a
notice signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness to
be elected shall have been lodged at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong (as shown below) provided that
the minimum length of the period, during which such notice(s) are
given, shall be at least seven (7) days and that (if the notices are
submitted after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election) the period for lodgement of such
notice(s) shall commence on the day after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and
end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general
meeting.
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Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing. Contact details are as follows:

Vanov Holdings Company Limited

No. 519, Section 2, Xinhua Avenue
Chengdu Strait Science and Technology
Industry Development Park Wenjiang
District Chengdu Sichuan Province, PRC

The Board regularly reviews shareholders' communication
policy to ensure its implementation and effectiveness and
to reflect current best practices in communications with the
shareholders and the investment community, and considers that
the shareholders' communication policy is effective and adequate.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

In preparation for the Listing, the Company has conditionally
adopted the Memorandum and Articles of Association on 9
December 2021, which became effective on 11 January 2022
(i.e. the date of the Listing) (the “Listing Date”). Since then, the
Company has not made any changes to its Memorandum and
Articles of Association. An up-to-date version of the Company’s
Memorandum and Articles is also available on the websites
of the Company (www.vanov.cn) and of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkex.com.hk).

TEERRE

MEESHERREANERF

BRABEENEATANESSREEALRET
FIH o BEFBOT:

REZFKRBERAA
FEPIE

&R TR T R
BEMEREEEREER
A E T 51958

EEe TR BRRBARE  BRETZE
B UWRMRERRREEEBANRITREED
TREBERBABRRBELIRTED -

BERXH

REH LT ARFER2021F12898 B & 14
RMABEREARAEAA - I 02022515118 (B
B LETRBD AR - Bt - NAF) I & H
HAEABRERRAARMAAUELEMELTT - RRARKH
bl 7N ) 4B 4% 2 72 K /40 K 40 B I BT AR R R 48 3 (www.
vanov.cn) } B 22 BT 49 34 (www.hkex.com.hk) ] & -

Annual Report 2022 F#§ 37



BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEGREEERER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Shen Genlian (i 1R ), aged 55, Chairperson, an executive
Director and the chairperson of the Nomination Committee of the
Company. She is responsible for strategic development and
providing advice on the operation and management of the Group.
Ms. Shen is also a director of each of Lion Courage Enterprises
Limited (“Lion Courage”), Vanov Tianhe International Holdings
Limited, Virtuous Way Limited, Marvel Dragon Development
Limited and Sichuan Huanlong Technology Fabric Co., Ltd.* (F9)I]
IRERIMT# W AR AF) (“Sichuan Huanlong”), all of which being
subsidiaries of the Company. She is the spouse of Mr. Zhou Jun.
Ms. Shen obtained a Bachelor Degree in Mechanical Engineering
(Instrumentation and Test System) from East China Institute of
Technology* (Z % T £ B3) (currently known as Nanjing University
of Science and Technology* (FA R¥E T XZ)) in July 1990 and
completed a study of Advanced Studies Course for Postgraduate
in Business Administration (E¥EEER ZEM A RREE
31) at Southwestern University of Finance and Economics* (78 @
B 48 K 2) in December 2000. Ms. Shen has more than 20 years’
experience in papermaking felts manufacturing industry.
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Mr. Zhou Jun ( /@ B& ), aged 59, chief executive officer
of the Company, an executive Director and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company. He is responsible
for overall management, strategic and major decisions on the
development and daily operation of the Group. Mr. Zhou is also
director of each of Lion Courage, Chengdu Huanlong Funeng
Technology Co., Ltd* (A EBER BE MR g Bt . B R 2 7)) (“Huanlong
Funeng”), Chengdu Huanlong Lixin Technology Co., Ltd.* (X #B
REMMEI AR 27) (“Huanlong Lixin”), Sichuan Huanlong
and Shanghai Jinxiong Paper Making Net Carpet Co., Ltd.* (/&
SREREMMPH AR AF]). He is the spouse of Ms. Shen Genlian.
Mr. Zhou graduated from the Technical School of China Academy
of Engineering Physics* (F B TREYWE MR T ER) in July
1982 and completed a study of Advanced Studies Course for
Postgraduate (In-service Programme) in Business Administration
(EEEERMREREZEMEIT(ERZEE)) at the Business School
of Sichuan University* (P9I K282 F87) in July 2000. Mr. Zhou
is a Vice President of the 6th Council of Sichuan Papermaking
Industry Association* (HJIIEERTEHEE ~EEEEE T
i), a Vice Chairman of the 6th Council of Sichuan Papermaking
Industry Association* (I EERTEHBEE ~EESSEE
£ K), a Vice Chairman of the 9th Council of Sichuan Province
Papermaking Association* ()| E &M EeF N EREC B
% ), a Standing Director of the 10th Council of Sichuan Textile
Engineering Society* (B & I RREeF+tEEEEFH
2 &), a Standing Vice President of the 2nd Council of Sichuan
Papermaking Industry Association Household Paper Branch*
(MNEERTEREEETAEI EF _ERFEFTBKAE
£), an Individual Director of the 8th Council of China Technical
Association of Paper Industry (TElEMEeEN\EEEE @
A=) and was a Vice President of the 4th Council of China
Nonwovens & Industrial Textiles Association* (FF B &£ % A 45 & &
TEHeFENEEEEE € K). Mr. Zhou has more than 21 years’
experience in papermaking felts manufacturing industry.

EEREREEEBE

BB KLE 595 ARBIITHBAE  BITESER
YTHEEENE - HEBEASENEREE R &
ERAELEFEERBEUEREARK AEENA
Lion Courage * fX#PIREREREERAG ([RER
gEl)  BREAPRBEY MBI EBRAR(BEILR] - M
NIRER L ESREABHRBERARSEANES -
BAEALBELZLNEBS - AEM982FTARER
FETEMEMNERRETER - WH2000F78E M
JNIAEHERTKPETEN AR ESCT (ER
BE)RRE - AEEANIEERTERSFEEE

gEeR WIIBERKTERSEEESESE
BER WA EHKB2eFENEESSEEER T
NEgBIREeFtEREEeEKESE  U)I%
ERTERSLEFAKI EF_EBEEEEKI S
E HEERSeFE \EEES@MAEEALRPEH
EXRYERTEREFNEESERIER - A%
EREREURNEERBTENFLER -

Annual Report 2022 £ 39



BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEGREEERER

Mr. Xie Zongguo (# R El), aged 51, an executive Director
of the Company. He is responsible for the overall daily operation
and research and development management, and participating
in decision-making in respect of major matters. Mr. Xie is also a
director of Sichuan Huanlong. Mr. Xie obtained a Bachelor Degree
in Textile Engineering from the Tianjin Textile Institute* (XZ#4)
% T 27P%) (currently known as Tianjin Polytechnic University*
(REZTEKZE)) in July 1993. Mr. Xie has more than 20 years’
experience in papermaking felts manufacturing industry. He
currently serves as general manager and director of Sichuan
Huanlong. Mr. Xie is an individual director of the 8th Council of
China Technical Association of Paper Industry (fEE K 2= E N
EEE2{EAESE) and a technical expert of the PRC papermaking
felt industry jointly awarded by the China Non-wovens & Industrial
Textile Association, Papermaking Textile Branch* (¥ Bl & % B 45
BRITEMeEKBNE S E) and the Dewatering Equipment
Profession Committee of China Technical Association of Paper
Industry* (FEEMREZSFH KBMEEEZES).

Ms. Yuan Aomei (R #), aged 42, an executive Director
of the Company. She is responsible for providing advice on the
operation and management. Ms. Yuan obtained a graduation
certificate of Top-up Undergraduate Degree (Z £} F A&l 2 %
& £) in Business Administration (part-time) from Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics* (78 8 48 K£) in July
2010. Ms. Yuan has more than 12 years’ experience in business
administration. Ms. Yuan joined Huanlong Industrial Group Co.
Ltd.* (3RBE T ¥ £ B AR 2 7)) in August 2008 and worked as the
director of its capital operations management centre* (€ & &%
EIEAFRL4BEL) from 2014 to December 2020. She left Huanlong
Industrial Group Co. Ltd.* (JRELXSEHRAF]) and joined
Sichuan Huanlong as head of treasury since January 2021. Before
joining the Group, Ms. Yuan worked as office manager of Chengdu
Zhishan Tea Cultural Development Ltd.* (K &8 = & & L& R
B AF) from January 2007 to August 2008, and as capital
representative* (& € #)&)) of Chengdu Tianyou Development Ltd.*
(R #B X & % & A R A 7)) from January 2003 to December 2006.

* for identification purposes only.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ip Wang Hoi ( ¥ % B ), aged 47, an independent
non-executive Director of the Company. He is also the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee, and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company. He is
responsible for supervising and providing independent advice on
the operation and management of the Group. Mr. Ip obtained his
Bachelor of Business Administration in Accounting and Finance
from the University of Hong Kong in December 1998 and Master of
Business Administration from the University of Chicago Graduate
School of Business in March 2008. Mr. Ip has been a member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
September 2001 and a fellow of CPA Australia since November
2020. Mr. Ip was designated as a Chartered Financial Analyst
by the CFA Institute in September 2005. Mr. Ip has more than
20 years’ experience in accounting, investment banking and
corporate finance. Mr. Ip joined Arthur Andersen in September
1998 and was transferred to PricewaterhouseCoopers with effect
from 1 July 2002. Mr. Ip left PricewaterhouseCoopers in April
2004 and his last position was a manager. Mr. Ip was employed
by J.P. Morgan Securities (Asia Pacific) Limited from March 2011
to March 2016 and his last position was an executive director in
the global investment banking department. Mr. Ip was employed
by Tuspark Financial Holdings (HK) Limited from March 2017
to February 2020 and his last position was the chief executive
officer of the corporate finance department — TUS Corporate
Finance Limited. Mr. Ip has been the responsible officer of Wings
Securities Limited since February 2020.

Mr. Zhang Shenjin (R &, formerly known as Zhang Shenlian
iR1E ), aged 52, an independent non-executive Director of the
Company. He is also a member of each of the Audit Committee and
the Remuneration Committee of the Company. He is responsible
for supervising and providing independent advice on the operation
and management of the Group. Mr. Zhang has over 14 years of
experience in financial news reporting. Mr. Zhang worked for
China Business Times Shandong Reporter Station* (7 & T &5 B
¥ 1L 5 52 & Uh) from September 1992 to July 2006 and worked as
reporter stationmaster* (i & ¥4 uh &) from 1997. Mr. Zhang has
served as the fourth secretary-general of China Paper and Pulp
Industry Chamber of Commerce* (FE2B THEBASHERD)
since November 2017. Mr. Zhang obtained a graduation certificate
of Junior College Program (5 &£ %% £) in Chinese Language
and Literature by correspondence education from Shandong Heze
Education University* (LU R & 52 # 5 2 6) (currently known as
Heze University* (5772 £ F7)) in June 1992.
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EENEGREEERER

Mr. Wang Yunchen (E# ), aged 38, an independent
non-executive Director of the Company. He is also the chairman
of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. He is responsible for supervising and
providing independent advice on the operation and management
of the Group. Mr. Wang obtained a Bachelor Degree, a Master
Degree and a Doctorate Degree in Financial Management from
Southwestern University of Finance and Economics* (78 F 81 4% X
£ in June 2007, March 2010 and December 2013, respectively.
Mr. Wang was awarded the professorship of Accounting
qualification issued by Sichuan Agricultural University (P9)I| & %
KZ) in December 2020. Mr. Wang has been working for College
of Management of Sichuan Agricultural University (/9 )I| 2 % X
&) since January 2014 and serves as the head of its department
of financial management. Mr. Wang currently serves as a
postdoctoral researcher at the Postdoctoral Program Research
Station of business administration* (L EEB LR RH
Uk) at Fudan University. Mr. Wang was awarded the third prize
of the 18th Social Science Outstanding Achievement of Sichuan
Province* (I E TN\ AR ERBEFHR=54) in August
2019.

Mr. Wang obtained a listed company senior management
training* (Em AR ® A& E E A B153)l) graduation certificate
issued by the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in March 2017. Mr. Wang
served as an independent director of Sichuan Jinyu Automobile
City (Group) Co., Ltd.* (Il &FAEWM(EE) RMHERAF),
a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
000803) from October 2019 to December 2019, an independent
director of Chengdu Xingrong Environmental Co., Ltd.* (5% #B ™ &
RIRERMABMRAR]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 000598) from April 2017 to August 2020
and an independent director of Sichuan Crun Co., Ltd.* (/9)I])I| &
f& 17 A BR 2 A1), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 002272) from August 2017 to March 2022.

* for identification purposes only.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Gao Qiang, aged 48, the sales director of the Group.
He is responsible for the creation of sales strategies and the
management of sales goals and targets. Mr. Gao has more
than 20 years’ experience in sales and papermaking felts
manufacturing industry. Before joining the Group, Mr. Gao has
worked for Huanlong Industrial Group Co. Ltd* RE T ¥ £ E
BPR A7) as sales manager since December 2001, responsible
for the creation of sales strategies and the management of sales
goals and targets. Mr. Gao left Huanlong Industrial Group Co.
Ltd* RELEESBE AR Q7)) and joined Sichuan Huanlong as
sales manager in February 2007 and currently serves as the sales
director of the Group. Mr. Gao obtained a graduation certificate
of Junior College Program (£ £} £ 2% £) in Textile Engineering
issued by the Wuhan Textile Industry College* (& & 45 4% T 2z)
(currently known as Wuhan Textile University* (i £ 45 4% X £2)) in
July 1998.

Ms. Lin Xiaoyan, aged 41, the director of the operation
department of the Group. She is responsible for the promotion
of the operational efficiency and quality for the Group’s overall
marketing. Ms. Lin has more than 14 years’ experience in
corporate management and operation. She joined Sichuan
Huanlong since its establishment in February 2007 and was
promoted to operation director in April 2019. Ms. Lin obtained
a graduation certificate of Junior College Program (% & £ %
& &) in Industrial Enterprise Management jointly issued by the
Southwestern University of Finance and Economics* (74 & 8F
£ KE) and the Sichuan Province Higher Education Self-study
Examination Committee* (Il )| E 2 S HEE2ZH L E9F)
in December 1999 and a graduation certificate of Specialized
Secondary School Program (Z@FEHXE2RKREBEFE) in
Pulp and Paper Making Process from the Sichuan Light Industry
School* ()11 & & T Z 2 42) in July 2000.

Ms. Mak Po Man Cherie, aged 48, is the company secretary
of the Company. Ms. Mak is the Vice President of SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited. She has worked
for various professional firms and listed companies in Hong Kong,
with over 17 years of experience in the fields of audit, accounting,
corporate finance, compliance and corporate secretarial. Ms.
Mak obtained a Master of Corporate Governance degree from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2017. She has been
admitted as an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in
the United Kingdom in 2017, a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants in 2003, and a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in 2006.

*

for identification purposes only.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note
14 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on page 74.

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of 4 HK cents per share for the year ended 31 December
2022 to shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 7 July 2023. The final dividend is
subject to the approval of the shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company to be held on 29 June 2023, if approved,
it will be paid in cash on or around 30 August 2023.

There is no arrangement that a shareholder of the Company
has waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to shareholders amounted to RMB75,768,000,
representing the aggregation of the share premium, the
contributed surplus and the retained profits.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 164 of the
annual report.
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PROPERTIES OWNED BY THE GROUP

The Group owns properties in Wenjiang District, Chengdu,
Sichuen, the PRC for production (the “Properties”). Details of the
Properties owned by the Group as at 31 December 2022 are set
out on page 162.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

One factory building of the Properties was on 5 December
2021 leased to an independent third party in a short term basis for
investment purpose. Details of the movements in the investment
property of the Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements. Details of the major investment
property held by the Group as at 31 December 2022 are set out on
page 163.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and
equipment at a cost of approximately RMB89.8 million (2021:
RMB75.8 million) for the purpose of expanding its business.
Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business and indication of likely
future development in the Group’s business are provided in
the “Chairperson’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis sections of this annual report. An analysis using
key financial performance indicators is set out in “Management
Discussion and Analysis” section while the principal risks
and uncertainties are contained in the “Notes to the Financial
Statements” section of this annual report. Compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group can be found throughout this annual report, in particular,
the “Corporate Governance Report”. Discussions on the Group’s
environmental policies and performance are covered by a
separate Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Report
which will be available on the Company’s website under the
“Corporate Social Responsibility” section and the website of the
Stock Exchange on the same day of this annual report. The above
sections form part of this Report of the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

Key relationships with stakeholders

The Group believes that its success depends on the support
from its key stakeholders, namely employees, customers and
suppliers.

Employees

The Group endeavours to provide better working conditions
and attractive remunerations to its employees. The Group offers
remuneration package to its employees, which include salary,
allowances and payment for welfare contributions, including social
insurance contributions and housing provident fund contributions.
Based on the performance of each employee, the Group will
provide salary increments, bonuses and promotions, so as to
encourage the employees’ personal developments. The Group
provides regular on-the-job training to its employees in order to
build up a sound career platform for employees.

Customers

The Group has developed strong relationships with its
customers. The Group communicates and works closely with its
customers during the entire production process to ensure that its
products are properly designed and manufactured in accordance
with the customers’ production needs. For the purpose of
strengthening business relationships with customers, the Group’s
sales and marketing teams will visit customers’ production
facilities regularly to understand their needs and keep abreast of
the latest development and trends of its customers’ products. As
part of the Group’s after-sales service, it issues complimentary
technical advisory proposals to the customers analysing the
performance of their production machines, in order to provide
tailor-made papermaking felts solutions to its customers.
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Suppliers

The Group maintains good relationships with its key suppliers
through the established long-term business relationships with
them. The Group carefully selects its suppliers of raw materials
and maintains a list of approved suppliers. The approved suppliers
are selected based on a number of factors, including product
quality, supply capacity, pricing and way of settlement. The Group
believes that the established long-term business relationships
with these key suppliers enables the Group to have a steady
supply of raw materials which are manufactured according to
the specifications and timing requested by it and its customers,
and such relationships have been built upon a mutual trust and
confidence over the years of cooperation between the Group and
suppliers.

RESERVES

Movements during the year in the reserves of the Group and
the Company are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on page 77 and note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of
the Company are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BONDS ISSUED

The Company did not have any bonds in issue or existence for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

BORROWINGS

Details of borrowings of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out in notes 25 and 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

TAXATION IR
The information on the taxation of the Company and the BERARE RASEER2022F AT H & & T &
Group in 2022 is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial RGBT w R E8 o
statements.
DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE EEREENREED
CONTRACTS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report REANEEAREAHNESTOAT :
were:
Executive Directors BITES
Ms. Shen Genlian (Chairperson) LR ELZ T (EF)
Mr. Zhou Jun (Chief executive officer) B Bk S (TR R %K)
Mr. Xie Zongguo o~ B % A
Ms. Yuan Aomei R+t
Independent non-executive Directors BIYKHTES
Mr. Ip Wang Hoi ERMALE
Mr. Zhang Shenjin RIE®EE
Mr. Wang Yunchen FEREE
The biographical details of the Directors are set out on page EZERFBETEHNAFHRFEIBEEL43E °

38 to page 43 of this annual report.

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract EEFERARATIRBEN(EBRKS
(“Directors’ service Contract(s)’) with the Company for a #]) FHIHR2022F6HA22AR B =F - FA—F
term of three years commencing from 22 June 2022 which is HARIBEE T PR=ZEANERBIRIEEH - IEE
subject to termination by either party giving not less than three F REBYNTESHEARBAMEREMAARN
month’s written notice. All the Directors, including the independent RAARRRBFRGLHESR -

non-executive Directors, are subject to retirement by rotation
at the annual general meetings of the Company pursuant to the
Articles of Association.
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Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association,
notwithstanding any other provisions in the Articles, at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
at an annual general meeting at least once every three years.

Pursuant to Article 84(2) of the Articles of Association,
a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election and shall
continue to act as a Director throughout the meeting at which he
retires. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far
as necessary to ascertain the number of directors to retire by
rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself
for re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those
of the other Directors subject to retirement by rotation who have
been longest in office since their last re-election or appointment
and so that as between persons who became or were last
re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless
they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.
Any Director appointed by the Board pursuant to Article 83(3) shall
not be taken into account in determining which particular Directors
or the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation.

Accordingly, Ms. Shen Genlian, Mr. Zhou Jun and Mr. Xie
Zongguo will retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ OR CHIEF
EXECUTIVES’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1), all change and updated
information regarding the Directors and chief executive are set
out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management”. Save as disclosed in the above section, there
was no change to any of the information required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51(2)(a) to (e) and (g).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and five highest paid
individuals during the year are set out in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles of Association provide that the Directors shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or
sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted
in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their
respective offices. Such provisions were in force during the
course of the year under review and remained in force as of the
date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of
each Director and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as recorded in the register which have to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO or are required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO or required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

(i) Long positions in the Shares

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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EERKRD  HEROREEFTINER
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M2022F 124318 * ARRZEER AR A E
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(i) RROHHEFR

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Shares held/ interest in the
Name of Director Capacity/Nature interested in Company
BE/BEREE KA AR &
EEnA 56 tE WG EE WEN B DL
Ms. Shen Genlian (Note) Founder of a discretionary trust; 359,947,200 74.46%
interest of spouse

AR At (F 7)) TREFAZA:RBER

Mr. Zhou Jun (Note) Founder of a discretionary trust; 359,947,200 74.46%

interest of spouse

[ Bk 5e (K i) RPREFMATA EEER

Note: Perfect Angle Limited (“Perfect Angle”) and Wonderful
Advisor Limited (“Wonderful Advisor”) are holding
269,960,400 and 89,986,800 Shares. Each of Perfect Angle
and Wonderful Advisor is directly and wholly owned by Vistra
Trust (Singapore) Pte. Limited (“Vistra Trust”), the trustee
of the SGL Trust and the ZJ Trust. The SGL Trust is an
irrevocable discretionary trust established by Fame Attain
Limited (“Fame Attain”), which is wholly-owned by Ms.
Shen Genlian, as the settlor. The beneficiaries of the SGL
Trust are Ms. Shen Genlian and the children of Ms. Shen
Genlian. The ZJ Trust is an irrevocable discretionary trust
established by South Source Enterprises Limited (“South
Source”), which is wholly-owned by Mr. Zhou Jun, as the
settlor. The beneficiaries of the ZJ Trust are Mr. Zhou Jun
and the children of Ms. Shen Genlian. Ms. Shen Genlian and
Mr. Zhou Jun are wife and husband. Accordingly, each of Ms.
Shen Genlian and Mr. Zhou Jun is deemed to be interested in
the said 269,960,400 and 89,986,800 Shares (in aggregate
359,947,200 Shares) under the SFO.

#f &t Perfect Angle Limited ([Perfect Angle]) &
Wonderful Advisor Limited ([Wonderful
Advisor]) # 5269,960,4000% 189,986,800 %
f% 3 o Perfect Angle X Wonderful Advisor &
5 % Bl # Vistra Trust (Singapore) Pte. Limited
([Vistra Trust]) E# 2 & # A © Vistra Trust
ASGL Trust X% ZJ Trustf) & A ° SGL Trust
ARERERABA(BHDK IO TITHES
BEXT ERALREZTERAVERTA
2EE - SGL TrustZZAALBEL L
ARERELZETN FL -2Z) TrustBERLE
ERAR(ERDKZHATAIHEEEET
BRHABRTEEAVERTAZERSE -
Z) TrustI R m ARBAREEUARIREL
T FR - ABELXTRAELEERXRE -
At BEFFRBEHKH TRELZT R
A ESBERR AR L 269,960,400/ K&
89,986,800/ % {7 (& 359,947,200 % % 1) #
AR -
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(ii) Long position in the ordinary shares of

associated corporations

Name of Director

EEnA
Ms. Shen Genlian (Note1)
MARE L (K 771)

Mr. Zhou Jun (NoteT)
JE) Bk 5t A (B 5t 1)

Ms. Shen Genlian (Note2)

MRBEBR L (Hat2)

Mr. Zhou Jun (Note2)
BB e & (B et 2)

Name of associated
corporation

HBEEEE

Perfect Angle

Perfect Angle

Huanlong Lixin

Huanlong Lixin
IRBESL R
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(i) REBZEEBERTFHNER

Capacity/Nature

Bt M=

Founder of a
discretionary trust
RREEFEEZA

Interest of spouse
Aic 48 # 2%

Interest in a controlled
corporation/interest
of spouse

NEEEEEZR
RE#ER

Interest of spouse

LB &

Number of
Shares or
registered
capital held/
interested in
¥E/BR
EaiRoxFE
mEAXAHE

100

100

RMB10,000

A K #10,0007T

RMB10,000
A E#10,0007T

Approximate
percentage of
interest

BEEN
Bt

100%

100%

1%

1%



Notes:

1. Perfect Angle is holding 269,960,400 Shares. Perfect Angle
is directly and wholly owned by Vistra Trust, the trustee of the
SGL Trust. The SGL Trust is an irrevocable discretionary trust
established by Fame Attain, which is wholly-owned by Ms.
Shen Genlian, as the settlor. The beneficiaries of the SGL Trust
are Ms. Shen Genlian and the children of Ms. Shen Genlian.
Ms. Shen Genlian and Mr. Zhou Jun are wife and husband.
Accordingly, Perfect Angle is a holding company and an
associated corporation of the Company, and each of Ms. Shen
Genlian and Mr. Zhou Jun is deemed to be interested in the said
shares of the associated corporation under the SFO.

2. Huanlong Lixin is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, the equity interest of which is held as to 99% by
Huanlong Funeng, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and 1% by Huanlong Industrial Group Co., Ltd* ((REE T ¥ 5B E
% /2 7)), respectively. Huanlong Industrial Group Co., Ltd* (38 &
TEEBEABREAQA)Iis held as to 75% by Ms. Shen Genlian and
25% by Mr. Zhou, respectively. Ms. Shen Genlian and Mr. Zhou
Jun are wife and husband. Accordingly, Huanlong Lixin is an
associated corporation of the Company, and each of Ms. Shen
Genlian and Mr. Zhou Jun is deemed to be interested in the
equity interest of the associated corporation under the SFO.

Save as disclosed in the foregoing, as at 31 December 2022,
none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company or their
respective close associates had any interests or short positions
in any Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the register
required to be kept pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to
the Model Code.

* for identification purposes only.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the
year under review or subsisting at the end of the year under review
are set out below:

Share Option Scheme

On 9 December 2021, a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) was approved and adopted by the
shareholders, under which, options may be granted to any Eligible
Participants (as defined below) to subscribe for the Shares
subject to the terms and conditions stipulated in the Share Option
Scheme. The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme as
an incentive to the Directors and the Eligible Participants.
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The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible
Participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in the
Company with the view to achieving the following objectives: (i)
motivating the Eligible Participants to optimise their performance
efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and (ii) attracting and
retaining or otherwise maintaining on-going business relationships
with the Eligible Participants whose contributions are or will be
beneficial to the long-term growth of the Group.

The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option
to subscribe for such number of new Shares as the Board may
determine to the following persons (the “Eligible Participants”):
(i) any full-time or part-time employee of any member of the
Group; (ii) any consultant or adviser of any member of the
Group; (iii) any Director (including executive, non-executive
or independent non-executive Directors) of any member of
the Group; (iv) any substantial shareholder of any member of
the Group; and (v) any distributor, contractor, supplier, agent,
customer, business partner or service provider of any member of
the Group. The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant
of any option shall be determined by the Board (or as the case
may be, where required under the Listing Rules, the independent
non-executive Directors) from time to time on the basis of
the participant’s contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company) to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
48,000,000 Shares, being 9.93% of the total number of the Shares
in issue as at the date of this annual report.

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other scheme of the Company (including
both exercised and outstanding options) to each participant in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of the
Shares in issue for the time being. Any further grant of options
in excess of the 1% limit shall be subject to the shareholders’
approval in general meeting with such participant and his
associates abstaining from voting.
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An offer for the grant of option must be accepted within seven
days from the offer date. Options granted shall be taken up upon
payment of HK$1.00 as consideration for the grant of option.
Options may be exercised at any time from the date which option
is deemed to be granted and accepted and expired on the date
as the Board in its absolute discretion determine and which shall
not exceed a period of 10 years from the date on which the share
options are deemed to be granted and accepted but subject to
the provisions for early termination thereof contained in the Share
Option Scheme.

The subscription price for the Shares under the Share Option
Scheme shall be determined by the Board and shall not be less
than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of grant,
which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the
business of dealing in securities; (ii) the average of the closing
prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing from 9 December 2021. No share
option has been granted by the Company under the Share Option
Scheme since its adoption up to the date of this annual report.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of
Shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme was
48,000,000, representing approximately 9.93% of the issued
Shares as at the date of this annual report.

Other than the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2022 or subsisting at the end of the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

Details of retirement benefit plans of the Group during the
year under review are set out in note 2.20 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, so far as the Directors are aware,
the interest and short positions of the persons, other than a
Director or chief executive of the Company, in the Shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO and which fell to
be disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO are as follows:

Name Capacity/Nature

®nE/EB 56 HH

Beneficial owner
EmEAA

Perfect Angle

Beneficial owner
EmBEAA

Wonderful Advisor

Trustee
ZFEA

Vistra Trust (Note) (4 7F)

Note: Vistra Trust is the trustee of the SGL Trust and ZJ Trust and holds
100% issued share capital of both Perfect Angle and Wonderful
Advisor, thus Vistra Trust is deemed to be interested in all the
Shares held by Perfect Angle and Wonderful Advisor for the
purpose of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed under the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” above, at no time during
the year under review was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debts securities
(including debentures) of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

56 VANOV HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED REZERERAT

FERRRADARDRAAREKRD + 69 #
mRKRR

M2022F12A318  BESAHHM - MTAL (KR
RIEESZEITERABRINREARR N KM KA
BHFEENREZRAE  BEREZLFRBEKD
FIGIFTBEREEELMA - RERBEESLPE
EHEXVEFE2R3D BE AR MELFE

Number of
Shares held/

Approximate
percentage of

interested in interest
BE BEER EEBY
M58 E Bt
269,960,400 55.84%
89,986,800 18.61%
359,947,200 74.46%

Bt it : Vistra Trust 2 SGL Trust & ZJ Trustf) 25t A - I
A Perfect Angle &2 Wonderful Advisor 100% H) &
TIRA - BHut - REBFSF K HEEEA - Vistra Trust
4% /5 78 Perfect Angle 2 Wonderful Advisor#5 5 #)
FTERGHEEER -

R 40 50 15 ° O W B R B

BEXIBRRES] M RENBRES
Sh o RRE - HERXR  EEAMHBRRHFF
MEARBEXOEFEEMNRKBE2ETIEMNR
B BREEETHEARBARRHEMEMEAR
BOROKER(BREESD) MES -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to maintaining a high level of
corporate governance. Particulars of the Company’s corporate
governance practices are set out in the Corporate Governance
Report on pages 19 to 37 of this annual report.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all of the independent non-executive Directors
are independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the related party transactions as disclosed in note
34 to the consolidated financial statements and section headed
“Continuing Connected Transactions” below, there were no other
transactions, arrangements or contracts that are significant in
relation to the business of the Group to which the Company or
any of its subsidiary was a party and in which a Director or his/
her connected entity had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at any time during the year ended 31
December 2022.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for employment contracts, no other contracts concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN SOLE SPONSOR
AND INTERMEDIARIES

CMBC International Capital Limited was the sole sponsor
(the “Sole Sponsor”) for the Global Offering and the Listing.
The Sole Sponsor, Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited, Conyers
Dill & Pearman, Loogn & Yeung and SHINEWING Risk Services
Limited were appointed as the Compliance Adviser, auditors,
legal advisers as to Cayman lIsland laws, legal advisers as to
Hong Kong laws and internal control consultant of the Company,
respectively, after the Listing.

Earn Talent International Limited, a Hong Kong company
owned by Ms. Shen Genlian and Mr. Zhou Jun as to 50% and
50%, opened a securities account in Forwin Securities Group
Limited, one of the underwriters in the Global Offering, for trading
of securities, and paid service fees and commissions to Forwin
Securities Group Limited in each transaction of securities during
the year under review. Perfect Angle opened a securities account
in CMBC Securities Company Limited, the Stabilising Manager (as
defined in the Prospectus) to deposit the Shares of the Company
therein.

Save as: (a) the fees in relation to the services after the
Listing and the transactions as disclosed above; and (b) the listing
expense in relation to the Listing, there was no transactions
between (i) the Company, its Controlling Shareholders (as defined
in the Prospectus), subsidiaries, Directors, Senior Management or
their respective associates; (ii) any of (aa) the Sole Sponsor, (bb)
any of the intermediaries (including the Sole Global Coordinator,
the Joint Bookrunners, the Joint Lead Managers, underwriting
syndicate members, non-syndicate sub-placing agents and
distributors (both terms were defined in the Prospectus)) involved
in the placing, distribution or underwriting of the Global Offering or
(cc) any of the placees under the International Placing (as defined
in the Prospectus) (including the ultimate beneficial owners,
subsidiaries, directors senior management or the respective
associates of the parties referred to in (aa), (bb) and (cc)); and (iii)
consultants or advisers involved in the application of the Listing,
commencing from the first day of the financial year 2022 and
ending on the date of this annual report.
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COMPETING INTEREST

Apart from the Group's business, none of the Director,
the Controlling Shareholders or any of their respective close
associates was engaged in or had any interest in any business
that competes or may compete with the principal business of the
Group, which would require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules, or has any other conflict of interest with the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of
this annual report.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Ms. Shen Genlian and Mr. Zhou Jun (the “Covenantors”)
entered into a deed of non-competition (the “ Deed of
Non-Competition”) on 9 December 2021 in favour of the
Company (for itself and for the benefit of each other member
of the Group), pursuant to that they will not directly or indirectly
participate in, or hold any right or interest, or otherwise be
involved in any business which may be in competition with
the business of the Group during the period that the Deed of
Non-Competition remains effective.

The Company has received the annual confirmation
of the Covenantors in respect of their compliance with the
non-competition undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The independent non-executive Directors also reviewed the
Covenantors’ compliance with the non-competition undertakings.
The independent non-executive Directors confirmed that
the Covenantors were not in breach of the non-competition
undertakings during 31 December 2022.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities for the
year ended 31 December 2022.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association of the Company or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a
pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares. If
the shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or exercising of any
rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised to consult their
professional advisers.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions of the Group made during the
year ended 31 December 2022 were disclosed in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 9 December 2021, Sichuen Huanlong entered into a
master supply agreement (the “Huanlong New Material Master
Supply Agreement”) with Sichuan Huanlong New Material Ltd.
(1)I3R B #F# EH B R AR]) (“Huanlong New Material”), pursuant
to which, Sichuan Huanlong agreed to sell papermaking felts
to Huanlong New Material on a non-exclusive basis for a term
commencing from the Listing Date and ending on 31 December
2023.

On 9 December 2021, Sichuen Huanlong entered into a
master supply agreement (the “Huanlong New Material Master
Supply Agreement” together with the Huanlong New Material
Master Supply Agreement, the “Master Supply Agreements”)
with Sichuan Huanlong Daily Products Ltd.* (P9)I|3& 8 4 )& A @
AR A7) (“Huanlong Daily Products”), pursuant to which,
Sichuan Huanlong agreed to sell papermaking felts to Huanlong
Daily Products on a non-exclusive basis for a term commencing
from the Listing Date and ending on 31 December 2023.
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The papermaking felts to be supplied by the Group under the
Master Supply Agreements are mainly used by Huanlong New
Material and Huanlong Daily Products in their manufacturing
process as a raw material for the production of various paper
related products. Since supply of papermaking felts is in
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, the
transactions under the Master Supply Agreements will provide a
steady income of the Group.

Huanlong Daily Products is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Huanlong New Material. Huanlong New Material is held as to
approximately 33.44% by Huanlong Industrial Group Co., Ltd* &
BETEE£EAR AR (which is in turn owned as to approximately
75% by Ms. Shen Genlian and 25% by Mr. Zhou Jun),
approximately 14.26% by New Stream Investment Limited (which
is an independent third party), approximately 12.25% by Beijing
Sequoia Mingde Equity Investment Center (Limited Partnership)*
(R EERERESR L (BRAE ), an independent
third party, approximately 3.48% by Ms. Shen Genlian and
the remaining interest of approximately 36.57% by 15 other
independent third parties, respectively. Hence Huanlong New
Material and Huanlong Daily Products are therefore associates
of Ms. Shen Genlian and Mr. Zhou Jun, and connected persons
of the Company. The transactions contemplated under the Maser
Supply Agreements shall be aggregated and treated as if they
are one transaction under Rule 14A.81 of the Listing Rules, and
the aggregate sales shall be used for calculating the applicable
percentage ratios.

As at the date of entering into the Master Supply Agreements,
based on the historical sales amounts and expected demand
from Huanlong New Materials and Huanlong Daily Products, the
estimated aggregate sales under the Master Supply Agreements
for each of the three years ending 31 December 2023 would be
less than HK$3.0 million per year. Since all applicable percentage
ratios in respect of the transactions contemplated under the
Master Supply Agreements were below 5% and the aggregated
sales therein were less than HK$3,000,000 per year, the
transactions contemplated under the Master Supply Agreements
constituted de minimis continuing connected transactions under
Rule 14A.76(1)(c) of the Listing Rules, and were exempt from
reporting, annual review, announcement and the Company’s
independent shareholders’ approval requirements at the time
being. No annual cap was therefore set for the transactions
contemplated under the Master Supply Agreements.
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Due to the increasing demand of the papermaking felts by
Huanlong New Material after the expansion of its production site
and the commencement of operation of its new papermaking
machines in 2022, Huanlong New Material and Huanlong Daily
Products increased its purchase of papermaking felts from the
Group and exceeded the de minimis threshold unintentionally and
amounted to approximately HK$4.5 million. Due to an inadvertent
oversight by the Company that it was not alerted when the
aggregate sales under the Master Supply Agreements exceeded
HK$3.0 million in 2022. On 6 April 2023, A new annual cap of the
Master Supply Agreements of not more than HK$6.0 million (the
“New Annual Cap”) was set for the year ending 31 December
2023.

As the highest applicable Percentage Ratio for the New
Annual Cap is less than 25% and the New Annual Cap is less
than HK$10,000,000, the aggregate sales under the Master
Supply Agreements is subject to the reporting, announcement and
annual review requirements, but exempted from the circular and
the Company’s independent shareholders’ approval under Rule
14A.76(2)(b) of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Group’s continuing connected transactions and have confirmed
that these continuing connected transactions were entered into
(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, (ii)
on normal commercial terms or better, and (iii) in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

In respect of the aggregated sales under the Master Supply
Agreements exceeding the de minimis threshold, the Company
has made an announcement on 6 April 2023. Save as disclosed
above, the Company has complied with the relevant requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules from time to time in
respect of the continuing connected transactions of the Group
disclosed above.
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The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
(Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued
a letter containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions of the Group as disclosed
above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. Save
for the qualified conclusion in respect of the exceeding of the
de minimis threshold, the auditor has confirmed that nothing
has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
disclosed continuing connected transactions:

(i) have not been approved by the Company’s Board of
Directors;

(ii)  were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group; and

(iii)  were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions.

A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to the Stock Exchange.

In order to avoid the reoccurrence of incident, the Company
has adopted various monitoring measures. For details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 6 April 2023.

*

for identification purposes only.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” above, there was no transactions, arrangements
and contracts of significance, to which the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

CONTRACTS BETWEEN THE COMPANY AND
ITS CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as the sections headed “Related Party Transactions”
and “Continuing Connected Transactions” above and note 34
to the consolidated financial statements, there is no contract
of significance whether for provision of service or otherwise,
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
Controlling Shareholders or any of the Controlling Shareholders’
subsidiaries at any time during the year under review.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, the aggregate sales attributable to
the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately
15.6% of the Group’s total sales for the year and the sales to the
largest customer included therein amounted to approximately
6.7%. The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 78.6% of the
Group’s total purchases for the year and the largest supplier
included therein amounted to approximately 49.3%.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder
which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, owned more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital had any interest in
the share capital of any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or
customers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company
has maintained a sufficient public float as required under the
Listing Rules as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of
this annual report.
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REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Yunchen,
Mr. Zhang Shenjin and Mr. Ip Wang Hoi. This 2022 annual report
has been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

AUDITORS

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited, the auditors of the
Company, will retire at the conclusion of the forthcoming
AGM of the Company and be eligible to offer themselves for
re-appointment. A resolution will be submitted to the AGM to be
held on 29 June 2023 to seek the shareholders’ approval on the
reappointment of Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited as auditors
of the Company until the conclusion of the next AGM and to
authorise the Board to fix their remuneration.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Company will hold the AGM on Thursday, 29 June 2023.
A notice convening the AGM will be published and despatched to
shareholders in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the eligibility to attend and vote at
the 2023 AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Monday, 26 June 2023 to Thursday, 29 June 2023 (both
days inclusive) for the purpose of determining the entitlement
of attending and voting at the AGM to be held on Thursday, 29
June 2023. The record date will be Thursday, 29 June 2023. In
order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, all transfers
accompanied by the relevant share certificate must be lodged
with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F.,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 23 June 2023.
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Entitlement to the proposed final dividend

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Wednesday, 5 July 2023 to Friday, 7 July 2023 (both days
inclusive) for the purpose of determining the entitlement of
receiving the final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022.
The record date will be Friday, 7 July 2023. In order to qualify
for receiving the final dividend, all transfers accompanied by the
relevant share certificate must be lodged with the Company’s
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F., Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Tuesday, 4 July 2023.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No significant events of the Group occurred after 31
December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report.

On behalf of the Board

Shen Genlian
Chairperson

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

GrantThornton
# [3]

To the members of Vanov Holdings Company Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Vanov
Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 74 to 161, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 3 2 B R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS BAREXEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional MEEZEENDESREBEZEZFHE  RRYAHHE
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the REMBRRNEEZRAEANEIR HFEREZ
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These BEREEUBRERLRLAEANREEZEER - &
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the ETreHZSETHEREANER -

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Revenue recognition for sales of papermaking felts

HEEREENRERR

Refer to Notes 2.16 and 4 to the consolidated financial statements

FLBGEEBERLN E2.1684 »

Key Audit Matter
HREREE

Revenue principally comprises revenue from the design,
manufacture and sales of papermaking felts.
WRTZaER; HERHEERERAEKRE -

Sales of papermaking felts are recognised when control of
the goods has been transferred to the customers, being at
the point in time when the goods are delivered.
EREHNHEENEmNEFIRERERER (AXNEmE)
FOAMERR ©

We identified the recognition of revenue as a key audit
matter because of its significance to the Group and revenue
is one of the key performance indicators of the Group,
therefore it is a significant audit risk area.
KEHRAECEEERERBREZEFE AREHE 85
EEEAN BWx ESENBREBEEZ— Btk
REEANEZRARGE -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENERNNEEREEXRSEE

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue
included:

EEFMRERANESLERF B

* obtaining an understanding of the processes and internal
control in relation to recognition of revenue from sales of
papermaking felts;

s THRHEEREBRRBARENBIERAIEE:

* assessing the appropriateness of judgment made by
management on revenue recognition on the sales of
papermaking felts by reviewing the sales contracts, on a
sample basis, with reference to HKFRS 15;

s LBEBUBREERNBISFHMEEFHEESH - UFTH
EEERREHEERERRERAMEFEHNABR R RE

» testing the revenue recognised from sales of papermaking
felts, on a sample basis, against sales contracts or orders,
and customer acknowledgement of delivery to evaluate
whether the control of the papermaking felts has passed
to the customers;

s WMEHRHEESHNTENETNRNE M (BIETHE
MEBNEFEREAEBRESR) WAAHESERER
FfT e 5 B0 ML 2

+ performing analysis of revenue, gross profit trend and
their fluctuation; and

- AfTlE EMNBEREKE R

* assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosure with
respect to revenue recognised.

- B ESERUEHRAFLOREITREN -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

B 5 EWRENRET G

B M % B R

AEEaEEGE)

Refer to Notes 2.9, 18 and 36.5 to the consolidated financial statements

ERHEEERENF2.9  18%36.5 -

Key Audit Matter
BREEXKSEE

The Group’s net trade receivables amounting to
approximately RMB151,342,000 has been net off with
lifetime expected credit losses (“ECL") on trade receivables
amounted to approximately RMB4,312,000 as at

31 December 2022.

M2022%12A31H - ESENEZEZREFBEFEIRAR
#151,342,0007C - BEH KR EZEU R BN 2 HEAHEE
BRE(EHEEEBR] HAKRK4312,0007T °

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables
as a key audit matter due to the significance of trade
receivables to the Group’s consolidated financial position
and the involvement of subjective judgement and
management estimates in evaluating ECL of the Group’s
trade receivables at the end of the reporting period.
BHORKFENRENGERESREAFEREREE
RARESEKFESE SEENGEVBRAABEEKR ML
At EEERBERRANEZIRURRBERACEFER
% I E IR B ) 3 8 A T R gk AT e

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENBERNNEERRERSE

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment assessment of
trade receivables included:

EEHEESIRERARENGENEZREFEE:

* obtaining an understanding of management’s processes
and internal control regarding the collection and the
assessment of the recoverability of trade receivables;

e THMEREEWLEZREYKIENBE R AIMEEZE - AR
B 5 FE WK IA AT & [ Yo 4 B T A

« testing the accuracy of the trade receivables ageing
analysis, on a sample basis, by checking to the source
documents;

s BERRXMHA  UHEAAZEZRRFTENERRINTES
AR

* evaluating the management’s assessment on the ECL
of trade receivables, including their identification of
credit-impaired receivables and the reasonableness of
management’s grouping of the remaining trade receivables
into different categories in the provision matrix, and the
basis of estimated loss rates applied in each category
in the provision matrix, with reference to the historical
payment records, public available information and credit
history of the Group’s customers and the correspondence
with customers; and

- Z2RBANKREE  ARAIGERNUER ESEETNE
B LERBA UTREEERE S EKFIARA S
EEBEHRELNAS  BEBREEERENRERIE &
BERESAEMWERBEERANTRENATGBKONES
EWHIESHE  UWRBEHEEREANSHEIREREENM
AAEBEE R

» Evaluating the disclosures regarding the impairment
assessment of trade receivables to the consolidated
financial statements.

- TEEAVBBRAEEZIRUKBEREFEELORE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
18 3 2 B R

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the 2022 annual
report of the Company, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagements and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

* identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

» obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

» evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

* conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

» evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

» obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, action taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B M % B R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE RBMRERGEMBEBRREARENETR
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL (%&)
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we HEZLZECEBNSHEEY TSR EWLESEE
determine those matters that were of most significance in the HRAGEMBRENEREREN  BHRSE
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current REE BRIFZBERBLIAABEZEEFIE X
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these FRBRELHNBALT  EERBETEMREANE
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes MEEHEKCEEHANAEAERRBAEMATIR
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare ARz BAESSERZEMBER M ZE
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be £I15 o

communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited BE(ERB)EBHMEEMERAR
Certified Public Accountants HEEEED

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two BB

28 Yun Ping Road o 7 /&

Causeway Bay BB 2855

Hong Kong A E = H#i114&

30 March 2023 202343 H30H

Lau Kwong Kei 2EE

Practising Certificate No.: P07578 HEFEERT  PO7578
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEEBEREMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, 220226123318 L FE

2022 2021
202245 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
b &7 AR T AR T T
Revenue W 3= 4 217,756 213,668
Cost of sales Fi kI (100,939) (100,046)
Gross profit E A 116,817 113,622
Other income H I A 5 20,102 5,509
Fair value loss on financial assets at ZAFEFABZNEREED
fair value through profit or loss ATEEERE 19 (1) —
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAS (21,595) (19,855)
Administrative and other operating THREEMEERS
expenses (40,345) (31,587)
Finance costs 81 75 B A 6 (10,536) (8,229)
Profit before income tax B AT 15 i A0 & A 7 64,442 59,460
Income tax expense Fr 8 B X 8 (11,442) (8,770)
Profit and total comprehensive FRARAREZEKZLE
income for the year 53,000 50,690
Profit and total comprehensive UTEFEMREFRZE K=
income attributable to: BmE:
Equity holders of the Company AAmERFEA 52,437 50,136
Non-controlling interests FEE AR A2 563 554
53,000 50,690
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB cents RMB cents
AR¥ S ARE S
Earnings per share attributable EARERBFRA
to equity holders of the EEER 2R
Company
Basic and diluted EYNNE P 10 10.93 13.71
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
RE FHIR L R

As at 31 December 2022 72022412 A31H

2022 2021
202245 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 7 AR T ARBT T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment N 12 176,718 92,360
Investment property "EME 13 40,296 40,952
Land lease prepayment T E B FRIA 15 5,180 5,518
Intangible assets B EE 16 69,019 61,341
Prepayment of acquisition for property, B % « ME &R E &
plant and equipment and intangible EmILEEMEMNKIE
assets 88,137 35,784
Deposit ®& 2,100 2,100
Deferred tax assets B IBEE 27 760 720
382,210 238,775
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 17 17,333 11,903
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H it fE W I8 18 181,543 153,477
Financial assets at fair value through X A FEFABZN SR EE
profit or loss 19 984 —
Cash and cash equivalent RekBREEEBEY 20 85,618 12,609
285,478 177,989
Current liabilities mEEE
Contract liabilities aHEE 21 486 512
Trade and other payables B 5 & H it g A 22 48,534 58,793
Lease liabilities HEBRE 23 3,460 1,338
Amount due to a related party JE 1) B8 B 5 SR IE 34(c) — 20
Discounted bills financing BRI EREmE 24 —_ 3,821
Bank borrowings FRITE N 25 57,500 105,000
Other borrowings H & R 26 24,381 8,326
Income tax payable e ET 15 14,557 7,483
148,918 185,293
Net current assets/(liabilities) REBEE(BRE)FE 136,560 (7,304)
Total assets less current liabilities B EERABEE 518,770 231,471
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e PR R

As at 31 December 2022 742022512 A31H

2022 2021
202245 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 7 AR T AR T T
Non-current liabilities FEREEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 23 6,673 —
Other borrowings H A 183 26 29,122 14,208
Bank borrowings IRITER 25 104,500 =
Deferred tax liabilities REFIEEE 27 5,121 2,281
145,416 16,489
Net assets EERE 373,354 214,982
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRREE
Share capital % A< 28 3,949 1
Reserves 1 29 366,409 212,548
Equity attributable to equity holders of 72 & # 25 #5 A A fE (5 # 25
the Company 370,358 212,549
Non-controlling interests EEiig 2,996 2,433
Total equity 4R 2 373,354 214,982
The notes on pages 80 to 161 are an integral part of these F80E161E FTE A M X B A L £ B 75 3k R &Y
consolidated financial statements. — & o
The consolidated financial statements on pages 74 to 161 were FTAE161E K 4R & B 15 W &k 120234 3H30H K &
approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2023 and were EefE WTHUATATRAEZERSE -

signed on its behalf.

Shen Genlian Xie Zongguo
AR E = &
Director Director

EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEREBR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & 220226127318 L FE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

AAARERAARLE
Non-
Share Share Capital Statutory Retained controlling
capital premium* reserve® reserve® profits* Subtotal interests Total
Bx RHEE ERGE EERE" REEH" Mt FBERER &3t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTR  ARRTR  ARBTR  ARETz  ARETR  AREfR  ARETR
(Note 29) (Note 29) (Note 29)
(H#29) (H#29) (H#29)

As at 1 January 2021 R2021E1 818 1 - 43,84 28,903 89,668 162,413 1,879 164,292
Profit and total comprehensive ~ EREFIR2@NE

income for the year 8% - — = — 50,136 50,136 554 50,690
Transfer E# - - - 4,409 (4,409) = = =

As at 31 December 2021 and ~ R2021E12B31A K

1 January 2022 2022511 1 — 43,841 33,312 135,395 212,549 2433 214,982
Profit and total comprehensive ~ EMEFIR2 AU S

income for the year 2% - - - - 52,437 52,437 563 53,000
Transfer 25 - - = 11,358 (11,358) = = =
Capitalisation Issue (Note 28(a) ~ EA/p 3%

(H228(2) 2,990 (2,990) = = = = = =

Issue of new shares on RN2EIANAET

1 January 2022 (Note 288 ERIA (i 28pt) 930 12,547 - - - 13,477 - 13477
Issue of new shares on R202252R8A %17

8 February 2022 (Note 28(c)) R0 228(0) 28 3,401 — — — 3,429 = 3,429
Transaction costs attributableto %7731

issue of new shares EERAKA — (11,534) = = = (11,534) = (11,534)
As at 31 December 2022 R2022512A31A 3,949 101,424 43,841 44 670 176,474 370,358 2,996 373,354
* The reserves accounts comprise the Group’s reserves of * REREEEEAMBMRARANAEERZEARE

RMB$366,409,000 (2021: RMB$212,548,000) in the consolidated 366,409,000t (20214 : A R#212,548,0007T) °

statement of financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, 220226123318 L FE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
Operating activities RETEE
Profit before income tax & FT 15 %4 AT 4 7 64,442 59,460
Adjustments for: TS HEEL AR :
Amortisation of intangible assets EE = 3,225 2,075
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEIRZENE
equipment 9,848 9,724
Depreciation of investment property KEYMENE 2,004 164
Depreciation of land lease THHAERNREBERTE
prepayment 338 338
Loss on disposal of property, plant LEME BMELLZBEEE
and equipment 82 610
Reversal of provisions for inventories 17 & # & # [0 (377) (475)
Reversal of provision of legal claim EEBRRBEEE — (358)
Provision of/(Reversal of) allowance & 5 JE W3k 1B & fE I Z 1%
on trade and bills receivables, net B (Bm)F5E 823 2)
Provision for warranty REBE 4,579 4,115
Interest income A B WA (997) (151)
Fair value loss on financial assets at AT EFABZHNESHREE
fair value through profit or loss NEEEE 1 —
Unrealised exchange gain, net BIRIE H s (6,138) —
Finance costs 817 AR 10,536 8,229
Operating cash flows before working &E & &2 FAH
capital changes KER SR = 88,366 83,729
Increase in inventories FEE M (5,053) (1,394)
Increase in trade and other receivables & 5 K H fib fig Ug 5% 78 12 /0 (28,889) (11,700)
Decrease in amounts due from JRE Lt 88 Bk 5 R TERL 2
related parties — 205
Increase in trade and other payables & 5 & E fth f& {5 3¢ 18 15 0 4,786 13,881
Decrease in contract liabilities SR ON=RE (26) (227)
Decrease in amount due to JE 1) B8 Bt 75 SR IE R
a related party (20) (7)
Cash generated from operations BEMER® 59,164 84,487
Income tax paid BN ATER (1,568) (6,040)
Net cash generated from RETHMERSFHE
operating activities 57,596 78,447
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

ma

BERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & 220226127318 L FE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 7 AR TR AR T T
Investing activities REEH
Acquisition of property, plant and W - KB &K
equipment (84,009) (57,508)
Acquisition of intangible assets WEEEEE (10,903) (12,308)
Additions of subsequent expenditures % & ¥ % 0y H 1% 37 ) #9182 40
on investment property (1,348) —
Interest received 2 A 997 151
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWME  BEMZBEHME
plant and equipment 339 150
Decrease in restricted bank deposit PR 88 17 17 OB 4 — 1,000
Purchase of financial assets at fair BERATEFAEMEE K
value through profit or loss ZEMEE (985) —
Net cash used in investing activities KETBHHE 2 FEE (95,909) (68,515)
Financing activities MEEH
Proceeds of bank borrowings RITERATSRIE 162,300 105,000
Repayment of bank borrowings EEBRITERK (105,300) (115,000)
Repayment of other borrowings EEEMmER (18,367) (4,415)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAE (4,840) (1,545)
Interest paid B AT F B (10,536) (8,229)
Listing expenses paid B EmAX (19,624) (6,730)
(Decrease)/Increase in BRI EERE O D)
discounted bills financing (3,821) 3,821
Proceeds from issue of new shares BITH DT 116,906 =
Transaction costs attributable to issue 217 ¥7 J% Tﬁ}31ﬁx%ﬁk$
of new shares (11,534) —
Net cash from/(used in) financing BETEER(FTH)H L FE
activities 105,184 (27,098)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash HeRBSEEYWEM CRD)
and cash equivalents b 66,871 (17,166)
Cash and cash equivalents at FVHReRREEE
beginning of year 12,609 29,775
Effect of foreign exchange rate fERSa g &
changes 6,138 —
Cash and cash equivalents atend EFXRBELFKEESEEY
of year 20 85,618 12,609

Annual Report 2022 3§ 79



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

1.1 General information

Vanov Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 5 November 2018
as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act, Cap.22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of its
registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and
its headquarter is situated at No.519, Section 2, Xinhua
Avenue, Chengdu Strait Science and Technology Industry
Development Park, Wenjiang District, Chengdu, Sichuan
Province, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Company is an investment holding company and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the design,
manufacture and sales of papermaking felts.

The Company’s immediate holding company is Perfect
Angle Limited (“Perfect Angle”), a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”). The Company’s
ultimate controlling parties are Ms. Shen Genlian (“Ms.
Shen”) and Mr. Zhou Jun (“Mr. Zhou”), the Spouse of Ms.
Shen (together, the “Controlling Shareholders”).

The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 11 January 2022.

These consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022 were approved for issue by the
board of directors (the “Board”) on 30 March 2023.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) which collective term
includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong. The consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and include the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. EXEHBEBRECE)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEE ()

The significant accounting policies that have been
used in the preparation of this consolidated financial
statements are summarised below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented
unless otherwise stated. The adoption of new or amended
HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group’s financial
statements, if any, are disclosed in Note 2.2.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial assets which are stated at fair values.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in preparation of the consolidated
financial statements. Although these estimates are
based on management’s best knowledge and judgment
of current events and actions, actual results may
ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first
time the following amended HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA, which are relevant to the Group’s operations
and effective for the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the annual period beginning on 1 January
2022:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements
to HKFRS Standards
2018-2020

Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for

(Revised) Common Control

Combination

The adoption of the amended HKFRSs had no material
impact on how the results and financial position for
the current and prior periods have been prepared and
presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Adoption of new and amended HKFRSs

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated
financial statements, certain new and amended HKFRSs
have been published but are not yet effective, and have
not been adopted early by the Group.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and
related amendments'’
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets

HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current and
related amendments

to Hong Kong
Interpretation 52

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies’

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates’
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to

Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction’

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024

9 Effective date not yet determined
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. EXEHBEHREE)

2.2 Adoption of new and amended HKFRSs 22 AHATRNRBITE BN BREER

(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
(Continued)

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements
will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for the
first period beginning on or after the effective date of
the pronouncement. Information on new and amended
HKFRSs that are expected to have impact on the Group’s
accounting policies is provided below. Other new and
amended HKFRSs are not expected to have a material
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

2.3 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and all its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power over the entity, only
substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the Group
and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a
subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements from
the date it gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
and losses on transactions between group companies
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Where unrealised losses on intra-group
asset sales are reversed on consolidation, the underlying
asset is also tested for impairment from the Group’s
perspective. Amounts reported in the financial statements
of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to
ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted
by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity on a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value
or at their proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within equity,
separately from the equity attributable to the owners of
the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the owners of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is
recognised.

In the Company’s statements of financial position,
subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment
loss unless the subsidiary is held for sale or included
in a disposal group. Cost is adjusted to reflect changes
in consideration arising from contingent consideration
amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable costs
of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable at the end of the reporting period. All
dividends whether received out of the investee’s pre or
post-acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’s
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. EXEHBEHREE)

2.4 Foreign currency translation 245 B E

The consolidated financial statements is presented
in RMB, which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

In the individual financial statements of the combined
entities, foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency of the individual entity
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the reporting date, monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the reporting
date retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are
recognised in the profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated (i.e. only translated using the exchange
rate at the transaction date). When a fair value gain or
loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or
loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
also recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value gain
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income.

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual
financial statements of foreign operations, originally
presented in a currency different from the Group’s
presentation currency, have been converted into RMB.
Assets and liabilities have been translated into RMB
at the closing rates at the reporting date. Income and
expenses have been converted into the RMB at the
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at
the average rates over the reporting period provided
that the exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly.
Any differences arising from this procedure have
been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in the translation reserve in
equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. EXEHBEHREE)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment 259 % -BERRHE

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction-
in-progress as described below and cost of right-of-use
assets as described in Note 2.13) are initially recognised
at acquisition cost (including any cost directly attributable
to bringing the assets to the location and condition
necessary for them to capable of operating in the manner
intended by the Group’s management), and subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production
or for its own use purposes. Construction in progress
is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss.
Costs include professional fees. Construction in progress
is classified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for intended
use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as
other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is provided
to write off the cost less their residual values, if any,
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method, at the following rates per annum:

Building 20 years or shorter of
the lease term

Leasehold improvements 5 years or shorter of
the lease term

Plant and machinery 5-12 years

Furniture and fixtures 3-5 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

Accounting policy for depreciation of right-of-use assets
is set out in Note 2.13.

The assets’ residual values, depreciation methods and
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
each reporting date.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in
the profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. EXEHBEHREE)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 25Y¥ BERRZE(E)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other costs, such as repairs and maintenance, are
charged to the profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

2.6 Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest (see Note 2.13)
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation.
These include land held for a currently undetermined
future use and property that is being constructed or
developed for future use as investment property.

Such properties are measured initially at cost.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Depreciation is
calculated on the straight-line basis over the expected
useful life and after taking into account of their estimated
residual value. The principal expected useful life for this
purpose are as follows:

Building 20 years

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in the year of the retirement or disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

and research and development activities

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Acquired intangible assets are recognised initially at cost.
After initial recognition, intangible assets with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation
for intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided
on straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
Amortisation commences when the intangible assets are
available for use. The following useful lives are applied:

Trademark 10 years

Computer software 5 years

Capitalised development 10 years
costs

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (i.e.
trademarks) are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

The assets’ amortisation methods and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting
date.

Intangible assets, with finite and indefinite useful lives,
are tested for impairment as described below in Note
2.19.

Research and development costs

Costs associated with research activities are expensed
in profit or loss as they occur. Costs that are directly
attributable to development activities are recognised
as intangible assets provided they meet the following
recognition requirements:

— demonstration of technical feasibility of the
prospective product for internal use or sale;

— there is intention to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. EXEHBEHREE)

2.7 Intangible assets (other than goodwill) QTEFEE(TERBEBIRWRED(E)

and research and development activities
(Continued)

Research and development costs (Continued)

— the Group’s ability to use or sell the intangible asset
is demonstrated;

— the intangible asset will generate probable economic
benefits through internal use or sale;

— sufficient technical, financial and other resources are
available for completion; and

— the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset
can be reliably measured.

Direct costs include employee costs incurred on
development activities along with an appropriate portion
of relevant overheads. The costs of development of
internally generated software, products or knowhow
that meet the above recognition criteria are recognised
as intangible assets. They are subject to the same
subsequent measurement method as acquired intangible
assets.

All other development costs are expensed as incurred.

2.8 Financial instruments

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire,
or when the financial asset and substantially all of its
risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability
is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged,
cancelled or expires.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of financial
assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component and are measured at
the transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15, all
financial assets are initially measured at fair value, in
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL"), plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.

Financial assets are classified into the following
categories:

— amortised cost;

— FVTPL; or

— fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”).

The classification is determined by both the entity’s
business model for managing the financial asset; and
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial
asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets
that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within
finance costs, or other income, except for expected
credit losses (“ECL”) of trade and bills receivables which
is presented within administrative and other operating
expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAXEHEBEGE)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued) 282mMIA(E)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if
the assets meet the following conditions (and are not
designated as FVTPL):

— they are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its
contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in other income
in profit or loss. Discounting is omitted where the effect
of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s trade and other
receivables, amounts due from related parties and cash
and cash equivalent fall into this category of financial
instruments.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that are held within a different business
model other than “hold to collect” or “hold to collect and
sell' are categorised at FVTPL. Further, irrespective of
business model, financial assets whose contractual cash
flows are not solely payments of principal and interest
are accounted for at FVTPL. All derivative financial
instruments fall into this category, except for those
designated and effective as hedging instruments, for
which the hedge accounting requirements under HKFRS

9 apply.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include bank borrowings,
other borrowing, lease liabilities, trade and other
payables, amount due to a related party and discounted
bills financing.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially
measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted
for transaction costs.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease
liabilities) are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

All interest-related charges are included within finance
costs.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in Note
2.13.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. EXEHBEHREE)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued) 28R IA(E)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

2.9 Impairment of financial assets

HKFRS 9’s impairment requirements use forward-
looking information to recognise ECL — the “ECL model”.
Instruments within the scope included loans and other
debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost
and trade receivables recognised and measured under
HKFRS 15.

The Group considers a broader range of information when
assessing credit risk and measuring ECL, including past
events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable
forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the
future cash flows of the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is
made between:

— financial instruments that have not deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition
or that have low credit risk (“Stage 1”) and

— financial instruments that have deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition
and whose credit risk is not low (“Stage 2”).

“Stage 3” would cover financial assets that have objective
evidence of impairment at the reporting date.

“12-month ECL” are recognised for the Stage 1 category
while “lifetime ECL’ are recognised for the Stage 2
category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-
weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life
of the financial instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified
approach in calculating ECL and recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date.
These are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash
flows, considering the potential for default at any point
during the life of the financial assets. In calculating the
ECL, the Group has established a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings and/or individually assessed for
debtors with significant balances, that is based on its
historical credit loss experience and external indicators,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and
the days past due.

Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other
receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increase in the likelihood of risk of
default occurring since initial recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial assets at
the reporting date with the risk of default occurring on
the financial assets at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. EXEHBEHREE)

2.9 Impairment of financial assets (Continued) 29EREERME(E)

Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in regulatory,
business, financial, economic conditions or
technology environment that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations; and

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the end of each
reporting period. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if it has a low risk of default, the borrower
has strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost (Continued)

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when (i) information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral
held by the Group); (ii) the financial asset is 90 days past
due.

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade
receivables and other financial assets measured at
amortised cost are set out in Note 36.5.

210 Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost, which comprises all cost of
purchase and, where applicable, other costs that have
been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition, and is determined by using the
weighted average method. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated cost of completion and applicable
selling expenses.

211 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in
hand, demand deposits with banks and short term highly
liquid investments with original maturities of three months
or less that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAXEHEBEGE)

POLICIES (Continued)

212 Contract liabilities 22 EHMERE

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see Note 2.16). A contract liability would also
be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right
to receive consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised (see Note 2.8).

213 Lease

Definition of a lease

At inception of a contract, the Group considers whether
a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as
‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right
to use an identified asset (the underlying asset) for a
period of time in exchange for consideration’. To apply
this definition, the Group assesses whether the contract
meets three key evaluations which are whether:

— the contracts contains an identified asset, which is
either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly
specified by being identified at the time the asset is
made available to the Group;

— the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from use of the identified asset
throughout the period of use, considering its rights
within the defined scope of the contract; and

— the Group has the right to direct the use of the
identified asset throughout the period of use. The
Group assess whether it has the right to direct ‘how
and for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout
the period of use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

213 Lease (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a
lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the consolidated
statement of financial position. The right-of-use asset
is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial
measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct
costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the end
of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance
of the lease commencement date (net of any lease
incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use asset on a
straight-line basis from the lease commencement date
to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-
use assets or the end of the lease term unless the Group
is reasonably certain to obtain ownership at the end of
the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use
asset for impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the
lease liability at the present value of the lease payments
unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable payments based on an index or rate,
and amounts expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be
reduced for lease payments made and increased for
interest cost on the lease liability. It is remeasured to
reflect any reassessment or lease modification, or if there
are changes in in-substance fixed payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. EXEHBEHREE)

213 Lease (Continued) 23FE (&)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a
lessee (Continued)

For lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of modification. The
only exception is any rent concessions which arose
as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and which satisfied the conditions set out in paragraph
46B of HKFRS 16 “Leases”. In such cases, the Group
took advantage of the practical expedient set out in
paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 and recognised the change
in consideration as if it were not a lease modification.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit
and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to
Zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases
using the practical expedients. Instead of recognising
a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in
relation to these leases are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12
month or less.

Right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of
investment property have been included in property,
plant and equipment. The prepaid lease payments for
leasehold land are presented as “land lease prepayment”
under non-current assets.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXSHBERBEE)
POLICIES (Continued)

213 Lease (Continued) 23FE (&)
Measurement and recognition of leases as a ERHHEANGTERERHEE
lessor
As a lessor, the Group classifies its leases as either EAEEBRA AEESHEBESEAKE
operating or finance leases. HEXHMEMEE -

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers EHEEBREEAERE BRSO R K
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to SR RESRE - AZEESEARENRE
ownership of the underlying asset, and classified as an DAl AREEHE -

operating lease if it does not.

The Group also earns rental income from operating AEBEBBEREWENHRKLLEHE HKRNAE
leases of its investment properties. Rental income is WA W ARBEBALNEFE T AR
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the R o
lease.
For a transfer that does not satisfy requirements as a M E BB MRS LR FE155 81 E MR
sale in accordance with HKFRS 15, the transaction is ENEBEMNS RXHZBEEREBUBTRE
in substance a financing arrangement under HKFRS 9. ZEBFRETHRMEZE - At - KK HE
Therefore, the Group as a seller-lessee accounts for the EREF—FMBAMBBMOMAERERE
proceeds received as “other borrowings” within the scope BB REER BT H B o
of HKFRS 9.

214 Provisions and contingent liabilities UBERIREE
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present A EBEABEEEMAERREEEOCEE
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past ) METZEARAUKETEBLHE
event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic Flammit Bt barEa@ELED
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a SR AEREE WeHEANHEEBEESE
reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can A BIBENDERBAHEBETEEMER X
be made. Where the time value of money is material, BEG K -

provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and FERBIREREAHEX L IEEAERE
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. AR BB RIS A o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. EXEHBEHREE)

214 Provisions and contingent liabilities ABRERIAREBE(E)

(Continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future uncertain events
not wholly within the control of the Group, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

215Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital
is recognised at the amount of consideration of shares
issued, after deducting any transaction costs associated
with the issuing of shares (net of any related income tax
benefit) to the extent they are incremental costs directly
attributable to the equity transaction.

216 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised
goods and services to customers in an amount that
reflect the consideration to which the Group expects to
be entitled in exchange for those goods and services.
Specially, the Group uses a 5-step approach for revenue
recognition.

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the

performance obligations in the contract

Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation

HAENERENAEESIKN HEEE
ARG ZAEEDRERIAEE K
FEAZ P A 257 B AT B IE AR BRI SRR e
BRIF B A SR AT B R E - BRI
FREAZFIFZ2HEAKEZEFEE
AR REHREELESAIRESSFHE
MEEEE TERERIXAEE-

215 R &

EERARDOBRRER - WMXBIKAREAR
RZEEKEENRERA  AIBRAKRE S
TERONRESBER  ERMKREET
P 7 48 B8 &9 {E {7 32 5 B 7 (410 B 4E {7 48 B8 P
EEA ) -

216 W 5 B R

WHEDERUARARAEFERD AHEm
MR HeBRWRASERAM®Z
FEMERBMARESHNRE - REME
REBERBSFEETRETER ©

E1H BRI EEFH A

g2 BRGNP BEOEE

E3X EEXHE

E45 RAENTHRBOAEMES B

R =

Annual Report 2022 £ 101



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. EXEHBEHREE)

216 Revenue recognition (Continued) 216 W= B RR (&)

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

Control of the goods or services may be transferred over
time or at a point in time. Control of the goods or services
is transferred over time if:

— the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the entity’s performance as
the Group performs;

— the Group’s performance creates and enhances an
asset that customer controls as the Group performs;
or

— the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress toward complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the goods or services.

Revenue from sales of papermaking felts products are
recognised at a point in time when the legal title of the
finished good is transferred and the Group has present
right to payment and the collection of the consideration
is probable. This is usually taken as the time when the
goods are delivered and the customer has accepted the
goods.

Sales-related warranties associated with papermaking
felts cannot be purchased separately and are served as
an assurance that the products sold comply with agreed-
upon specifications (i.e. assurance-type warranties).
Accordingly, the Group accounts for warranties in
accordance with HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAXEHEBEGE)

POLICIES (Continued)

216 Revenue recognition (Continued) 216 W= B RR (&)

Rental income from letting the Group’s investment
property is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis
using the effective interest rate method.

217 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions. Government grants are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary to
match them with the costs that the grants are intended to
compensate. Government grants relating to the purchase
of assets are deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of
reduced depreciation expense.

Government grants relating to income is presented in
gross under “Other income” in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

218 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

219 Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets), investment property, intangible assets, land
lease prepayment and investments in subsidiaries in the
Company’s statements of financial position are subject to
impairment testing. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives and that are not yet available for use are tested for
impairment at least annually, irrespective of whether there
is any indication that they are impaired. Others are tested
for impairment whenever there are indications that the
asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. EXEHBEHREE)

L9 FEREEREGE)

219 Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable
amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market
conditions less costs of disposal, and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of
time value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent
from those other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generate
cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
As a result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit
level.

Impairment loss is charged pro rata to the assets in the
cash generating unit, except that the carrying value of an
asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value
less cost of disposal, or value in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had
been recognised.

2.20 Employee benefits

Retirement benefits

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC,
the PRC based employees of the Group participate in
various defined contributions retirement benefit plans
organised by the relevant municipal and provincial
governments in the PRC under which the Group and the
PRC based employees are required to make monthly
contributions to these plans calculated as a percentage of
the employees’ salaries, subject to a certain ceiling.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. EXEHBEHREE)

2.20 Employee benefits (Continued) 220 EERA(E)

Retirement benefits (Continued)

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to
assure the retirement benefit obligations of all existing
and future retired PRC based employees payable under
the plans described above. Other than the monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation for the
payment of retirement and other post-retirement benefits
of its employees. The assets of these plans are held
separately from those of the Group in independently
administrated funds managed by the PRC government.

The contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expenses when they are due.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick
leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.

2.21 Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise
those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that
are unpaid at the reporting date. They are calculated
according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the
fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable
profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or
liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense
in the profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. EXEHBEHREE)

2.21 Accounting for income taxes (Continued) LANFBHREHERE(E)

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on
temporary differences at the reporting date between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and their respective tax
bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well as
other unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit, including existing taxable temporary
differences, will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax
credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from initial recognition of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
taxable nor accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period the liability
is settled or the asset realised, provided they are enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are
recognised in the profit or loss, or in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity if they relate to items that are
charged or credited to other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented
in net if, and only if,

(a) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
the recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities in net if, and only if,

(@)

(b)

the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

(i) the same taxable entity; or

(ii) different taxable entities which intend either to
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

2.22 Related parties

For the purposes of these consolidated financial
statements, a party is considered to be related to the

Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over of the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group.

e B |RMEE

2. EXEHBEHREE)

LAFEHRETREE)

ANEEEE A TIE R AR 2 5. 538
BEREEHRAE:

(@) ZEBRZEZERHHITEAAKE N
MREERZHHBRBENHE &

(b) EERBEELRELERBAEBEEHER
(A — ¢ 75 # B Bt LA T 4E fa] — 38 BT U EY
P ® :

() A—ERUER: X

(i) FFEIRERKLME (M ERES
AR 1A % 4 75 ol Wi 1) B O S 7Y
HEBEREE)NFRELELEE
HHAAEREERRKEREE
REBRENTRERTERE -

LRBEBS

RAGEMBHRERME - WTHIBERER -
A =77 #AR R BN S [ AR B A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group.

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party.

(iii

=

(iv

~

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or

an entity related to the Group.

(vi

=

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii)a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a company of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. EXEHBEHREE)

i

P

2.23 Segment reporting 2.23

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares AEEZRFLEEDE  WIREBEETHERT
segment information based on the regular internal FTELEARAREBE(ZELERKE]D A E
financial information reported to the chief operating EREARAEEBEBBONER D BEREH
decision maker (“CODM?”) for their decisions about ZEHSDXBOAITBERGR Y HE
resources allocation to the Group’s business components °

I

and for their review of the performance of those

components.
3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 3. RS RHE
JUDGMENTS

3.1 fEEF N AR & 89 RIR

3.1 Sources of estimation uncertainty

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:

Warranty provision

The Group provides warranty to certain customers. The
provision for warranty is estimated based on expected
warranty work to be performed for goods under the
warranty period and labor charges expected to be
incurred. As historical maintenance and service record
may not resemble the future maintenance and service
of the products sold, differences between the actual
amount and the estimated amount of this provision may
affect future profit or loss. The carrying amount of the
Group’s warranty provision at the end of each reporting
period is set out in Note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

AEEHRRELGEFRBRR - R EFHHE
ARAHERME BEEx BI2HEH
ERGERER - AR RARE BT EYK
FEMNEERAGBNREELRERRAE
A ET R BRERA WM T

RERE

AEBERETEFPRAERE - REBBD
REFRBEHARERETHERRETE
REFABELENSTERMG -BRBE
HEDRBELHEADEDEHERARR
HENMBRGHER  ZBENERS R ERM
AEENEZEEESEYERKRES - AK
BN RS R R E B R E (AR
BB WRM E22 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

3. ABgER AR HNE(E)

3.1 Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) 31 EEFTHBEZENRIR(E)

Estimation of impairment of trade and other
receivables

The Group follows the guidance of HKFRS 9 to determine
when a receivable is impaired. In making this estimation
and judgment, the Group evaluate, among other
factors, the ageing analysis of receivables, the financial
healthiness and collection history of the individual
debtors and expected future change of credit risks,
including the consideration of factors such as general
economy measure, existing market conditions and change
in macro-economic indicators, etc at the end of each
reporting period as set out in Note 36.5.

The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and other
receivables as at 31 December 2022 amounted to
approximately RMB181,894,000 (2021: RMB150,560,000)
and ECL allowance amounted to approximately
RMB4,312,000 (2021: RMB3,639,000). Details of the
trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 18 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment,
investment property and intangible assets

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation for
its property, plant and equipment, investment property
and intangible assets. The estimates are based on the
historical experience of the actual economic lives of
property, plant and equipment, investment property and
intangible assets of similar nature and functions. Actual
economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives.
Management will adjust the depreciation and amortisation
where the useful lives are estimated to be different from
the previous estimates. Periodic reviews could result in
a change in useful lives and therefore depreciation and
amortisation expense in future periods. The carrying
amounts of property, plant and equipment, investment
property and intangible assets at the end of each
reporting period is set out in Notes 12, 13 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

3. ABgER AR HNE(E)

3.1 Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) 31 EEFTHBEZENRIR(E)

Provision for inventories

The Group reviews the carrying amount of inventories
based on consideration of obsolescence of raw materials
and the net realisable value of finished goods. The
identification of inventory obsolescence and estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business require the
use of judgment and estimates. Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, such difference will
impact the carrying amount of inventories in the period
in which such estimate has been changed. During the
year ended 31 December 2022, reversal for inventories
of RMB377,000 (2021: reversal of RMB475,000) was
recognised. The carrying amount of inventories is set out
in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

3.2 Critical accounting judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following accounting
judgments:

Current income tax

The Group is subject to Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) in
the PRC. Significant judgment is required in determining
the provision for EIT. There are transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that we initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current income tax and deferred tax
provision in the period in which such determination is
made.

FERE

ANEBENYE RN K B MK R A 21
FEMNZE BEFENEEE - RAE
¥ BRTRETERREMGAEEAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 3. BRE AT RHE(E)

JUDGMENTS (Continued)

3.2 Critical accounting judgments (Continued) 32 EHHE (&)
Research and development activities %L B
Careful judgment by the Company’s management ARABIEEERAREREXNASETE E D
is applied when deciding whether the recognition BREXKKELEEHNE BAREME®
requirements for development costs have been met. FBEETINESLCER =M ARE KR E
This is necessary as the economic success of any REAEEZH N AREEMHEE - it B
product development is uncertain and may be subject MBZR FEHERSREARTESH
to future technical problems at the time of recognition. XEBREL - LN BARZETE DD
Judgments are based on the best information available at FERSESHANFEREREEE -

the end of each reporting period. In addition, all internal
activities related to the research and development of new
products or know how are continuously monitored by the
Company’s management.

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4. Kz RO HFE2R
4.1 Revenue 4.1 Uz
The Group was engaged in the design, manufacture and AEEREZERERNRT  HERHEE -
sales of papermaking felts. An analysis of the Group’s LTRAEEFARERE DB KR DT :

revenue by products during the year is as follows:

Recognised at a point in time: R—1EEFEEER:
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBT T
Packaging papermaking felts BRBEREH 151,700 147,437
Specialty papermaking felts FriE AR i AL E B 26,934 39,047
Printing papermaking felts EN 7l 25 4K £ 14,244 11,440
Household papermaking felts AR E R E R 12,591 10,955
Pulp papermaking felts FIREREH 12,287 4,789
217,756 213,668
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4. RERDBE®RE)
(Continued)

4.1 Revenue (Continued) 41 W= (48)

Remaining performance obligations

The following table includes revenue expected to
be recognised in the future related to performance
obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) is
as follows:

Within one year —FR

F 64 /B %) & £

TR BT E R RS R B B ET (R
5 IBT) BT #Y B AT A0 U 2% -

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARETTT
15,264 11,362

4.2 Segment information

Information reported to the CODM (i.e. the board of
directors) for the purpose of resources allocation and
performance assessment focuses on the operating
results of the Group as a whole as the Group’s resources
are integrated and no discrete financial information is
available.

No segment of assets and liabilities are presented as no
discrete financial information is available.

Geographical information

The following table sets out information on the
geographical locations of the Group’s revenue determined
based on geographical region of the customers.

425 MEHR

HRASEHNEREES  BEXEE @B
VYHBER  MAEBERIELRRFMEM
MEELERRENEZTS)BRENEHR
EPRASEBREBOKLEERE -

HRYEBYPBER  BTE2NEER
BEDE -

4

pil

1y B EF

TRIFINAKERBEFLEE TR EHN
IR E B o

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T ARETF T

The PRC Fha 203,125 204,010
Overseas 85N 14,631 9,658
217,756 213,668

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, all of the non-current
assets of the Group were located in the PRC.

M2022% % 2021F12 8310 - AL BEM A
FRBEEAURFHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4. RERDMBEWR(E)
(Continued)

4.2 Segment information (Continued) 425 BER (A
Information about major customers FHETEEFHAEHN
Since none of the Group’s sales to a single customer FR R SR 8RB 220226 K 20214612 431
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue H ﬁigﬂ%%_%ﬁ B 35 15 % 1‘5$%
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no 2 ”&ﬁw10%gztx{: L ERBEREY
information about major customers in accordance with 1% ¥ %\‘/EEI\IJ FeRIMENMIZIAHMER
HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” is presented. EENAR -
5. OTHER INCOME 5. HitH A
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBFIT
Bank interest income iR AT A B A 997 151
Sales of scrap materials HEER 2,133 2,385
Government subsidies (note) BRI 68 BL (47 &) 5,813 2,385
Rental income el A 1,924 175
Exchange gains, net bE X & 58 8,804 —
Reversal of provision for legal claims EERRBEREE — 358
Sundry income MIEWA 431 55
20,102 5,509
Note: The amount represents unconditional government subsidies Hia: ZEHEEWEM SR HE AT REER
received from the local government authorities for the S B BT A T ) R B T A B o
purpose of research and development and supporting its
operation.
6. FINANCE COSTS 6. B I B A
2022 2021
202245 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AR T T
Interest expenses on: AT EERNFEREZ:
Discounted bills financing MR ERmE 30 44
Bank borrowings RITER 6,646 6,795
Other borrowings H b g R 3,790 1,287
Lease liabilities HEBE 70 103
10,536 8,229
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 7.

Profit before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

e B |RMEE

BR it 1§ %t Al & 7

BRABHRACRMRINER S GTA)ATEEEE
&

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR®T T
Amortisation of intangible assets | A E 8 3,225 2,075
Depreciation of land lease prepayment THHERNRBRTE 338 338
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses C#R AR ZHNEE KA 58,820 61,808
Depreciation of owned assets BHEEENE 8,095 8,080
Depreciation of right-of-use asset TRAEEENE 1,753 1,644
Depreciation of investment property HEMERE 2,004 164
Exchange (gains)/losses, net b 5w R (8,804) 231
Listing expenses WX 6,350 3,245
Lease charges on short term leases REENHEEEH 510 337
Loss on disposal of property, plant and LEWE BMENKZEEE
equipment 82 610
Provision of/(Reversal of) ECL allowance on & 5 & I 7018 % JE W 2= 4% 78 HA
trade and bills receivables, net EEEBEBEREEG (BRE)FE 823 (2)
Reversal of provision for legal claim EERREHRED — (358)
Provision for warranty REBE 4,579 4115
Research and development costs fiff 2% B AR 8,165 7,049
Reversal of provisions for inventories FEREREE (377) (475)
Auditor’s remuneration % 8 RD B & 1,200 800
Rental income from investment property KEYEMFHS KA (1,924) (175)
Staff cost (including directors’ EIRK(BEESHH)
remuneration)
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe ITEREMER 31,808 30,618
Contributions to defined contribution plans FEHERE S H R 5,942 5,213

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, there
were no contributions forfeited by the Group on behalf of
its employees who left the plan prior to vesting fully in such
contribution, nor had there been any utilisation of such
forfeited contributions to reduce future contributions. As at
31 December 2022 and 2021, no forfeited contributions were
available for utilisation by the Group to reduce the existing
level of contribution.

R B E2022F %2021F12A318 L F & » 3 #
HREHEBRALERLTENEEMS &%
EREAZSEREIRTMEME  TES
FA 75 B8 082 Wa 4 3Kk LA B& MK AR 2R it 3R o 20224
20219128318 * M E LW H R AIH A EEE
FA DA B& {38 8 fHE BUKFE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

8.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

8. BHAX

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B T AR¥EF T

Current tax EHBIE
PRC EIT B EATER 8,642 7,067
Over-provision in prior year BAEFEBBEERE — (130)
8,642 6,937

Deferred tax I % B 18
Current year (Note 27) RNEE (B at27) 2,800 1,833
Income tax expense PR 11,442 8,770

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands,
the Company is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was made in the
consolidated financial statements as the Group had no
assessable profits subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax during
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
PRC EIT is calculated at 25% of the assessable profits for
subsidiary established in the PRC.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, a
subsidiary of the Group, Sichuan Huanlong Technology Fabric
Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan Huanlong”), is qualified as a company
under the development strategy of the PRC’s western region
to enjoy a preferential income tax rate of 15% from 1 January
2021 to 31 December 2030, therefore it is entitled to a
preferential income tax rate of 15% for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

The Company’s subsidiary, Shanghai Jinxiong Paper Making
Net Carpet Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Jinxiong”) was accredited
as High and New Technology Enterprise by the relevant
authorities in Sichuan for a term of three years which will
be expired in November 2023, therefore it is entitled to a
preferential tax rate of 15% for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.
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8.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

In addition, both Sichuan Huanlong and Shanghai Jinxiong
are eligible for tax deduction up to 200% (2021: 200%) and
200% (2021: 175%) of approved research and development
costs incurred for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021 respectively.

Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting
profit at applicable tax rate:

e B |RMEE

8. IEHMx(E)

AN - IR BE R £ & AR 5 BN B 2022
F %20215F12 A31 8 L F & & £ o &% i X
RN E BKZERS200% (20214 : 200%) 1
200% (20214 : 175%) H) Bt WO % °

715 4 B0 3% B 452 38 R B4 SR £ 40 £ R
mT

2022 2021
202245 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR T T
Profit before income tax B BT 15 B¢ A 5 7 64,443 59,460
Tax at the applicable income tax rate of 25% & FB F7 15 %1 25% K9 £ 18
(2021: 25%) (20214 : 25%) 16,111 14,865
Tax effects of non-deductible expenses AR A M & 2)
(note) 1,403 1,820
Utilisation of temporary differences FRAARERNEREEZR
previously not recognised 821 (83)
Additional deduction for research and LA 2 B 2 FE AN R
development expenses (2,655) (2,258)
Over-provision in prior year MAFEBRERE — (130)
PRC dividend withholding tax (Note 27) AR B TR (AT a227) 1,960 —
Effect of income taxed at concessionary rate L E B KA ENREH Z & (6,198) (5,444)
Income tax expense TR X< 11,442 8,770

Note: Non-deductible expenses mainly included listing expenses
and certain entertainment expenses.

ret: TAMBRRAXEIERELTHIRE THRE
R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

9.1 Directors’ emolument

9. ESMERIAEEFMAL

INEEME

Year ended 31 December 2022
BHZ2022F12AMBLLEE

Contributions

Salaries, to retirement
allowances benefit
Fees and benefits Bonus schemes Total
2 RIKER
e BEREF #AL TEMR @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR TR ARBTT ARBTR ARETR
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Zhou & % & — 800 — - 800
Ms. Shen L — — — — —
Mr. Xie Zongguo (“Mr. Xie”) HREEE(HEED — 700 400 63 1,163
Ms. Yuan Aomei (‘Ms. Yuan”) =&t ((R&z L))
(note a) (Hiita) — 240 47 47 334
Independent non-executive BIFHTEES
directors (note b): (Hfzh)
Mr. Ip Wang Hoi RRREE 17 — — — 17
Mr. Zhang Shenjin RESEE 17 — — — 17
Mr. Wang Yunchen FTEREE 17 — — — 17
351 1,740 447 110 2,648
Year ended 31 December 2021
BE2021F12R31BLEFE
Contributions
Salaries, to retirement
allowances benefit
Fees and benefits Bonus schemes Total
e RNEF
we 28 R A& F iz a2l 5% @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETTT
Executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Zhou &% & — 800 — — 800
Ms. Shen L — — — = =
Mr. Xie HEE — 700 400 61 1,161
Ms. Yuan (note a) rut(Wiita) — 184 — 39 223
— 1,684 400 100 2,184
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)

9.1 Directors’ emolument (Continued)

Notes:

(@) Ms. Yuan was redesignated as executive director on 14 April
2021.

(b) The appointments of Mr. Ip Wang Hoi, Mr. Zhang Shenjin
and Mr. Wang Yunchen as independent non-executive
directors of the Company took effect upon listing on 11
January 2022. During the year ended 31 December 2021,
the independent non-executive directors have not yet been
appointed and have not received any directors’ remuneration
in the capacity of independent non-executive directors.

Bonus are discretionary and are based on the performance of
the Group.

9.2 Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
include two (2021: two) directors whose emoluments are
disclosed in Note 9.1. The aggregate of the emoluments

e B |RMEE

9. EEMEREXRBESFMAL(E)

IMEEME(E)
# i -

(@) RELTW2021F4F14RERTENITES -

(b) EfcHEE RESEERTIEREEESR
FAEARNRBBILIENTES - WEN2022F
1ANMB L& AR - B E2021F12A8318 1k
FE BEBUYFATESTESME  TUE
VIR TESHHBBEMESEH -

TEABRBEEEARBEARENREMER

I2HEBRSHFMAL

HE2022F12A31B I EE - AEERE &
SHMALTBREMREZQ021F WEB)ES -
H B & 7K sE9.13E B8 o B 22022412 A 31
BIEEE  =Z2Q021NFE - =Z=%)ALHEE

of the three (2021: three) individuals for the year ended BETIAT
31 December 2022 are as follows:
2022 2021
2022% 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR®ET T
Salaries, allowances and benefits Fre R KRET 2,725 2,378
Contributions to retirement benefit RIRTE A AT B R
schemes 155 158
2,880 2,536

The above individuals’ emoluments are within the
following band:

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000

£%1,000,000/% 7T
1,000,001 7T %£1,500,000% 7T

ERATHMEBRIATHE :

2022 2021
20224 20214
1 3
2 —

No director or the five highest paid individuals received
any emoluments from the Group as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
nil). No director or the five highest paid individuals has
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

BE2022F12A31IHLESFE  EFHABK
=0 36 B A 15 48 1) AN SR [ WER A fRT B 2 (2021
FE) FRRBIEMAIRMAXEE
B B 5 R S 1F 73 B B A /(8 - AL 220224
RANABLFE EFHOHT2HHMA
ITHERREXRERE T MM (20214 :
&) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

10.EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to
equity holders of the Company is based on the following:

Earnings ZR
Profit for the year attributable to equity
holders of the Company (in RMB’000)
Number of ordinary shares for the purpose of F{E&
calculating basic earnings per share k& B
Earnings per share (in RMB cents)

FRANARED

ARARERTEARBIEFEAR G
(AR T
BEREXRRNNER

10.5REF

PAN/NGIR %*ﬁ‘/\ﬁﬁfﬁtﬂxﬁﬁﬁfrum&%ﬁT

XA EtEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
52,437 50,136
479,632,581 365,800,000
10.93 13.71

As at 31 December 2022, the total shares of the Company
in issue were 483,442,000 ordinary shares. The number of
ordinary shares for the purpose of calculating basic earnings
per share has been determined on the assumption that (i) the
Reorganisation and the Capitalisation Issue (as defined in
Note 28) of 365,788,000 ordinary shares had been effective
on 1 January 2021; and (ii) 113,832,581 ordinary shares,
representing the weighted average of 117,642,000 new
ordinary shares issued pursuant to the initial public offering
of shares of the Company (Note 28) during the year ended 31
December 2022.

As at 31 December 2021, the total shares of the Company in
issue were 12,000 ordinary shares. The number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of calculating basic earnings per
share has been determined on the assumption that the
Reorganisation and the Capitalisation Issue of 365,788,000
ordinary shares had been effective on 1 January 2021.

Diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per
share for years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 as there
were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue during the
years.

11.DIVIDEND

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 of 4 HK cents
(2021: nil) per ordinary share, in an aggregate amount of
approximately HK$19,338,000 (2021: nil), has been proposed
by the board of directors of the Company and is subject
to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming annual
general meeting.
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11.

R2022F12A31H * AR AWM B EITRMHBEH
#483,442,0001R EBAR - AIEETESRELR
MOEBRHSBNEROEARERNEET(E
# Rt 7£28) 365,788,000 /% & 38 I% & 72202141
BAE A % R (ii)113,832,58108 Z 3@ A% - B R &
F2022F12ANBILEFERBEARARAGB E XA H
& B% {5 P 35 17 #9117,642,000 A% 3 & 38 A% A9 hn
EFHE (M 28 B RMETE -

2021128318 - ARFWMEHITRMHEBH A
12,000k i@k - AERFEERERAF O I
BREBE T EREH K EAR({LE17365,788,000
% 3 A% B R 2021F1 B1B £ M BREKRME T -

B 7 Bl £ 20224 K% 20214512 A31H 1L F E # &
ERTHNEEEFTEZAR AUXFTHENSE
BEERNRGRERBHN B -

KA
WEBKRE - B E2022F12A8318 1L F E IR
R HA R BB IR A R4 L (2021F - =) - 4

%5 %) /519,338,000/8 7T (2021F : T) » EHAR
AEECRS YEAKARTREENG B H
R RBE RS EHEfE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

12.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12.9%  HERREE
Leasehold Plantand  Furniture and Motor  Construction
Buildings  improvements machinery fixtures vehicles in progress Total
BER
B¥ BE%E  HERER BEE hE ERIR &t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

Cost A

As at 1 January 2021 R2021%1A18 47,261 981 78,487 2,675 658 17,673 147,735
Additions AE — 895 1,094 192 641 7297 75,793
Transfers £R 40,892 — 9,908 877 — (51,677) —
Transfer to investment property BALENE (41,443) = = = = = (41,443)
Disposals/Wrten-off BE/H (0,397) - (1,220) () (86) - (10,720)
As at 31 December 2021 R2021%12A318 3313 1,876 88,269 3,721 1,213 38,967 171,365
As at 1 January 2022 R2022F1418 3313 1,876 88,269 3,721 1,213 38,967 171,365
Additions AE 8,804 601 478 156 - 79,757 89,796
Modification s 4831 - - - — — 4,831
Transfers b3 = = 3,833 13 = (3,846) =
Disposals/Written-off HE /i - - (2,219) (103) (4 = (2,326)
As at 31 December 2022 R2022512A31A 50,948 2411 90,361 3793 1,209 114,878 263,666
Accumulated depreciation ZitHE

As at 1 January 2021 R021E1718 23,998 684 47,293 2,460 606 - 75,041
Charge for the year ERZi 3,853 188 5478 181 % = 9,724
Transfer to investment property EARENE (321) - - - - - (327)
Written back on disposalshwritten-off (% /M 5 & (4,304) - (1,031) (1) (81) = (5,433)
As at 31 December 2021 R2021%12A318 23,220 872 51,740 2,624 549 - 79,005
As at 1 January 2022 #2022F181A 23,220 872 51,740 2,624 549 - 79,005
Charge for the year ERxi 3133 329 5,049 310 121 = 9,848
Written back on disposalshwritten-off ~ (H% /M #E &0 - - (1,812) (90) () = (1,905)
As at 31 December 2022 R2022£12 831 26,353 1,201 55,877 2,844 673 = 86,948
Net book amount BEAE

As at 31 December 2021 2021512318 14,093 1,004 36,529 1,103 664 38,967 92,360
As at 31 December 2022 R2022512A31A 24,595 1,276 34,484 949 536 114,878 176,718
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12.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s property, plant
and equipment with aggregate net book amount of
RMB128,884,000 (2021: RMB70,769,000), including
construction in progress amounting RMB98,826,000 (2021:
RMB29,998,000), were pledged to secure the bank and other
borrowings granted to the Group (Note 35).

Included in the net carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment is right-of-use assets as follows:

Buildings gF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

12.9% - BERKHE(E)

ANEEE K 420K E R E A K %128,884,0007T
(20214 : A R#70,769,0007T) N % * B E &
FfE o B1E AR K98,826,000T (2021F : A R
#£20,998,000 L) MEZ T LBER FAE
B A R 1T & H & 3K (T 5£35) ©

AAME BERRENREERBEADE M
BEENT:

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥® TR ARETT
13,234 1,352

The above right-of-use assets is depreciated on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful life or lease term as follows:

Buildings 5% or shorter of the lease term

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the total
additions, modification adjustment and depreciation charge to
right-of-use assets included in property, plant and equipment
amounting to RMB8,804,000 (2021: nil), RMB4,831,000
(2021:nil) and RMB1,753,000 (2021: RMB1,644,000),
respectively.
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tHhfERREEEN A AIERFEFHXERANE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

13.INVESTMENT PROPERTY 13. 8 EWHE
RMB’000
AR® T
Cost A
At 1 January 2021 720211 H18 —
Transfer from property, plant and equipment ERYE - BEREZE 41,443
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 72021412 A318 % 2022514118 41,443
Additions — subsequent expenditures RE —HEXH 1,348
At 31 December 2022 "2022F12831H 42,791
Accumulated depreciation Rt &
At 1 January 2021 M2021F1H1H —
Transfer from property, plant and equipment ERYE - BEREE 327
Charge for the year FAZ WY 164
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 1)20215F12 A31H &% 2022F1H1H 491
Charge for the year FAX 2,004
At 31 December 2022 "2022F12/F31H 2,495
Net book amount iR OE B
At 31 December 2021 K2021F12 A31H 40,952
At 31 December 2022 "2022F12/831H 40,296

Details the Group’s investment property and information about
the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period
are as follows. The levels are based on the observability and
significance of inputs to the measurements, as follows:

RBEHRR AEBNOREVEREEAFE
EREMNFENOT - ATEERTIERE A
EEFERATESEELRERERNE S :

« Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for s F—H HRAEEREBEERMSGRLHR
identical assets and liabilities. BH)IE -
« Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within e FH BRE-—REFEHREN  JEEX

Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly, and not using significant

unobservable inputs.

BEBENEEXREHAEG BAEY
REBATHEBERNE AR -

« Level 3: significant unobservable inputs for the asset or e F=EM-BEATABEMNEEXAGBHAME -

liability.
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13.INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

13.REME(E)

As at 31 December 2022
#2022%12H831H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ B E=R Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®BTR AR®BTRT AR®TrR

Recurring fair value measurement REMAFETE
— Factory building in the PRC — R E — — 42,000 42,000
As at 31 December 2021
2021412 A31H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F— £ F=ZR @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETT ARBTT ARETRT AR®TTT
Recurring fair value measurement REMEATETE
— Factory building in the PRC —RAHERNEKE — — 42,000 42,000

The Group’s investment property was revalued at 31
December 2022 and 2021 by an independent professional
qualified valuer. The Group’s management has discussion
with the valuer on the valuation assumptions when the
valuation is performed at the end of reporting period.

The fair value of the factory building in the PRC is estimated
using an income approach which capitalises the estimated
rental income stream, net of projected operating costs, using
a discount rate derived from market yields implied by recent
transactions in similar properties. When actual rent differs
materially from the estimated rents, adjustments have been
made to the estimated rental value. The estimated rental
stream takes into account current occupancy level, estimates
of future vacancy level, the terms of leases and expectations
for rentals from future leases over the remaining economic
life of the properties.
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N EH I B ) 2 R20224F 2021612 831H
EBVAEREEGEMERHE RBEH
REMTHER A5ENEEEBERGEENR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

As at the date of this report, the Company had direct and
indirect interest in the following subsidiaries, all of which are
private limited liability companies, and the particulars of which
are set out below:

Place of

incorporation and Registered/Issued
Company name operation and paid up capital

ERA LR Bift/ B8
NAER Bk RAEES
Directly held:
EREA:
Lion Courage Enterprises Limited The BVI UsD100
Lion Courage Enterprises Limited RERTHES 100% 7T
Virtuous Way Limited The BVI UsD100
BRBRAT AREAES 100% 7
Indirectly held:
ARER:
Vanov Tianhe International Holdings Limited Hong Kong HKD10,000
REANERZRERAA &k 10,000 7t
Chengdu Huanlong Funeng Technology Co., Ltd.** The PRC RMB1,000,000
RABREREHRERAT Gl AR 1,000,000
Chengdu Huanlong Lixin Technology Limited** The PRC RMB1,000,000
RBREUMMBARAT Gl AR 1,000,000
Marvel Dragon Development Limited Hong Kong HKD 100
ERERBRAA &k 1007 72
Sichuan Huanlong Technology Fabric Co., Ltd. ~ The PRC RMBA40,650,000
DIRERTENERAF il AR 40,650,000
Shanghai Jinxiong Paper Making Net Carpet The PRC RMB35,601,960

Co., Ltd*# (2021: RMB 35,590,000)

LEREEARURRAR i AR %35,601,9607C

(2021 : A K 135,590,0007T)

*

The translation of name in English is for identification purposes
only.

# The company is a limited liability company.

The above table includes subsidiaries of the Company which
principally affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.

e B |RMEE

14.AMBLARANER

RAREBRH  ARRARATHEBRR R
AEREERTNBEERLHEED  FHEH
FanT

As at 31 December Principal activities
MM2A318 TERH
2022 2021
2022% 20215
100% 100%  Investment holding
REER
100% 100%  Investment holding
REER
100% 100%  Investment holding
REER
100% 100%  Investment holding
REHR
99% 99%  Investment holding
RERRK
100% 100%  Investment holding
REHR
99% 99%  Manufacturing and sales of
papermaking felts
EREEMRERHEE
99% 99%  Manufacturing and sales of
papermaking felts
EREEMRERHE

O ORXEFEREMHRBR -

*ORRAREREMERA -

IS 2R ING[) PAE VR Y R S
EENEEVE JEARAREEEFEEE
B OMBAR -

Annual Report 2022 £ 125



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

15.LAND LEASE PREPAYMENT

15. + b 8 & FH I RE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B T ARBT T
The Group’s land lease prepayments comprise: AEEM T HHHEE
AT R IE B IE

The PRC, held on: R ATIEOFE:
— Leases of between 10 to 50 years — 10E50F WML 5,180 5,518
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year FHREAE 5,518 5,856
Depreciation he (338) (338)
Carrying amount at the end of the year FREEE 5,180 5,518

The leasehold land is situated in the PRC and held under
medium lease. As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s land
lease prepayment with a carrying amount of RMB5,180,000
(2021: RMB5,518,000) were pledged to a bank to secure bank
borrowings granted to the Group (Note 35).
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e B |RMEE

16.INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. B EE

Capitalised
Computer  development Construction in
Trademarks software costs progress Total
[ EREG EREERHE ERIR @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Cost KA
As at 1 January 2021 R2021E1 818 32,454 1 12,344 8,118 53,627
Additions AE — 199 — 699 898
Additions from internal developments NPRERE — — — 11,410 11,410
Transfer L - — 14,556 (14,556) =
As at 31 December 2021 72021412 A31A 32,454 910 26,900 5,671 65,935
As at 1 January 2022 120221 A1H 32,454 910 26,900 5,671 65,935
Additions NE 180 — — 102 282
Additions from internal developments NBRERE — — — 10,621 10,621
Transfer HE - — 10,045 (10,045) =
As at 31 December 2022 ®2022%12A31R 32,634 910 36,945 6,349 76,838
Accumulated amortisation EHE
As at 1 January 2021 R2021F1 818 - 80 2,439 — 2,519
Charge for the year FRTH = 65 2,010 = 2,075
As at 31 December 2021 "2021F12 4318 - 145 4,449 — 4,594
As at 1 January 2022 "2022%1818 - 145 4,449 — 4,594
Charge for the year FRATH 3 88 3,134 = 3,225
As at 31 December 2022 R2022%12A31R 3 233 7,583 — 7819
Net book amount RERE
As at 31 December 2021 12021512 A 318 32,454 765 22,451 5,671 61,341
As at 31 December 2022 ®2022512A31R 32,631 677 29,362 6,349 69,019
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16.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Intangible assets mainly represent:

(1) the trademarks with carrying amounts of RMB32,454,000
(2021: RMB32,454,000) were acquired from the
non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary. The
trademarks were regarded as having indefinite useful
lives because in opinion of the directors of the Group,
they are capable of being renewed indefinitely at
insignificant cost;

(2) the trademark with carrying amount of RMB177,000
(2021: nil) was acquired from an independent third party
with estimated useful life of 10 years;

(3) computer software were acquired from third parties; and

(4) capitalised development costs generated through internal
research and developments and capitalised technical
know-hows by the Group.

The Group assesses the useful lives capitalised developments
costs by considering the economic life cycles, continuous
technological advancement of the patents, the experience on
previous products of the Group and contractual legal rights
of the patents, it is concluded that the useful lives of these
patents are 10 years.

The amortisation charge for the year ended 31 December
2022 and 2021 is included in “Administrative and other
operating expenses” in the profit or loss.

Impairment testing

The trademarks with indefinite useful lives and the intangible
assets that under construction in progress which not
yet available for use have been allocated to the relevant
cash-generating units (the “CGU”) which is the same for
impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined
based on value in use calculations, covering a detailed
five-year budget plan, followed by an extrapolation of
expected cash flows at the average growth rates of 4% (2021:
4%).
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16. B & & (%8)

BVEEXTZHE:

(1) EMBRAAMEERREKREMSER
B A A K #32,454,0007T (20214 : A R #
32,454,0000) A IZ - HIZEHEAEEE
RAOFERFH BAANESEEERAZS
PIIZ BE S AR R B AR B PR B S5 48

(2) BEFAIEAFTFHAIOENBLE =T
BATSREEAARK177,0005T (20214 :
)R HAZ

B) BE=7TBANEREMG &

(4) AEE BB N E R E A B8 E
EHERNCRBEKA -

AEBEZEBREREELEDBY FANHER
gy TEEBEEMNLREENNEH
RN - ARFEEARME B AR AR A -
AEBERB/ZEENOTERFHB10F -

H E20229F N2021F12A3MB L 5 #is &
RAEFABSRNITHREEMEER Y-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Impairment testing (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the discount rates applied to the
cash flow projections were 14.6% (2021: 13.9%). The key
assumptions for the Group have been determined by the
Group’s management based on past performance and its
expectations for the industry development. The discount rates
used are pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the
segment.

Based on the above key assumptions, as at 31 December
2022 the recoverable amount would exceed the carrying
amounts of the CGU by not less than approximately RMB42.9
million (2021: RMB49.3 million). If the growth rate decreased
by 1%, the recoverable amount of the relevant CGU would
be dropped by approximately RMB5.3 million (2021: RMB7.1
million) as at 31 December 2022. If the discount rate (pre-tax)
increased by 1%, the recoverable amount of the relevant CGU
would be dropped by approximately RMB7.1 million (2021:
RMB9.2 million) as at 31 December 2022.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, a reasonably
possible change in key parameters would not cause
the carrying amount of the relevant CGU to exceed the
recoverable amount. If the growth rate decreased by 24%
or discount rate increased by 11% as at 31 December 2022
(as at 31 December 2021: the growth rate decreased by 25%
or discount rate increased by 12%), the recoverable amount
of the relevant CGU would be approximated to its carrying
amount.

In the opinion of the directors, there is no reasonably possible
change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable
amount of the trademarks is based that would cause the
carrying amounts to exceed the recoverable amount.

e B |RMEE

16. B & & (%8)

AR A

IR & = 78 8 B & A B 2R R 02022412 A31H
A14.6% (20214 :13.9%) - A S BN EZE R X
HASBEEEERBEAEZREREITEZRED
TEHETE fTEABBEERRAEBE  RBED
HEEMEAEERR -

R E A+ B /& R2022%12A318 7] I
BEEORBBERARCELBEMMNERETD
RHARKEA298 B L (2021F : A R $49.35
BT) ° Wi KR 1% © Bl R2022412 831H
HERSEAEMNITRENSEBERLODAR
538 8L (2021F : ARB7TAHE L) © {1 Bh
IR R (& FiAT) 3 hn1% @ 8 782022412 A318 48
BReELBEMMAKESEBRIOOARETA
BET(2021F: ARM9I2EET) °

ARAREERE TELYNAEAUREHT
CEREEARECEELAEMNREE BB WE
& 58 o W 7R2022F12 A31H K 1 & X F 4 24%
3k B 38 = 1 1111% (2021412 8318 : & & K
125% 8k Bh IR R 1 hn12%) - Rl IR & E £ E
R ESEGELIRMEMRS -

EEZRR RAGITLRESBERNEIEZMRR
YHEAEAEES BRFEEEBLATLKED S
2 o
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2PN >
e MR R R MR
17.INVENTORIES 17. 78
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B T AR¥EF T
Raw materials JR# % 7,851 5,636
Work-in-progress EEIR 4,885 4,596
Finished goods X 4,912 2,363
17,648 12,595
Less: provision for inventories W FERE (315) (692)
17,333 11,903
Analysis of the provision for inventory write down is as below: FEMBRBEEODTHT :
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR¥EF T
At the beginning of the year NG 692 1,167
Reversal for the year FAEE (377) (475)
At the end of the year NG N 315 692
During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022, the H E20217F K2022F12A31B L FE - 5 #

reversal of provision for inventory arose from sale of obsolete

inventory.
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18.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18.E S &k H fth FE U K IE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B T ARET T
Trade receivables B 5 e R IE
— Third parties —%=5" 152,282 135,298
— Related parties — s 3,372 710
Bills receivables fE W = & 19,907 15,553
Less: ECL allowance provision B EAEEEERE (4,312) (3,639)
171,249 147,922
Prepayments AN 1,379 844
Prepaid listing expenses R EMmRAZ — 3,805
Refundable deposits (note) RERS (M) 8,140 —
Other receivables H b FE R IE 775 906
10,294 5,555
181,543 153,477
Note: The refundable deposits were paid for (i) the consultancy Krat: AIREBREDVBEUATEEMIN  ()VREBRE
work on potential acquisition of investment targets amounting REEWEZRAIE 2% AAR4 522,000
to RMB4,522,000 (2021: nil). If no acquisition is completed TC(20215F : &) - R AHHRIEWREBTHK
within the contract period, the deposit will be refunded to Az e HRETAERE : R(i)EERHKARIN
the Group; and (i) operation system upgrade to strengthen MEAEBEMNERKELIXBLLRBEET
the Group’s Huanlong Paper Machine Efficiency Operation FEES  ©EHBARES,618,0007T (20214 :
System amounting to RMB3,618,000 (2021: nil). If the work D) MR EAENPAARIEREREZHRE
cannot meet the target timeline completed within the contract Nk BliIReHRETASZE -

period, the deposit will be refunded to the Group.
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18.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

The directors considered that the fair values of trade and
other receivables are not materially different from their
carrying amounts.

As at each reporting date, the ageing analysis of trade

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

18.EZ R Hftt WA (&)

EERREFNEMBBEFREN R FEREK
HETEERER -

receivables based on the delivery date is as follows: HIBRR DT T
2022 2021
202245 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR T T
0 — 90 days 90K A 94,527 92,081
91 — 180 days 91K £180K 20,204 25,505
181 — 365 days 181X £365K 22,543 11,724
Over 365 days 365K A 18,380 6,698
155,654 136,008

The bills represent promissory notes issued by banks
received by the Group from customers who discharge their
liabilities to pay the Group for the goods or services invoiced.
These bills are endorsable, unsecured, non-interest bearing
and matured within one year.

As at 31 December 2022, included in the balances, bills
receivables of nil (2021: RMB3,821,000) were discounted with
recourse. These bills receivables were not derecognised as
the title of these bills receivables were not transferred to the
counterparties. On the other hand, as at 31 December 2022,
discounted bills financing of nil (2021: RMB3,821,000) was
recognised for the cash received (Note 24).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

The ageing analysis of bills receivables presented based on
issue date at the end of each reporting period is as follows:

e B |RMEE

18.EZ R Hftt WA (&)

BIESREARBEITHEZY N E K EEE &
DT ¢

2022 2021

2022%F 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARETTT

0 — 90 days 90K N 12,146 10,184
91 — 180 days 91K £180K 7,301 4,839
181 — 365 days 181K £365K 460 530
19,907 15,553

Bills receivables endorsed

Not included in the years end balances, during the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Group has transferred
bills receivables amounted to RMB100,933,910 (2021:
RMB106,335,000) to settle its payables through endorsing
the bills to its suppliers. In accordance with the Law of
Negotiable Instruments in the PRC, the endorsee of the bills
has a right of recourse against the endorser if the issuing
banks default. For those endorsed to its suppliers, the Group
has derecognised these bills receivables and the trade and
other payables in their entirety. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of these bills to the
endorsee. The Group has limited exposure in respect of the
settlement obligation of these bills receivables under relevant
PRC rules and regulations should the issuing banks failed to
settle the bills on maturity date. The Group considered the
issuing banks of the bills are of good credit quality and the
risk of non-settlement by the issuing banks on maturity is
insignificant.

EEERBERE

N AFERE#H  REE2022F12A8318 1IEF
B AEBEEZEERSEEAKE100,933,910
70 (20214 : A R #106,335,0007T) » VA ] E 4t
EEERSERZSERAEHEENRE - BE
FEZEEE BEEEZEEMORTELD  ZED
WEEATMEEATEERE -FRHEMERE
HEENEEMS  A5SBEEREKRILERZ
ERNEBERESREMEMNRIE - ARARE
ERE AEBEBZSEZBEMAENE RS
PTEBEEOHEREBEEEEA - BREFH
FEERBRER  WETRITRERE AL
BZg AEERZSEREZEAINEES
FZ2RBEER AEERAZEETRITAR
FEEEE BETRITNIBRAELEEN
B BB E -
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18.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Bills receivables endorsed (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the maximum exposure to loss,
which is same as the amount payable by the Group to the
endorsee in respect of the endorsed bills, should the issuing
banks fail to settle the bills on maturity date amounted to
RMB100,933,910 (2021: RMB106,335,000). All the bills
receivables endorsed have a maturity date of less than one
year from the end of each reporting period.

The movement in the ECL allowance of trade and bills
receivables is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

18.EZ R Hftt WA (&)

EHEERWRE(A)

2022612 4318 + M ETR TR E R 2 B B
BREE AIZEABERRESZERAEER
EEEZBRRMNEBEEZEANSEAAR
#100,933,9107T (20214F : A & #106,335,000
L) TBESERKERZIHAAREHR
BEFTHLR—F o

HEORWHBEREREENEREEERERB
M :

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARBT T

At the beginning of the year REH 3,639 5,724

Amounts written off B i £ (150) (2,083)
Provision/(Reversal of) of ECL allowance BHEEEE

B (BERE) 823 2)

At the end of the year R E R 4,312 3,639

As at 31 December 2022, included in the balance of
ECL allowance provision are individually impaired trade
receivables with an aggregate balance of RMB1,821,000
(2021: RMB1,187,000), with reference to the historical
experience of these receivables, the collection of these
receivables may not be recoverable. The Group does not hold
any collateral over these balances.

Further details of the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
arising from trade and other receivables are set out in Note
36.5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

19.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 19 RAFEFABEZNERMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR®T T
Listed equity securities and warrants — ETRAE FREE —

Hong Kong BB 984 —
The fair value of the Group’s investments in listed equity AEBRETRAZHFREINEREAZATF
securities and warrants has been measured as described in BRI FE36.7E E °
Note 36.7.

20.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT 20 e RBEESEEY
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR®EF T

Cash and bank balances ReRkReEEY 85,618 12,609
Cash at banks earns interests at floating rates based on daily RTBECEBRBEESERTFRANEXFENZH
bank deposit rates. F = BREUF] 2 o

Included in bank and cash balances of the Group is AEBENRTERSCEBKBERTREFRBEIERN
RMB10,654,000 (2021: RMB12,602,000) of bank balances HUARBETARBDAENRITESBKARE
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) placed with banks in 10,654,0007T (20214F : A & #12,602,0007T) °
the PRC. RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Under ARSI EBA LR - RIRF EHNE B K H
the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and LEE EERNEBERERTE AEEEER
Administration of Settlement and Sales and Payment of BEERRINEZFARITHARELIRKIN
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to B o

exchange RMB for foreign currencies through banks that are
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

21.CONTRACT LIABILITIES 21 ENEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B T ARBT T
Amount received in advance for sales of TEHHEERERERTE
papermaking felts products expected to be 5 WCER A 30 I8 8 7 LA T R
recognise: R :
— within one year ——FR 486 512

ERNEERNRAEFPFEBERERERAMNERET
Fig -

Contract liabilities represent the deposits received from the
customers in advance of the transfer of papermaking felts to
the customers.

REVNREER D EEAKRK110,0007T (2021
F: AR#200,0000T) E R FANER AR °

Contract liabilities outstanding at the beginning of the year
amounting to RMB110,000 (2021: RMB200,000) have been
recognised as revenue during the year.

22.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22.E5 R Hitb B KA

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
Trade payables BEZENRE
— Third parties —%=x 20,768 25,016
Other payables Hth FE 14 RIE
Other payables H & A 30 IE 3,585 4,460
Construction payables FEF TR 3k 1R 905 4,547
Accrued salaries JEET T & KA 5,824 5,411
Receipt in advance from a tenant TE U AR P R IE 700 1,225
Accruals FE 5T FIA 3,334 1,334
Accrued listing expenses FERtEmRAZ — 5,604
Warranty provision RERE 4,699 4,605
Other tax payables H h E S R 18 8,719 6,591
27,766 33,777
48,534 58,793
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

22.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 22.EZRHMEAREGE)

The Group is granted by its suppliers a credit periods of 30 2N 55 B H 4 FE P X T30E 90K (20214F : 30%
to 90 days (2021: 30 to 90 days). Based on the invoice dates, OK)MEEH - RIZFHZHH  BESEMNFIE

the ageing analysis of the trade payables is as follows: BRI DT T
2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBTTT
0 — 30 days 0£30K 9,285 11,289
31 — 60 days 31K E60X 4,450 6,961
61 — 90 days 61X 290K 2,804 2,585
91 — 180 days 91X £180K 2,919 1,622
181 — 365 days 180K £365K 901 1,049
Over 365 days 365K 409 1,510
20,768 25,016

The carrying values of trade and other payables are
considered to be reasonable approximation of their fair

values.

NEMENFAENREERSR RS HE iR

B 5
HRAFEMRE -

The movement in the warranty provision is as follows: REBEBENEFHNOT:
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBT T
At beginning of year NG 4,605 3,932
Provision for the year FREE 4,579 4115
Utilisation for the year FAE A (4,485) (3,442)
At end of year FR 4,699 4,605

The warranty provision represents management’s best
estimate of the Group’s liability under 45 to 120 days warranty
granted on papermaking felts, based on prior experience and
industry averages for defective products.

RERBEEEEHASER EREBIEH45
ENR0RFRERBEALBRLREERMBE RN
TEEREH)ARESENREME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

23.LEASE LIABILITIES 23.FEEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B T ARBT T
Total minimum lease payment due: ENRERENRERE:
— Within one year —F R 3,866 1,367
—In the second to fifth years —RE_ZTEREF 6,971 —
10,837 1,367
Future finance charges on leases liabilities HEABBERRBREEZR (704) (29)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBERE 10,133 1,338
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
Present value of minimum lease payments: & K& RIERE
— Within one year —FR 3,460 1,338
— In the second to fifth years —RE_ZTERF 6,673 —
10,133 1,338
Less: Portion due within one year included under B : B BEIE TH—FRA
current liabilities E Hf & o (3,460) (1,338)
Portion due after one year included under non- FREBAMBETH—F%&
current liabilities E|HEB 6,673 —

The Group leases properties for operation and these lease
liabilities were measured at the present value of the lease
payments that are not yet paid. All leases are entered at fixed
prices and typically made for fixed periods of one to three
years (2021: one to five years), lease terms are negotiated on

an individual basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23.LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard
to its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are monitored within the
Group’s treasury function.

The total cash outflows for leases including the payments of
lease liabilities for the year ended 31 December 2022 were
RMB5,420,000 (2021: RMB1,985,000).

24.DISCOUNTED BILLS FINANCING

The balance represents borrowings from banks by
discounting, with recourse, bills receivables to the Group
which were endorsed by third parties. The Group continues
to recognise the carrying amount of the underlying bills
receivables, as presented in Note 18, since the title of
receivables was not transferred to the counterparties.

25.BANK BORROWINGS

Bank borrowings were carried at amortised cost, secured and
repayable within one year.

23.

24.

25.

e B |RMEE

HESE(E)

AEBYEAFREEEREAHEARDE
TRk - AKEENEHFMEREEAR -

H22022F12A31BILFE - HEMBE LR H
B (BEHEEENNRK) A ARYS5,420,000
70 (20214 : A R #1,985,0007T) °

MEREME

SEREBAMRAREAERENREERE
MEBBHRITER ZEEFAF=TEE -
HRERSRBENMERLBEREH T
WAEEEBEAN 1827180 E R E R
M RREE -

R 1T &

RITER DL BAHEKNAINE EERRAR —
FAEE -

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR T T
Bank loans, secured: WITER - BHEA:

— repayable within one year —EBAR—FANEE 57,500 105,000

— repayable in the second year to fifth year —BARE_FEFRF
inclusive (BiEEEWME)EE 104,500 =
162,000 105,000

As at 31 December 2022, the effective interest rate of the
bank borrowings was 4.72% (2021: 6.06%) per annum.

The bank borrowings were secured by pledged assets as at
set out in Note 35.

20226128318 » RITEZRNBEEER X 5
4.72% (20214 : 6.06%) °

RITBEKXADEREERE R (PHEESS) °
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26.0THER BORROWINGS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR¥EF T
Other borrowings H b {8 3K
— repayable within one year — AR —FREE 24,381 8,326
— repayable in the second to fifth year inclusive @—— BERE_-_ZEFHF
(BEEEmE)EE 29,122 14,208
53,503 22,534

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
entered into sale and leaseback agreements amounting
to RMB49,336,000 (2021: RMB26,949,000) with leasing
companies for acquisition of machinery and equipment
and motor vehicle (“Secured Assets”) amounting to
RMB66,554,000 (2021: RMB36,926,000) for a period of
three years (2021: one to three years). On loan drawdown
date, the amount of RMB49,336,000 (2021: RMB26,949,000)
was directly transferred from the leasing companies to the
suppliers of the Secured Assets. Upon maturity, the Group
will be entitled to purchase the Secured Assets.

As at 31 December 2021, one of the sale and leaseback
agreement amounting to RMB400,000 (2022: nil) has been
settled before maturity and the related Secured Assets
amounting to RMB506,000 (2022: nil) has been purchased by
the Group.

The effective interest rates underlying the contract is 7.2%
(2021: 7.2%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2022, sale and leaseback obligation of
RMB53,503,000 was secured by the Group’s construction in
progress with carrying amount of RMB98,826,000 (Note 12).

As at 31 December 2021, sale and leaseback obligation of
RMB22,534,000 was secured by the Group’s construction
in progress with carrying amount of RMB29,998,000 (Note
12) and the personal guarantee provided by the Controlling
Shareholders. Such personal guarantee has been released
during the year ended 31 December 2022 upon listing of the
Company.
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FEARTARER: - BEASEERE AR%506,00070
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BHMBEERERNERAET7.2% (20214F : 7.2%) °

MR2022F12A31H E% B HEET A AREK
53,503,000t - HASEBEEEE A AR
98,826,000 ([t 7¥12) T AYFE & TR {EHHH

MR2021F12A31H E B HEE A ARKE
22,534,000 HASEEEEBAAARKE
29,998,000 C (I sF12) M EE T2 RIE KK R
REMEAERERRD BEEAERERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27.DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are as
follows:

Deferred Tax Assets

Provision for

e B |RMEE

27. i 3 % 17

EERELEE (ABNEHNT:

ELEHEEE
Provision of
allowance on  Unrealised profit

inventories receivable in inventories Total
FERE EhTERE AEREREHN @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
As at 1 January 2021 12021617818 175 859 52 1,086
Credited/(Charged) to WEBEEA /(1K)
profit or loss (Note 8) (H#8) (M) (313) 18 (366)
As at 31 December 2021 and 120215123318 &
1 January 2022 2022%1A1H 104 546 70 720
Credited/(Charged) to REBRFA /()
profit or loss (Note 8) (K #8) (57) 101 ) 40
As at 31 December 2022 722022612 A31H 47 647 66 760
Deferred Tax Liabilities EEBREARG
Withholding on
Accelerated tax  undistributed
depreciation profits Lease liabilities Total
LD
MEHRERE AN HELE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT ARBTR ARBTR
As at 1 January 2021 #20215171A (648) — (166) (814)
Charged to profit or loss (Note &) RERFTAM28) (1,466) — ) (1,467)
As at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 ®2021%12 8310 202251 A1A (2,114) - (167) (2,281)
Charge to profit or loss (Note 8) RBE AN 228) (409) (1,960) (471) (2,840)
As at 31 December 2022 7202212318 (2,523) (1,960) (638) (5,121)

As at 31 December 2022, deferred tax liabilities have not
been recognised on the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with the undistributed profits of
Sichuan Huanlong for the withholding taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of approximately
RMB191,979,000 (2021: RMB166,253,000) that are subject
to withholding taxes. The Company controls the dividend
policy of Sichuan Huanlong and it is not probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, withholding tax of
RMB1,960,000 (2021: nil) was charged to profit or loss for the
dividends declared by Sichuan Huanlong.

2022612 4318 + i K 3 09I 3R B K 2 B F
HEAELRAEHMENHEAENTREER
RERERECEHEER FTEHMEBEANHOR
[E H Uz A 495 A R#191,979,0007T (20214 : A
R #166,253,0007T) ° AN &) 2 % /8 )1 3R 38 /9 A%
BHE  MZERMZEERA R KA KA R
W o B E2022F12A31B L FE - W ERF
TR AL ST A R%1,960,0007T (20214 : )
EEtAEZ -

Annual Report 2022 £ 141



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

28.SHARE CAPITAL 28.B% A&
No. of shares RMB’000
% & A AR¥T R
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FREE0.014 T/ T il AR
As at 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and M2021F1H18 ~ 20214
1 January 2022 12A318 A &% 20221 A1H 38,000,000 885
Increase in authorised share capital # 00 7% & B 1,962,000,000 24,020
As at 31 December 2022 2022912 A31H 2,000,000,000 24,355
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
As at 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 7202151818 % 20214
and 1 January 2022 12318 LA % 2022F181H 12,000 1
Capitalisation Issue (note a) BEAR(ET (M ita) 365,788,000 2,990
Issue of shares on 11 January 2022 (note b) 12022F1 118 % T M7
(K1 &tb) 114,200,000 930
Issue of shares on 8 February 2022 (note c) 12022F2 A8H #1TH R 15
(Wt itc) 3,442,000 28
As at 31 December 2022 72022612 A31H 483,442,000 3,949
Notes: Hraz -

(@) Pursuant to the resolutions of the shareholders passed on
9 December 2021, subject to the share premium account of
the Company being credited as a result of the global offering,
the directors were authorised to allot and issue a total of
365,788,000 shares credited as fully paid at par to the holders
of the shares on the register of members of the Company
at the close of business on 8 December 2021 in proportion
to their shareholdings by way of capitalisation of the sum of
HK$3,657,880 (equivalents to approximately RMB2,990,000)
standing to the credit of the share premium account of the
Company (the “Capitalisation Issue”). The Capitalisation Issue is
effective upon listing on 11 January 2022 and the shares allotted
and issued rank pari passu in all respects with the existing
issued shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28.SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) On 11 January 2022, the Company issued 114,200,000 new
shares at HK$1.22 per share for total gross proceeds of
HK$139,324,000 (equivalents to approximately RMB113,477,000)
by way of initial public offering of the Company on the Stock
Exchange.

(c) On 8 February 2022, the Company further issued 3,442,000
new shares at HK$1.22 per share for total gross proceeds of
HK$4,199,240 (equivalents to approximately RMB3,429,000)
upon partial exercise of the over-allotment option granted by the
Company.

29.RESERVES

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances
of each component of the Group’s equity is set out in the
consolidated statements of changes in equity.

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the
par value of the shares of the Company and net proceeds
received from the issuance of the shares of the Company.

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account of the Company may be applied for payment
of distributions or dividends to the shareholders provided that
immediately following the date on which the distribution or
dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company is able to pay
its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents the aggregate
of the share capital of the subsidiaries comprising the Group
arising from the Reorganisation.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, each of
the company that was registered in the PRC is required to
appropriate 10% of the annual statutory profit after tax (after
offsetting any prior years’ losses), determined in accordance
with the PRC accounting standards, to the statutory reserve
until the balance of the reserve funds reaches 50% of the
entity’s registered capital. The statutory reserve can be
utilised to offset prior years’ losses or to increase capital,
provided the remaining balance of the statutory reserve is not
less than 25% of the registered capital.

e B |RMEE

28. [ A< (48)

Hrat: (%)

(b) F2022F181MB » ARG EBEBIFTETE X
AHEE  LUERK{%1.227 T3 17114,200,000
&% #7 B% 17 - FT 15 5K 18 48 88 /5139,324,000/% 7t (48
B R A R%113,477,0007T) °

(c) $M2022F2A8H ARG EHHITEEE LA
BREBRER  USRBKMGB122BTE — ST
3,442,0000% #7 i& 10 - AT 15 5K I8 42 %8 54,199,240
Bt (FHE RO AKRS,429,0007T) °

oy B 90 B R AR R ) B BR Y

I 47 32 (B

% 10 g {8 8 78 22 B AR {7 H & £2 3% 17 RN 2 R AR £
FriSFIE 5 2 M ER o

REFASHERBE  ARR M4 B KA f#
BEIKIRERETRR  EEBEEZEDIK
FREER  ARBRINEEEHBREDE
HZER -

EXfEE

AEENEAFEBHEEARAEEETHER
AR RS A B -

EERE

REBEFERRE  EHEEMHE QA ARR
EREEEBEMNFEEERMREN(E
HEMBEFERBIREL) B BI0%EEERE
EERHBLABREIZEREMEARNMNS0%
Rl AERBEAANEHEEFEFIENE
MEAR - EEAEFRBNRBECLPRNEMELRN
25% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

30.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 30.74< 1 B Ay B 7 AR R &
THE COMPANY

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M 7 AR T AR T T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RSB AR A = 1,594 1,594
Amount due from a subsidiary i3 hpE NG E 22,060 —
23,654 1,594
Current assets nEEE
Prepaid listing expenses RN EMRAX — 3,805
Prepayments and other receivables TEAFRIE K E A R U 5k T8 8,661 —
Financial assets at fair value through BERAFEGFAEZN SR
profit or loss BE 19 984 —
Cash and cash equivalent RERREEED 74,143 —
83,788 3,805
Current liabilities nEBAE
Amount due to a subsidiary XN N 23,730 23,739
Accruals & 5T 5 IE 2,403 6,404
26,133 30,143
Net current assets/(liabilities) REBEE(BFE)FE 57,655 (26,338)
Net assets/(liabilities) BE (BB F8E 81,309 (24,744)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRBEE
Share capital % < 28 3,949 1
Reserves 5 77,360 (24,745)
Total equity/(Capital deficiencies) R (BB EE 81,309 (24,744)
Approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2023 and 2023 3H30BKLHMESFTGHE  WHNUTA
were signed on its behalf. TRAEEE o
Shen Genlian Xie Zongguo
AR E iR
Director Director
BEZE EZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B mRME
30.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 30. XA A B EMRR T (E)
THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note: The movement of the Company’s reserves are as follows: Bat: ARAMBFEEESBOAT :
Share Capital ~ Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
REAEE AR E ZitEE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTR ARBTTR ARBTT

As at 1 January 2021 120215118 _ 1502 (21,691) (20,099)
Loss for the year ERER — - (4,646) (4,646)
As at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 12021412 A318 K& 2022F1 718 — 1,592 (26,337) (24,745)
Profit for the year FERET — — 681 681
Capitalisation Issue (Note 28(z)) BB (H1i£28(2)) (2,990) = = (2,990)
Issue of new shares on 11 January 2022 1202251 BB ETHR A

(Note 28(b)) (H1#28(b) 112,547 = = 112,547
Issue of new shares on 8 February 2022 120222 A8 B E (TR 17
(Note 28(c)) (K1 #28(c)) 3,401 = = 3,401
Transaction costs attributable to issue of new shares ~ E/TH R R EHR ZHK A (11,534) = = (11,534)
As at 31 December 2022 #2022512A31A 101,424 1,592 (25,656) 77,360
As at 31 December 2022, the distributable reserves of the 12022124318 » A QR WAl 5 K 7% 6 & &
Company amounting to RMB75,768,000 (2021: nil). A AN R¥75,768,0007T (20214 : Z)
31.LEASE COMMITMENTS MN.HEEFRE
As Lessor EREHBA
At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had future K20224F % 2021F12831H * AN &£ B iR & 1 7]
aggregate minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable BUEREHE R E W B AR R &K ERIE
operating leases in respect of factory building as follows: WEIE
2022 2021
202245 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T T
Within one year —&R 1,499 1,139
After one year but within two years —FEHEMFERN 799 1,499
After two years but within three years MERBRE=FR — 799
2,298 3,437
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

32.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 32. EAEE

As at end of the reporting date, the Group has capital RMEAR  NEEBNEREEDT

commitments are as follows:

2022 2021
202245 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR T T
Contracted but not provided for BRIHNEREE
Property, plant and equipment Y BB R 83,614 59,972
33.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED BVaREHERERME
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: METHELENABEYE:
Bank Other Discounted Lease
borrowings borrowings bills financing liabilities
RTER Hitfes MERBRE HEGE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARETR ARETR ARBTR
As at 1 January 2021 ®202151A1A 115,000 — — 2,883
Cash flows: fﬁ%‘}mi :
Proceeds S 105,000 — 3,821 =
Repayment B (115,000) (4,415) — —
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEER&AEHH — - — (1,545)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BERNEEREMEHD — - — (103)
Non-cash transaction: FRERH:
New borrowings (Note 26) LR (M 726) = 26,949 — —
Effect of interest charges HNEERFE — - — 103
As at 31 December 2021 and R2021F12A31B K
1 January 2022 2022F181H 105,000 22,534 3,821 1,338
Cash flows: Heme:
Proceeds FrE%E 162,300 = = =
Repayment g (105,300) (18,367) (3,821) -
Capital element of lease rentals paid ERffEREAEHA — - — (4,840)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENEERENEHH — — — (70)
Non-cash transactions: ERERH:
New borrowings (Note 26) IR (M 726) = 49,336 = =
New leases nHE — = — 8,804
Lease modification MEEK — = — 4,831
Effect of interest charges FIRERYE — — — 70
As at 31 December 2022 R2022512A31A 162,000 53,503 — 10,133
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions with its
related parties during the year:

(a) Names and relationship

Name of related party

MBS AR

Sichuan Huanlong New Material Ltd.*
(TR BEFMEBR QA
POl ER BT M R B IR A A

Sichuan Huanlong Daily Products Ltd.*
(MNEREEERARBERDA)
mNEREEEAMERAT

Mr. Zhou
A % A&

Ms. Shen
=t

Mr. Xie
kA&

Ms. Yuan
R+t

* The translation of name in English is for identification

purposes only.

e B |RMEE

4. LR 5

BREGAEMBREMFIBHIEREN  REBR
FRREBBOETTUATIRS:

(a) EBREBR

Relationship with the Group
BEAEENER

A company controlled by the Controlling
Shareholders

X% IR AR R AR 8 R A

A company controlled by the Controlling
Shareholders

5P R BRI Y 2 A

The controlling shareholder

2B R

The controlling shareholder

12 AR

An executive director of the Company
7R R

An executive director of the Company

PR AR R

*ORXERERRR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

34.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 4B H RS (&)

(Continued)

(b) Related party transactions (b) BHEARSB
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR T T
(i) Material transactions with related () BEERBINERRS
parties
Name of related party Nature
BHBE AW HE
Sichuan Huanlong New Material Ltd. Sales
(“Huanlong New Material”) (note) 2,796 574
MR BT M HH B R AR &
(MRBEHMED (A L)
Sichuan Huanlong Daily Products Ltd. Sales
(“Huanlong Daily Products”) (note) 1,173 1,121
mNEREEZARERAF iHE

(MRBEEERm DM Z)

Note: Huanlong New Material and Huanlong Daily Products are
associates of Ms. Shen and Mr. Zhou and Huanlong Daily
Products is a wholly owned subsidiary of Huanlong New
Material, the related party transactions shall therefore be
aggregated and treated as if they were one transaction
and constitute continuing connected transactions under
the Listing Rule.

Sales to related parties were conducted in the Group’s
normal course of business and at prices and terms no less
than those charged to and contracted with other third party
customers of the Group.

RENMMHRRELEERRALLLIR
BAEENBEA MEEBELEEZARAR
EFMEN2EMBAR  RZSHE
ZHBEHHE  LBRE-—ARFHERE
B ETARAMBTNHEBERS -

FMEABTHHEEDNRASELS X758
RAPET BREGRILTERRASE
BEME=Z7TFEPURMEBELITINE
1% B2 AR e

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBT T
(ii) Key management personnel (i) TEEEASHRH
compensation

Salaries, allowances and benefits e EBENMAEF 3,511 3,242

Contribution to defined contribution FLIE fH FOR R 5 31 K
retirement plans 248 220
3,759 3,462
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

34.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(c) Balances with related parties

M4 EB ARG ()

(c) EREAEE 5 A9 45 B

2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARET T
Amounts due from/(to) related parties: FE kR (FEAS) BE B 7 KB
Sichuan Huanlong New Material Ltd. mIREFMEBR AR
— trade — 85 2,431 294
— non-trade (note) —¥E 5 (H i) = (20)
Sichuan Huanlong Daily Products Ltd. Ml RELEERRBRAA
— trade — 85 941 416
3,372 690
Note: ~ The amount comprised to “amount due to a related Bit: ZECHBEEKRAUBMKRAROIE

party” in the face of consolidated statement of financial
position.

The maximum outstanding balances are as follows:

FEur,(FES) BAME 5 7ROR -

Amounts due from/(to) related parties:

FBUNTETNRBRER

+ .
e

— mIIREHMHERAAF
—mEREEEARAER

Maximum outstanding balances due from:

— Sichuan Huanlong New Material Ltd.
— Sichuan Huanlong Daily Products Ltd.

NG
— Mr. Zhou — A&
— Ms. Shen —h&x=*
— Ms. Yuan —R&*

BB 75 SRR ©

2022
2022F
RMB’000
AR® TR

2021
20214
RMB’000
ARETT

— 156

— 806
— 34
— 34
= 39

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. The trade balances had a credit
period of 60 days (2021: 60 days). The carrying amounts
approximates their fair value and are denominated in
RMB. The outstanding balances with certain related
parties have been settled during the year ended 31
December 2022 upon listing of the Company.

ERFEAEEER RERAKEREE -
B &SN EHA608 (20214 : 608) °
REEREAFERS  TUAARBE-
o BT RR(EE &S E RNE £20224F
12A3MBLEFEARRA MBS °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

35.PLEDGE OF ASSETS

. EEHEM

At the end of each reporting period, certain of the Group’s
assets were pledged to secure bank and other borrowings of
the Group. The aggregate carrying amount of the assets of
the Group pledged at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

RERESHMR AKEEETEESERARF
BTFAEEHRITEEMER AEEHE HIH
BENBEHROEEALENT

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AR¥EF T

Property, plant and equipment (Note 12) ME - WERSZER Z12) 128,884 70,769
Land lease prepayment T E B FRIA

(Note 15) (H1a£15) 5,180 5,518

134,064 76,287

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of
financial instruments in its ordinary course of operations and
in its investment activities. The financial risks include market
risk (including foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and
other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group’s overall financial risk management policies
focuses on the unpredictability and volatility at financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the financial position, financial performance and cash flows
of the Group. No derivative financial instruments are used to
hedge any risk exposures.
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AEERENAFXRGRERKREES T FEH
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LA REAENEBE  REREERLYH
AEBBBENRR BBERBERRESRETLE
BROTFEE BERBUTESR TAYHE
fa] L 2



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

.M BABREERAFENEE)

36.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities WIEHEEREESE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% T ARBT T
Financial assets cREE
Financial assets measured at BB ARG B
amortised cost: BE -
Trade and other receivables B 5 & Hth fE Uk 8 181,894 150,560
Cash and cash equivalent HekBeEEYD 85,618 12,609
Financial assets at FV/TPL: R FEGA B A
Listed equity securities and warrants ETRATE FH R EE 984 —
268,496 163,169
Financial liabilities ol =R
Financial liabilities measured at a2V Ny Okl
amortised cost: BE:
Trade and other payables B 5 & H A & 508 34,416 46,372
Lease liabilities HEaE 10,133 1,338
Amount due to a related party FE - B8 Bt 75 5B — 20
Discounted bills financing LR ER A — 3,821
Bank borrowings IRITER 162,000 105,000
Other borrowings H b 18 3 53,503 22,534
260,052 179,085
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR .UM HRAMEERAFEFE(E)
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

36.2 Foreign currency risk 36.2 Sh %5 B B
Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value SNERREeMIANATEIRRERES
or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate RERNEXZHmMEDHNRR AEBME
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The BN ERBREEREEETZEUNEZTNE
Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk arise primarily T ENHEERIREITESEES  ET
from its sales transactions and IPO proceeds, which are K& T # AREERZERSEBNER
primarily denominated in US$ and HK$ which are not the HINEEEE o

functional currencies of the respective entities within the
Group to which these transactions relate.

As at the end of each of reporting period, US$ and HK$ REREHAR - UET KRBT E KiZH
denominated financial assets translated into RMB at the AREZRESARENEREEDT :
closing rates, are as follows:
Trade Bank
2022 receivables balances
20224 B 5 EWRE R 17 45 B8R
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR® T
us$ ETT 2,396 53,627
HK$ B TT — 20,503
2,396 74,130
Trade Bank
2021 receivables balances
202145 2 5 FE W R I8 81T 48R
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T T AR T T
us$ ET 2,440 —
The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the TERERAEENFEARMET %R R
Group’s profit after income tax for the year and equity in B s EBEBNNEERLETRE
regards to an appreciation in the functional currencies of THEMNSBRE ZEHBELXEERAE
respective group entities against US$ and HK$. These ZEBEABABREINER b2 EFETER AR
sensitivity rates are the rates used when reporting foreign bR WRKREEEHIINEEXTT IR
currency risk internally to key management personnel B2 B) B B fERT A o

and represents management’s best assessment of the
possible change in foreign exchange rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR .UM HRAMEERAFEFE(E)
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

36.2 Foreign currency risk (Continued) 36.2 /MR (4E)
Sensitivity Decrease Decrease
2022 rate in profit in equity
20224 BRE i R R 2 EHRED
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR¥ T
uUs$ EpH 5% 2,381 2,381
HK$ B 5% 871 871
Sensitivity Decrease Decrease
2021 rate in profit in equity
202145 BRI s AR 1 75 7
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T T AR®T T
uss ETT 5% 104 104
The same % depreciation in the respective group HEMSEERNNELEEALSIEHLR
entities’ functional currencies against the respective HEBEEMEE  ASEANEENFAE
foreign currencies would have the same magnitude on FkE=AFREEEREHEEROZE -
the Group’s profit for the year and equity but of opposite
effect.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency ANEE BRI A INEE E R B - W) B
hedging policy, and manages its foreign currency risk by RINBIZHE IEEERABUAEE
closely monitor the scale of foreign currency transactions, H N R o

foreign currency assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

36.3 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. Bank borrowings and
other borrowings bearing variable rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk and the Company was not
subject to interest rate risk. The Group’s interest rate risk
arises primarily from variable rates bank borrowings and
other borrowing. The exposure to interest rates for the
Group’s bank deposits is considered immaterial.

The interest rates of the Group’s borrowings at the
reporting date were as follows:

.M BEABREERAFEREE)

36.3 K = = g

FxREErReMIANATFEIRER

ERMHHXEEHMmF BN ER

MEFEHRITERREMERERNER
EAZXBEEREMNERR  MAQRATZ
MERBTZE AEBEOFNEEREZR
B¥BRITERKRHEMERK - ZK;‘%I%E%-}

TR AR BN X E RS E

NE

m

RmEBMEROFRLOT

2022 2021
20224 20214

Interest rate RMB’000 Interest rate RMB’000
FE AR®Tx FE AREFTT

Bank borrowings R 1T AR
— Floating interest rate —% 8 3.45%-6.0% 162,000 6.0% 85,000
— Fixed interest rate —TE & — — 6.5% 20,000
162,000 105,000

Other borrowings H fth 5 =
— Floating interest rate —% 8 7.2% 53,503 7.2% 22,534
215,503 127,534

154 VANOV HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED BEZRERA A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR .UM HRAMEERAFEFE(E)

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

36.3 Interest rate risk (Continued) IR EAME(E)

The sensitivity analysis is not provided as the amount is
considered insignificant.

The same degree of decrease in basis point would have
the same magnitude on the Group’s profit for the year
and the total equity as at the end of each reporting period
but of opposite effect.

The assumed changes in interest rates are considered
to be reasonably possible based on observation of
current market conditions and represents management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest
rate. The analysis is performed on the same basis during
the years.

36.4 Other price risk

Other price risk relates to the risk that the fair values or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices (other than changes
in interest rates and foreign exchange rates). The Group
is exposed to change in market prices in respect of
its investments in listed equity securities and warrants
classified as financial assets at FVTPL.

The sensitivity analysis is not provided as the amount is
considered insignificant.

36.5 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a
financial instrument would fail to discharge its obligation
under the terms of the financial instrument and cause
a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s exposure to
credit risk mainly arises from granting credit to customers
in the ordinary course of its operations. The Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying
amounts of the financial assets at end of each reporting
period as detailed in Note 36.1.

HREBER/TERN W SRR

=%%)

o

3;

MR 2R EAS S AEBERFEAR RN R
EREMARANAESEFREZERRENEE
EREOFE -

MNENBREGHKLERRTTREES
EEMTEERNES IXREEREY
MEGIBMWAIGE BB EBNFE - XD
TR ENNBEREEETT -

36.4 H fth B 1% & B2

E@FT&J—L 2B TS BREE(F X R

EEFEHRINMaIBEeRIAZRAFEL
%Xiﬁimu%/&@Zﬂﬁ RNEE D K
REBEATEFAEZNEREEN ETR
RELSLEEREEAXXTSERER

HREBRER/TEKN W EREHSE
B e

BS5EERME

EERBREERMIANZSH T RiE
TE2MIAGKRETEE EHAEHE
SXUBEENRER AEEAXNEER
REEEXRERAE %Wﬂ&¢ TEP
MEE AEEAXNKRSEERBRIAKN
Eﬁm%ﬁumﬁﬁﬁkiﬂééﬁﬁﬁ
BERLER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

.M BABREERAFENEE)

36.5 Credit risk (Continued) BSEER(E)

Trade and bills receivables

The Group usually grants a credit period of 30 to 180
days (2021: 30 to 180 days) to its customers. Before
accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit
limits by customer. Credit limits granted to customers are
reviewed periodically.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade and bills
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected
credit loss below also incorporate forward-looking
information.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measuring ECL, which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade and bills receivables using a
provision matrix and individual assessment. The ECL rate
of collectively assessed trade and bills receivables are
detailed in the following table:

ESEUFBERERTE

AEFEBEHRTHZEF30E180K (20214 :
0E1B0KR)MEEH - REMNTMNIEF
ZHE AEBETHEEREFNEEE X
YTAETEFHNEERE BRTEFPHNEE
RS TE BB -

RHEBMEEFE  BHEMKERE
WEBCREARAERRRE MR B
BHE - LT HESERBRTE SR
BH o

AEBEERBEBVBREEYNFORBLA
ERERBGEEER ERBEERENE
A FEE LT A E S E W IR M B R IR
ReRBEHEBERERGE TRFIRTES
RS EREBREENFEREEBRE:

2022 2021
20225 20214F
Trade receivables B 5 e R IE

Neither past due nor impaired (in %) I A% 780 HA 7 R 1B (%) 0.9% 0.9%
Less than 91 days past due (in %) B DR 91K (%) 2.7% 3%
91-365 days past due (in %) # 21912 365K (%) 42%-100% 42%-100%
More than 365 days past due (in %) #6015 H8 #8365K (%) 100% 100%
Individually impaired (in RMB’000) ERRE(ARE T T) 1,821 1,187

& % — —

Bills receivables

R E 20224 K 2021F12 A31B IEFE » &
SEREFHNBAGEBRELER BFAN
BEAMEEERZRECERBEVESAEE -
At 2FANBHEEHEBEERFETE -

Throughout the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021, the historical credit loss experience of the
customers of the Group, the forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment
remains no significant changes. As such, expected credit
loss rate throughout the years remains stable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

.M BABREERAFENEE)

36.5 Credit risk (Continued) BSEER(E)

Other receivables and amounts due from
related parties

In order to minimise the credit risk of other receivables,
the management of the Group has designated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits and credit
approvals. The management would make periodic
collective and individual assessment on the recoverability
of other receivables based on historical settlement
records and past experience as well as current external
information and adjusted to reflect probability weighted
forward-looking information, including the default rate
where the relevant debtors operates. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In these regards, the
credit risk of other receivables are considered to be low.

Besides, the management is of opinion that there is
no significant increase in credit risk on these other
receivables since initial recognition as the risk of default
is low after considering the factors as set out in Note 2.9
and, thus, no ECL recognised during the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: nil).

Cash and cash equivalents

The credit risks are considered to be insignificant
because the counterparties are financial institutions that
have sound credit rating.

BttERFERERBE BT 5 E

SREEREECERFIENEERR &
SEEEEDHEIRK - il%%A#mEf
RERMGESHL EERESRBERAEASE
ARHEEBERBRARBAIINEER - EH
Tﬁ@ﬁ% KT B AT U E T AR R
PIREME - EEETHBEARRBE X NED
m%ﬁﬁﬂ’@%ﬁ@ﬁﬁAéémLﬁ
o HEHIE E s B E AR Fr A BE R R BXR
ETHUREBRER - E - Hi
UK BENEERRKRSER

o - EIREE BRI E2.957 & F =ik
Eﬁ%ﬁa#i%’]ﬂﬁgﬁ' A % & A i B W
RIANE B R b B Y16 i R A K I M A=
i'a‘ - A b & £2022F12A318 IEF E I
BHEREREEEEQ021F &) -

BERHBRITEFAREEZERELEEY

EERBERARBTRE BRAHFAA
Té&ﬁ%:1 EEMFRHNTBHHEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

.M BABREERAFENEE)

36.6 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be
able to meet its obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another
financial asset. The Group is exposed to liquidity risk
in respect of settlement of its payables, and also in
respect of its cash flow management. The Group’s
objective is to maintain an appropriate level of liquid
assets and committed lines of funding to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

Analysed below is the Group’s remaining contractual
maturities for its financial liabilities as at 31 December
2022. When the creditor has a choice of when the liability
is settled, the liability is included on the basis of the
earliest date when the Group can be required to pay.
Where the settlement of the liability is in instalments,
each instalment is allocated to the earliest period in which

B6ARBE SRR

MBETRBRIEAREEZBITUARSE
FEMEREESAENSRABERBAEE
mER e AEEREEERNRBENNRE
EEREGREABRBESER AKHE
MERETHRBEENRBEEKTFRRE
EEAFHNEERE UBRNEEHEIREK
HHORBHESHFL -

AT A7 % B R2022412831B £ @ &
BEHRTAENINBEIN - MEEABEEE
BEMNEMER IZAERELAEEA
REWRERIMNNXERHYEE - MAREA
SHENM ASHERIEEASEEEH
THNEEHM U TENINEBHLT IR
BoRmBERMBEBESREMED -

the Group is committed to pay. The contractual maturity
analysis below is based on the undiscounted cash flows
of the financial liabilities.

Within ~ Over one year  Over two year Total
one year oron  but within two  but within five  undiscounted Carrying
demand years years amount amount
—£R SR-F £ LS
FRER BRER BLER AERAE REfE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETR ARBTR AR®TR ARBTR

As at 31 December 2022 20226124318
Trade and other payables EHRAMERMNFIE 34,416 — - 34,416 34,416
Lease liabilities HEER 3,866 3,912 3,059 10,837 10,133
Bank borrowings RTER 64,551 25,737 88,894 179,182 162,000
Other borrowings EfER 28,244 23,290 6,616 58,150 53,503
131,077 52,939 98,569 282,585 260,052
As at 31 December 2021 #2021%12431H
Trade and other payables EHRAMEMNTE 46,372 — - 46,372 46,372
Lease liabilities HERRE 1,367 — — 1,367 1,338
Amount due to a related party JE 7 B B 7 508 20 — - 20 20
Discounted bills financing HAZEEA 3,821 = = 3,821 3,821
Bank borrowings RITER 107,569 = = 107,569 105,000
Other borrowings HbER 9,942 9,942 4,971 24,855 22,534
169,091 9,942 4,97 184,004 179,085
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B |RMEE

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 6. BRAMEERAFEFEE)
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

36.7 Fair value measurements of financial BTEMIANAFETE
instruments
Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value REMBRARRNEATEFENEHE
in the consolidated statement of financial position are EREEGERRATEERAN=EFR -
grouped into three levels of a fair value hierarchy. The ZoEAZERTDERFTENH ABRAER
three levels are defined based on the observability and BEREZMRENT:

significance of inputs to the measurements, as follows:

Details the Group’s investment property and information RFERAR AEENREMEREAR
about the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the FEERERMFBET UTEFRD
reporting period are as follows. The levels are based ER B ABEFERFIULGEEEESRTER
on the observability and significance of inputs to the 25

measurements, as follows:

« Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets e F—HR:-HREEKAGEEERMSR
for identical assets and liabilities. KRR IRE -

« Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included e B :-HRE—BBENREN  TE
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or EyHESRERNEEREBERAE B
liability, either directly or indirectly, and not using WS REBRTAEENEAE -
significant unobservable inputs.

« Level 3: significant unobservable inputs for the asset e FERBATAEERMNEEXARER
or liability. AfH e

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the TREENEEEERAFEERANMEB

financial asset or liability is categorised in its entirety is NERBEREATEFEAFAEARESR

based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the N EERBAME -

fair value measurement.
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36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

36.7 Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
in the consolidated statement of financial position on a
recurring basis are grouped into the fair value hierarchy
as follows:

Financial assets at FVTPL A FEFAEBZN £
mEE
— Listed equity securities — TR AT 5 R E
and warrants

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

.M BABREERAFENEE)

BIEMITEANAFPEREBE)

REEVBRARAREEEEEURF
EFfENEREERABERFEERT
DM

As at 31 December 2022

M"2021F12H31H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—® EFR E=R @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTRE ARETR AR%Tx

984 — — 984

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2
during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other financial
assets and liabilities are not materially different from their
fair value at the end of each reporting period due to their
short maturities.

37.CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to provide
an adequate return to the equity holders by pricing goods and
services commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure
and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic
conditions. The Group monitors its capital structure on the
basis of the net debt-to-equity ratio. For this purpose, net
debt is defined as borrowings, discounted bills financing and
lease liabilities less cash and cash equivalents. In order to
maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividends paid to the equity holders, issue new shares and
raise new debt financing.
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HRIBMERE AEEEMEREER
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AEBENEARAERERRBERASERMRFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR
37.CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued) 37. AR EE ()

The net debt-to-equity ratio as at the end of each reporting NTRREREMRN FEEERLL X
period is as follows:

2022 2021

202245 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR AR T T

Bank borrowings FITE N 162,000 105,000
Other borrowings H A 18 5 53,503 22,534
Discounted bills financing BRI ER A — 3,821
Lease liabilities HEAE 10,133 1,338
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B BRekREEFEEYD (85,618) (12,609)
Net debt FETS 140,018 120,084
Total equity 1R = 373,354 214,982
Net debt-to-equity ratio FEEBEESLE 37.50% 55.86%

Annual Report 2022 £ 161



PROPERTIES OWNED BY THE GROUP
REBRERNIE

Type of properties Location Main usage
YRR L=+ FTEAE
Land No. 519, Section 2, Industrial use

Xinhua Avenue
Chengdu Strait Science
and Technology
Industry Development
Park, Wenjiang District,
Chengdu Sichuan
Province, the PRC
4 PRI EKETRIERE TXARE
78 Ik R 7 ) B EE B B
B 5 2 K 38 = BR5199%

Buildings No. 519, Section 2, Two factory buildings, one staff
Xinhua Avenue dormitory, one staff cafeteria
Chengdu Strait Science and two power distribution
and Technology houses
Industry Development
Park, Wenjiang District,
Chengdu Sichuan
Province, the PRC

Y FEEIEKETRILE REKE —HEIES  —H
BEMEREEXHRE BIREKMBERE

[ ¥ 2 K 38 — ER5195%
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Description
ot

A parcel of land with a site

area of approximately
38,391 square metres

— 1 b 8% [ 15 4938,391F

TTRE L

Buildings built on the

parcel of land at
No.519, west section of
Xinhua Road, Cross-
Strait Science and
Technology Industry
Development Park,
Wenjiang District,
Chengdu, Sichuan,
the PRC with an
aggregate gross floor
area of approximately
34,613.24 square
metres

A R 1| 4 B ER TR

LR B = R E
e B [ 37 2= 3K 7E EX 519
M EEY B2
L MmMIEL 534,613.24F
Wik



PROPERTY HELD FOR INVESTMENT
FIERENYE

Investment Property

Location Type of properties Main usage Lease term
& MEER FTEAE HEFH
No. 519, Section 2, Building One factory building Short lease

Xinhua Avenue Chengdu Strait

Science and Technology Industry

Development Park,

Wenjiang District, Chengdu

Sichuan Province, the PRC

B M )| & BK B TR OT & Ik Y — KB mHEEE
MEMBREZFRBENENS

— 5195
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

FFEMBERE

Year ended 31 December

HZ12A31BLLEE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
20184 20194 20204 20214 20225
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT ARETRT AR®TT AR¥TR
Revenue Iy 2= 159,356 167,314 182,759 213,668 217,756
Cost of sales G B A (81,472) (77,985) (83,140)  (100,046)  (100,939)
Gross profit EF 77,884 89,329 99,619 113,622 116,817
Other income =N 8,083 4,761 6,025 5,509 20,102
Fair value loss on financial BRATFEFTAEZD
assets at fair value through S$REEQAFEEIR
profit or loss — — — — (1)
Selling and distribution HE KRR
expenses (12,587) (14,855) (17,764) (19,855)  (21,595)
Administrative and other THRREREMEERE
operating expenses (22,437) (31,088) (32,145) (31,587) (40,345)
Finance costs Bt 7 B A (7,483) (6,669) (7,241) (8,229)  (10,536)
Profit before income tax B B 18 %4 Al % F 43,460 41,478 48,494 59,460 64,442
Income tax expense FIisfiAx (6,254) (6,401) (7,481) (8,770) (11,442)
Profit and total FREMNRZEK R
comprehensive income w
for the year 37,206 35,077 41,013 50,690 53,000
Assets and liabilities EERAEE
Total assets BEE 258,931 291,533 337,562 416,764 667,688
Total liabilities waE 172,670 168,254 173,270 201,782 294,334
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